Bizerte

PetroAsian
== I | 2=

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
PoEREREBERAG

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (HKEx stock code: 850)
(14 B A2 5 M 0 2 W2 ) (V38 5 P B4 W - 850)



Contents

B

Corporate Information

Company Structure

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis
Corporate Governance Report

Report of the Directors

Independent Auditors’ Report

Consolidated Income Statement

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Five Years Financial Summary

2-3

4-5

6-9

10-26

27-33

34-54

55-58

59

60

61-62

63-65

66-69

70-214

215-216

ATEH
NGES
ERHE
R R RA
G REARE
EERE

B BE RS

e M B wRME
AFEMBHE



Corporate Information

ATIEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors:
Mr. Poon Sum (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kwok Leung
Mr. Poon Wai Kong

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Shu Kin
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Shu Kin (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Poon Sum (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Shu Kin

Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Poon Wai Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681 Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman lIslands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL
PLACE OF BUSINESS

Suite 1006, 10/F., Ocean Centre
Harbour City

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

2 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
PERRFIERARAS

EEE
PITEE:

BRI ()
HE R S
B
BIABRTES:
BR A B2 o 2

PR 8512 5E £
RIPBEE

EEEE

BRI RS (EE)
PR 8512 5E £
RIBEE

HWEET
BRI ()
BR A2 o 2
BRIRI2 %
RS
AFIHE
B
st it i S B2

Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681 Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

MMEERETEEEME

BB
B
LR
B
A E R 01006 E



Corporate Information

ATIEH

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited
P.O. Box 484

HSBC House

68 West Bay Road

Grand Cayman

Cayman lIslands

KY1-1106

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

46th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS
Michael Li & Co

JOINT AUDITORS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Ltd.
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Ltd.

Hang Seng Bank Ltd.

STOCK CODE

850

CONTACT

Telephone: (852) 2698 6093

Facsimile: (852) 3580 7793
Website:  www.cor.hk

R 43 38 5 B 5T 48 B2

HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited
P.O. Box 484

HSBC House

68 West Bay Road

Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

KY1-1106

Bz 6338 BB 5T 53 BR

BAEPRBLEELABRAT
575

25 RBE1835

AL

461

&R
SR BEMEL
Bk F % S B

Y eMERN GFTANTT

2 E -]

RS et EHMER AT
S E -4

EEBERRIT
BRI (BB BRAR
HERTT (EB)BERAT
MR ERITERAT
B ERTERAT

R 634X 5%

850

B Ew

% & ¢ (852) 2698 6093
{5 H : (852) 3580 7793
Ak www.cor.hk

Annual Report 2009-2010
“ETAE-T-TEFH

3



Company Structure

NS

100% PetroAsian Energy

Ltd (HK)
24.5%
PetroAsian Energy
51% (Australia) Ltd
BV)
PetroAsian Energy Ltd
100% | (North America) Corp.
(usA)
Grand Fund
Hai Tai Limited International Limited
o
100% ®v) 100% (HK)
COAL TRADING
INVESTMENT HOLDING P
CHINA OIL China Oil Resources PetroAsian Energy
100% | RESOURCES 100% Co. Ltd. 92% (Tunisia) Ltd.
GROUP LTD. HK) al
INVESTMENT INVESTMENT
(&) HOLDING Formed in May 2009
Lee Shing Mining FURRHRE GRYI) BN B
43% Company Limited 100% BRAT 80% BRAR
BV) 1 (PRC) (PRC)
INVESTMENT INVESTMENT
HOLDING HOLDING
Go Wealthy
100% Investment Ltd.
(HK)
PETROASIAN ENERGY Honour Bright Easyrich Group RSB
HOLDINGS LTD. 100% Investments Ltd 100% Hold(ir'j'ng) Ltd. 100%|  RMEARAT
(Cayman Islands) Bv) (PRC)
N INVESTMENT INVESTMENT
Merry Boom Northeast Oil (China) Creative Sense
100%; Investment Ltd. Development ° .
— ! 51% Company Limited 100% Industrial Ltd
H (HK) (HK)
OIL EXPLOITATION [ mvestvenr |
BUSINESS
Wing Shing Chemical
Macao Commercial
100% Offshore Co. Ltd. Beling Aven Goal Green
(Macau) 100% Technology Co., Ltd. 100% Limited
[ TRADE | (PRO) (BV)
i i CONTRACT
_ WINGSHING CAI'“‘*”GC"‘ A'le_"d SERVICES
o o
100% GROUP LTD. 51% olors Group Lt
. BV 257 EE h SR AL
%) o | mmmBAR
HEQT (PROC)
Wing Shing
Chemical Co. Ltd.
100% (HK)
TRADE oy
INVESTME&NT 10% REHEEAEE
HOLDING 90% BATRBERAR
(PRO)
Wing Shing i Chemi OIL EXPLOITATION
1 (HK) ° (Dongguan) Ltd.
(HK)
PRODUCTION
Hai Yue Chemicals
100% Co. Ltd. Dongguan Tung
(HK) 100%  Shing Fat Chemical
oLt PRO)
Wing Shing Chemical
100% International Ltd.
BV)
4 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
hEERERIERBRATE




Company Structure

AT RE

1000 PEESRERAT
(&%)
]
24.5%
AR R
51% BRAT
(HBRLES )
#E
PetroAsian Energy Ltd
100% | (North America) Corp.
(£8)
SRR NG
BRERAT ﬁﬁl(ggfﬁﬂ
100%] (mmmans) 100% -
5% % 5
R=® BEMART BN TR
! SEERARAT mﬁgﬁﬁm‘jﬁﬁ@
100% EBAT 100% (BB) 92% (§g)"
(EBREEE) . BR
rosehRzss
Lee Shing Mining FIBRHEEE GRYI) S £
43% Company Limited 100% BRAF 80% BRAT
(EBEEZES) [ (hE) (hE)
100%| MEREERAT
(&%)
REERE R BER AT 3 A EIEEEER G REIEEH
(EnS) 100% %gié;ﬁ;gé? 100% RRER o o
ERLE URED
HRBEERAT AL () e
100% N o BRERAT % BIABEERAT
—— (&8) 51% g 100% &8
TR R TNT [_s= |
KA TP .
100%| BERBERAD SRTRERPR BRERAT
(F9) 100% BRLT 100%| (HBELES)
> (hEl) ]
_
ET e ERRAEE
100% | REEEEBRAF 51% (=E)ERAT
(RBREHR) (RBRLES) ﬁﬁﬁiﬂ%ﬁgﬁiﬁt
E
()
ARALTARAT
100% &8 |
HAR 10% REHEEHE
BRzR 90% BRI AR AT
(hE)
100%|  KAENERAR BT T () TBRR R
— (&B) 100% BRAF
—
BB TR
100% BRAT REFRBILT
(B8) 100% ARAT
()
1005 | XRUETERERAR)
L2 (RmAREs)
Annual Report 2009-2010
SETAZ-T-TEE O




Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

Dear Shareholders,
FINANCIAL RESULTS

On behalf of PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited (“PetroAsian Energy”
or the “Company”), | hereby present to the shareholders the audited
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2010 (“the Year”). For the Year under review, the
Group recorded a consolidated turnover of approximately
HK$307,982,000 (2009: HK$399,409,000), representing a decrease
of 22.89% as compared with the previous year, while loss attributable
to shareholders of the Company amounted to HK$262,348,000
(2009: Profit of HK$55,143,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, the global economy has been steadily recovering
from the financial tsunami whilst investors’ confidence has also been
picking up too. Most financial markets around the globe have started
to regain its foothold and international crude oil prices have generally
maintained above US$70/barrel during the Year and as high as over
US$91/barrel, whereas in the previous financial year, crude oil price
was as low as US$52/barrel. With the improving atmosphere in global
economies, we are confident that PetroAsian Energy, being an
international oil exploration and exploitation participant, is well
positioned to benefit from the market recuperation as well as the
general increase in oil prices.

In view of the recovery of crude oil prices, the Group is poised to
devote more resources in the oil exploitation of its oilfields in Qigihar,
Heilongjiang Province, the PRC. The objective is to enhance
production capacity from these oilfields by deployment of various oil
exploitation techniques. In July 2010, we have started the drilling of an
exploration well (the “TC5-1") in the newly developed Fu 718 area of
the Fulaerjiqu Qilfield in Qigihar. The TC5-1 deviated exploration well
has reached its total depth of 594 meters on 31 July 2010. Well
logging data confirmed an oil layer with a net thickness of 11.4 meters
(effective thickness of 8.4 meters). This is the best pay thickness in
the whole oilfield so far amongst a total of 137 wells drilled by different
companies in its previous 21 years of development history in this
general area. PetroChina Great Wall Drilling Downhole Operating
Company, our contractor of this multi-wells drilling program, will
continue to drill further deviated wells and horizontal wells in Fu 718
subject to favourable drilling outcome.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

On 20 July 2010, our onshore well drilling in the Ksar Hadada Permit,
Tunisia was also commenced. The spudding of the exploration well
(the “Oryx-1 exploration well”), is one of the two wells drilling
programme that forms part of the work programme for the
development of our Ksar Hadada Permit.

On 1 August 2010, the Oryx-1 exploration well has reached a total
depth of 1,140 meters. Although oil shows were encountered in both
the upper and lower Ordovician reservoir units, log analysis indicates
that no significant oil saturation is present in these reservoirs at this
location. Hence saved from setting production casing and further well
testings, the Oryx-1 exploration well is now being plugged and
abandoned. The Oryx-1 exploration well has been drilled below
budget and without a time losing incident. It is noteworthy that, in the
oil industry, encounter of dry wells without commercial value is very
common.

The Compagnie Tuniesenne de Forage Rig 06, our drilling team and
equipments, will all be moved 22.5 km away to commence drilling of
Sidi Toui-4, the second well in the current work programme. Sidi Toui-
4 has been designed as a deeper deviated wellbore which will
specifically target resources in the upper Ordovician reservoir unit, the
Bir Ben Tartar Formation, of the much larger Sidi Toui structure in the
Ksar Hadada Permit area where an earlier well Sidi Toui-3 had been
drilled in 2004 with 144 meters of good hydrocarbon fluorescence
show. We remain confident on the drilling prospect of the Sidi Toui
structure.

During the period under review, the Group has undergone a
restructuring exercise so as to dispose of its loss-making paint
manufacturing business. This not only allows better deployment of
our capital application and management resources to our healthy
businesses, but also to enhance our focus in our core businesses
which include energy business, oil exploration and exploitation. On
the other hand, in order to further strengthen and complement our
core businesses, we are in the process of completing the acquisitions
of a 51% equity interest in an oil technology company, and a 52%
participating interest in Modamuiji Sag, Hailaer Qilfield, Inner Mongolia,
the PRC.
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Chairman’s Statement
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

With the increase in the crude oil prices over the year which have now
become more stabilised, the ever-increasing global consumption of oil
and other energy, and the recent oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico, it is
expected that global oil reserves will continue to decline, if not at an
even quicker rate, which eventually would result in inadequate
supplies and inflating prices. Hence, the Group firmly believes that the
long-term prospect of the oil industry is very optimistic.

Our proposed acquisition of a 51% of the equity interests in an oil
technology company, and a 52% of the participating interests in
Modamuiji Sag, Hailaer Oilfield, will not only extend our potential oil
reserve, but also extend our revenue stream outside of the sale of
crude oil from the existing exploration and exploitation activities of our
existing oilfields in Northeast China and Tunisia.

With regards to the possible acquisition of the oil technology
company, we are confident that its oil exploitation technology and its
existing servicing of oilfields in Liaohe, Shenyang Province would be
beneficial to the Group and its shareholders as a whole in order to
strengthen the technology development base of the Group with the
expertise of its expert team and technical team.

Having signed a legally binding agreement on 30 July 2010, we are
now edging closer to the completion of the acquisition of the oil
technology company. If successful, it will be an important step for the
Group’s further business development in the energy sector in the
PRC. The Group also believes that this will provide additional income
to strengthen its revenue base.

On 22 April 2010, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement for the acquisition of 177,785,861 shares, representing
approximately 37.55% of the issued share capital of Mobile Telecom
Network (Holdings) Limited (“Mobile Telecom”), a company
incorporated in Bermuda with its shares listed on the Growth
Enterprises Market Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited for a consideration of HK$35,557,000 (equivalent to HK$0.2
per sale share). Mobile Telecom is engaged in telecommunications
into which the Group’s business will be diversified.

Although the global economy has seemed to have bottomed out and
that economic situation has been improving gradually, the Board
remains prudent and optimistic towards the Group’s business
development in the future.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

APPRECIATION

Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to members of the Board and all our dedicated staff
for their invaluable services during the previous year. | would also like
to thank our shareholders and business partners who have been
supportive over the years. In the new fiscal year with opportunities
and challenges, the Board will be committed to maximise the profit
and the return for our shareholders.

By order of the Board
Poon Sum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 August 2010
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CEIERE K

MARKET REVIEW

During the fiscal year under review, the global economy had
experienced a remarkable recovery from the financial tsunami.
Notwithstanding turmoil which happened from time to time during the
period, interbank lending rates have returned to close-to-normal
levels; stock markets in high-income and emerging economies have
recovered much of the value they lost, and most currencies in
developing countries have regained their pre-crisis levels against the
dollar. The real-side of the global economy, as indicated by various
indicators, is also recovering. While the downturn of the global
economy during fiscal year 2008/09 and recovery during fiscal year
2009/10 was remarkable in terms of both depth and coverage across
countries, the recovery which is now more than a year old is moving
into a more mature phase characterized by significant headwinds.
Rebound factors including in particular the growth impetus from
crisis-related fiscal and monetary stimulus measures that contributed
to rapid growth rates during the current period under examination are
now fading. The recovery is expected to lose momentum in the
coming months but annual growth rates should continue to
strengthen especially amongst developing countries.

Market nervousness concerning the fiscal positions of several
European countries (especially the “EU-5") poses a new challenge for
the world economy. A crisis of confidence, a default or major
restructuring of the EU-5 debt could have serious consequences for
the global economy, both because of the large-scale recession that
the directly affected countries are likely to enter into, but also because
of the potential knock-on effects of the default on the financial health
of creditor banks elsewhere in the globe. There is the challenge to
tighten fiscal policies as well as to unwind the stimulus measures that
were put into place. This is a problem for many high-income
countries, where fiscal deficits and debt-to-GDP ratios have reached
unsustainable levels. Commodity prices started to rebound in early
2009 and into 2010 as the global recovery intensified. Increased
demand from China, significant production cuts, and some weather-
related factors contributed to higher prices. In accordance with a
research report issued by the World Bank in June 2010, energy prices
by the end of April 2010 were up 80 percent from the lows in February
2009, while metal prices more than doubled. After 5 consecutive
quarters of decline, world oil demand rose in the final quarter of 2009,
led by strong demand in China (up 1.3 million barrel per day or 17%
year-on-year). It is estimated that while prices are expected to average
USD70 per barrel, they are likely to remain volatile, reflecting the
inherent difficulties associated with OPEC’s efforts to guide global
prices through supply management. In the United States, the tragic oil

1 O PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
PERRFIERARAS

i 35 1 B

RABBEFBRFEAN  REEEE &R
P BEEEE - BERHPANATEHIE
g BRTRAERSCEEINZIES
FKFE: EalRA R ELER ZMR™
MEWE RS HEEREHNNE  fAKBH
BRERIPEAREBRLEINER  FEEE
FEmaEEanKkE - ZEBEEZEST R
Tﬁfﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi B RIRBRAE
RZZEN /SN RFERNHPE LR
_TTH/—TWﬁEFWMQE LA 82
ZRERERIEEERRBEMEHTSA
fBE  BENSEROBB—FNEE T
A FEKAEE AP Eod KAREER -
ZIEREBEAEZMNFEBR EEHBER  LE
PAREEsMEREEEERNAEHHN
BESNEERNMBEREE R BER - 78
HEBFHIBERRREABEL  BEES
FERER(LERERPBERZEER)H
SHERR -

mEHZEBRMNERGR BB D]

BB BOR R B 2 8 0 S B BRSO E B R
MPE - EoEl BELREBHERE

WX EREHFEHR HUEHRKECES
MEBEEER TERRAEHENEEXY
ZERBARTARNRERR  EgAH
ASHERBRITOTBOR R HIRELMA
BEEAEEWE RN BZWE BB
MEHBEEENRPGEEMS  EEBR

ZE—EKE - FEZR B ABROYBIR
%&EU&E.Wifxﬁ'ﬁttfﬁﬂakiu A
TEAKE - HReMmEES—EEE -
EREER_ZEENFYRAGARE  WH
EXEHRNRMEEE_FT—ZTF - K
BEFRBEMEREN EEXNREETKA
HEEE YERER LA - REBEHERER
TRZZE—EFNAERNARREER
HEZZZTFNUAEMNEREER_-Z
THFE - AWEN EF80% - & BB R
Eiﬂ‘fﬂL—Tﬁ KpEBEREEE TR
B ZEPRENRSFREESH(EHEEM
130%@ IR FE EF1T%) 2RAES
KRZZBZENGEEE—FTLH - A5 EMR
BERFHFMOETLAKFER  HERKY



Management Discussion and Analysis

CEIERE K

spill in the Gulf of Mexico has not affected oil production, but will likely
have a long-term impact on the oil and gas industry in terms of
regulatory compliance and the related costs.

In view of the above, economic outlook around the world remains
fragile and significant challenges stand in the way of a smooth
recovery. The Company will continue to exercise care in structuring its
investment portfolio as well as in managing its existing business and
operations.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Business Overview

In the financial year of 2009/10, the Group recorded a consolidated
turnover of approximately HK$307,982,000 (2009: HK$399,409,000),
representing a decrease of 22.89% when compared with last year
(2009: an increase of 13.62%). Loss attributable to shareholders was
approximately HK$262,348,000 (2009: profit of HK$55,143,000). The
loss was attributable to a number of factors as follows: (1) property,
plant and equipment written off, (2) loss on disposal of subsidiaries, (3)
fair value adjustment on warrants classified as financial instruments at
issue date, (4) charging of fair value of the share-based payments to
the employees of the Group arising from newly granted share options
under the share option scheme of the Company, and (5) loss from
changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments.

Tunisia Operations

On 8 June 2009, the Group entered into a farm-in agreement with
both Petroceltic Ksar Hadada Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of
Petroceltic International plc) and Independent Resources (Ksar
Hadada) Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of Independent
Resources plc), regarding the sale and purchase of 51% Participating
Interests and 52.96% Paying Interests in Ksar Hadada Permit (the
“Permit”), onshore Tunisia, North Africa. As part of the farm-in
agreement, the Group is required to acquire and process 100
kilometers of 2D seismic data, and to drill and test two new
exploration wells. Drilling of the first of the two new exploration wells
(the “Oryx-1 exploration well”) on the Permit has started in mid-July
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2010. The well is one of a two-well drilling programme that forms part
of the US$14.5 million work programme that was agreed when the
Group farmed into the Permit.

The Permit, also known as Area 20, lies almost entirely onshore in
southeast Tunisia, bounded by the Libyan border to the east and lies
within the Ghadames basin which covers an area of 5,609 square
kilometers. Primary reservoir targets on block are Cambro-Ordovician
quartzites and the Silurian Acacus Sandstone. Several large oil-prone
prospects have been mapped; these are sourced by the Silurian
Tanezzuft Shale, which is the main source rock for North Africa and
the Middle East. These rocks are overlain unconformably by a Permo-
Triassic section, which also contains potential reservoir quality rock.
There are altogether five prospects and a lead being evaluated in the
Ksar Hadada area. Recent light oil discoveries in the Cambro-
Ordovician just 20 km to the south of the Permit have now validated
the potential of the Ksar Hadada targets. Across the border in Libya
very high flow rates have been achieved from multiple Acacus wells,
providing added attractiveness to the Acacus play. In addition,
infrastructure of the exploration area such as transportation network,
pipeline transportation and other ancillary facilities are well developed
and close to the Permit so that the cost of oil production will be
greatly reduced.

As an additional evaluation on the Permit, on 22 October 2009, the
Group entered into a service agreement with BGP Inc. (“BGP”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of China National Petroleum Corporation, so
as to engage BGP as a technical consultant to provide both evaluation
services as well as technical consultancy services; whereas the
operator of the Permit had engaged Blackwatch Petroleum Services
Limited, an internationally renowned technical consultant, to perform
the same for the Permit. BGP is one of the world’s leading
geophysical service companies based in Beijing, China, providing oil
exploration, seismic processing explanation, oil geological research,
geophysical prospecting research and other services for global oil
companies. BGP has a total of 40 overseas branches and offices in
Asia, America, Africa and the Middle East. Evaluation services include
but are not limited to the analysis of petroleum geology factors,
evaluation of data quality, results of processing and interpretation of
previous seismic sections, analysis of the reliability of prospects (traps)
in the block, re-interpretation of seismic data of main targets
(prospects of traps), reservoir analysis and re-calculation of petroleum
volumetric of prospects in the block, suggestion of geophysical
survey for new exploration phase, distribution of new seismic lines
and well locations to be drilled.
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Since March 2010, full scale drilling preparation has been undertaken
by the operator of the Permit who has sent out numerous tender
invitations to a number of providers of technical services and suppliers
of goods and supplies required in the drilling operations covering
drilling rig services, downhole equipment, wireline services, well
testing, tubular goods and medivacs. All bids were carefully examined
and evaluated and qualified vendors were selected after a rigorous
tender process based on a scoring of both technical and financial
requirements.

On 20 April 2010, the Group received an independent report titled
“Seismic Data Interpretation and Exploration Target Evaluation for Ksar
Hadada Block in Tunisia” from BGP. Based on this report, the five
prospects namely Oryx, Sidi Toui, South Salah, Antelope and Gazelle
as covered by the Permit have a maximum of approximately 2.227
billion barrels of stock tank oil initially in place (STOIIP).

The Group along with its partners has selected Compagnie Tunisienne
de Forage (“CTF”) as its contracted drilling company. CTF was
selected amongst a pool of driling companies because of its local
expertise in Tunisia, technical qualifications and favorable drilling
rates. CTF plays the role of the national driling company of Tunisia,
and has 30 years of experience of operating in Tunisia, drilling over
260 wells since its incorporation. CTF will employ its CTFO6 rig which
is a 1,500 HP top drive drilling unit with a depth rating of 15,000 feet,
to drill two wells into the Oryx and Sidi Toui prospects in the third
quarter of 2010 for the consortium. On 1 August 2010, the Oryx-1
exploration well has reached a total depth of 1,140 meters. Although
oil shows were encountered in both the upper and lower Ordovician
reservoir units, log analysis indicates that no significant oil saturation
is present in these reservoirs at this location. Hence saved from
setting production casing and further well testings, the Oryx-1
exploration well is now being plugged and abandoned. The Oryx-1
exploration well has been drilled below budget and without a time
losing incident. It is noteworthy that, in the oil industry, encounter of
dry wells without commercial value is very common.

The CTFO6 rig, our drilling team and equipments, will all be moved
22.5 km away to commence drilling of Sidi Toui-4 (“ST-4"), the second
well in the current work programme. The ST-4 well will be drilled at a
high deviation angle (70° from vertical) within the reservoir section so
as to maximize the potential for fracture interception, with primary
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recovery expected to be from fracture porosity. It is planned to reach
a target vertical depth of 1,047 meters, with the planned total depth
reached after drilling a horizontally measured depth of 400 meters
within the Bir Ben Tartar sandstone. We remain confident on the
drilling prospect of the Sidi Toui structure.

In order to supervise the Tunisia site operations on a daily basis, the
Group has hired Laszl6 Raphaél, a multiingual Mexican national, as
operations specialist. Mr Raphaél has been posted on site in Tunisia
and reports directly to the Hong Kong headquarters. The operator of
the Permit also hired two senior drilling engineers to be in charge of
the forthcoming drilling campaign. Upon commercial discovery and
approval from the Tunisia government, a 30-year development and
production licence will be granted to allow for the exploitation and
production of hydrocarbon within the permit area.

Completion of the Group’s farm-in agreement has taken place on 28
June 2010 whilst the Group has fulfilled all the conditions of the sale &
purchase agreement in relation to the farm-in. The Group is working
closely with the operator of the Permit to make the drilling operations
a success.

Qiqgihar Operations

During the period under review, the Group continued to move forward
with the oil wells in the Fu 710 and Meilisi 723 districts at the Fulaerji
district of Qigihar city, Heilongjiang Province.

Most of the 22 wells are currently at different stages of production.
Since August 2009, two rounds of “huff and puff” steam injection
have been carried out in the Qigihar oilfield. Production has been
steady but not yet reached target potential. To achieve satisfactory
results, a few more rounds of steam injection would be needed, after
which steam flooding can be employed. In a steam flood, some wells
are used as steam injection wells and other wells are used for oil
production. These two mechanisms work together to improve oil
recovery.

During the year, the production team visited various PetroChina
oilfields and consulted with their research institutes and heavy oll
experts for knowledge exchange, investigating and evaluating
methods and materials to enhance production.
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On 28 October 2009, Merry Boom Investment Limited (“Merry
Boom”), a wholly owned subsidiary within the Group, entered into an
agreement with Well Lead Group Limited (“Well Lead”) pursuant to
which Merry Boom had agreed to purchase Well Lead’s 49% equity
interest in Northeast QOil (China) Development Company Limited which
effectively owns interests in the Fu 710 and Meilisi 723 districts. As a
result of the transaction, which was satisfactorily completed on 13
January 2010, the Group now effectively owns 95% interests in the Fu
710 and Meilisi 723 districts with the remaining 5% being owned by
the local government.

On 21 December 2009, the Group announced the possible
acquisition of a 51% interest in a PRC oil technology company which
specialises in oil exploitation technology including the development of
enzyme-enhanced oil viscosity reducers. Employing the technology
allows higher quantities of liquids to be extracted more easily from
producing wells. This possible acquisition is in line with the Group’s
overall strategy regarding energy related businesses. Moreover, it
reflects optimism in the market outlook of oilfield-exploitation related
products which also helps to diversify revenue and profit base.
Furthermore, the technology might also be put into good use at the
Qigihar oilfield. Trial runs are being planned at some of the selected
wells and are being carried out in the third quarter of 2010.

The Fu 718 district was also progressing as scheduled. An updated
and detailed development plan was finished and presented to city
officials and relevant departments for consultation. All parties have
shown support in obtaining regulatory approval in acquiring the best
sites for drilling. In July, 2010, we have started the drilling of an
exploration well (“TC5-1”) in the newly developed Fu 718 area of the
Fulaerjiqu Oilfield in Qigihar. The TC5-1 deviated exploration well has
reached its total depth of 594 meters on 31 July 2010. Well logging
data confirmed an oil layer with a net thickness of 11.4 meters
(effective thickness of 8.4 meters). This is the best pay thickness in
the whole oilfield so far amongst a total of 137 wells drilled by different
companies in its previous 21 years of development history in this
general area. PetroChina Great Wall Drilling Downhole Operating
Company, our contractor of this multi-wells drilling program, will
continue to drill further deviated wells and horizontal wells in Fu 718
subject to favourable drilling outcome.

As the Fu 718 district contains deeper oil reservoir, the Group expects
that it will complement the Fu 710 and Meilisi 723 districts and
contribute to the Group’s total integrated oil production revenue.
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Paints, Blended Solvents and Plastic Colorants
Business

On 8 February 2010, the Group announced the disposal of its paint
production business at a consideration of HK$30 million. The
unaudited consolidated loss after taxation for this business for the
two years ended 31 March 2008 and 2009 were approximately
HK$7.8 million and HK$26.2 million, respectively. Taking into account
of (i) the operating environment of the paint production business
which is still under difficult condition due to the price volatility of raw
materials, the rising labour costs and the shrinking demands in the
market; (ii) the unsatisfactory operating results of the paint business
for the past two years; and (i) the disposal would enable the Group to
sell out non-performing business, reduce potential loss to the Group
in coming years, avoid further fund injection as required to support
future operation of the paint production business and deploy more
resources to other investment opportunities with better prospect, the
Directors decided that such disposal would be beneficial to the Group
and its shareholders as a whole.

The disposal was completed on 18 March 2010. For the period under
review up to 18 March 2010, turnover from the production, sales and
distribution of downstream oil paint products such as paints, blended
solvents and plastic colorants based in Zhongshan, PRC amounted
to approximately HK$271,811,000 (2009 (full financial year):
HK$354,722,000), representing a decrease of 23.37% over that of last
year (2009 (full financial year): an increase of 10.02%).

The decline of the turnover further evidenced that the fierce
competition we faced in the paints business, and also the high
material costs of paints and solvents which resulted in the decline in
the gross profit margins. After the disposal, the Group can
concentrate on its healthy businesses, which includes energy
business, oil exploration and exploitation. Furthermore, this also
allows the Group to free up its capital commitment and management
resources which would otherwise be required in the operation of the
loss making paints business.

The hardener business will be kept as it is profit making and involves
less capital commitment. The management has confidence that this
business will have positive impact on the Group continuously.
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Other Businesses

The Group has an effective 34.4% interest in a vanadium mine in the
Xiaowujiang vanadium mining region, Yuging County, Guizhou
Province, PRC. In relation to this mining project, a detailed report,
regarding the geo-structure of the mine is being circulated amongst
various governmental authorities in the Guizhou Province since July
2010 for vetting, comment and endorsement. In the report, the
amount of resources of V,0O, as well as its quality has been specified
therein subject to expert review. The report also pointed out that the
vanadium mining region of Yuging County is of a simple structure and
that it would be easy to extract. Upon completion of the verification
process by the team of technical experts, the above report will be
issued in its final form and we can then proceed to apply for the
relevant exploitation permits from various governmental authorities
including, in particular, the Land Bureau of Guizhou Province.
Extraction process can then be commenced once the relevant
permits are available. The day-to-day management of this business is
being undertaken by dedicated personnel of the major shareholder
with extensive experience in project management as well as financial
management. The usage of V,0, is extensive. It is one of the most
important additives for steel and alloy, and is an essential material for
metallurgy, high-speed railways and vanadium battery. With the ever-
increasing needs of infrastructure and high-speed railways in the
PRC, it is believed that the demand for vanadium will be significant in
the coming years.

The construction paints business based in Beijing recorded a turnover
of approximately HK$20,500,000 (2009: HK$32,685,000) or a
decrease of 37.28% (2009: Increase of 63.06%) for the year under
review. Continuous development in the construction market in the
PRC, coupled with a careful selection of customers with sound
credibility, have contributed to the ongoing development of the line of
business.

According to pre-determined business strategy, the Group invested a
small portion of its resources on property to tackle the low interest
rate. During the year under review, turnover generated from this
business was approximately HK$9,210,000 (2009: HK$4,280,000)
and an operating profit of approximately HK$2,058,000 (2009:
operating loss of HK$2,065,000) was recorded. As property
investment business is not the Group’s core business, we have no
intention to focus on it and it is maintained to provide a stable income
to the Group in the foreseeable future.
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

With the increase in the crude oil prices over the year which have now
become more stabilised, the ever-increasing global consumption of oil
and other energy, and the recent oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico, it is
expected that global oil reserves will continue to decline, if not at an
even quicker rate, which eventually would result in inadequate
supplies and inflating prices. Hence, the Group firmly believes that the
long-term prospect of the oil industry is very optimistic.

Despite global economies having been bottomed out and been
recovering gradually, the Group is adamant to spend its best efforts
S0 as to identify good, prosperous and reasonably priced acquisition
targets in order to grow and integrate ourselves as one of the elites in
the oil industry.

Our proposed acquisition of a 51% of the equity interests in an oil
technology company, and a 52% of the participating interests in
Modamuiji Sag, Hailaer Oilfield, will not only extend our potential oil
reserve, but also extend our revenue stream outside of the sale of
crude oil from the existing exploration and exploitation activities of our
existing oilfields in Northeast China and Tunisia.

For the acquisition of the Modamuiji Sag, we are now in the midst of
carrying out due diligence work; whereas for the acquisition of the
51% of the equity interests in an oil technology company, a legally
binding agreement was entered into on 30 July 2010. We are now
edging closer to the completion of the acquisition of the oil technology
company. If successful, it will be an important step for the Group’s
further business development in the energy sector in the PRC. The
Group also believes that this will provide additional income to
strengthen its revenue base. With any further developments, the
Group will be making timely announcements to update all our
shareholders.

The Group will continue to identify, evaluate and invest in important
projects to further strengthen our future prospects, and we believe
that the Group is heading in the right direction. With the current
expertise and experienced management team the Group is employing
and utilising, we are confident that we are in a good position to count
on the foundations that we have been building in previous years.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue and operating results

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group recorded a turnover of
approximately HK$307,982,000 (2009: HK$399,409,000). The Group
recorded a loss after tax of approximately HK$262,537,000 (2009:
profit of HK$10,736,000) for the year and loss attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$262,348,000
(2009: profit of HK$55,143,000).

The selling and distribution costs of the Group for the financial year
amounted to approximately HK$12,770,000 (2009: HK$18,498,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 30.97%. The administrative
expenses of the Group for the financial year under review amounted
to approximately HK$80,793,000 (2009: HK$67,355,000),
representing an increase of approximately 19.95% year-to-year. The
increment was mainly due to the increment of professional charges
and other one-off administrative charges on projects acquisition.

Liquidity and financial resources

During the financial year under review, the Group finances its
operations with internal generated cash flow and banking facilities
from banks. The Group had cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$393,225,000 (2009: HK$30,585,000) and bank borrowings of
approximately HK$93,369,000 (2009: HK$72,090,000). Current
assets of the Group amounted to approximately HK$574,747,000
(2009: HK$231,645,000) whilst current liabilities were approximately
HK$188,177,000 (2009: HK$200,483,000). The net current assets
amounted to approximately HK$386,570,000 (2009: HK$31,162,000).

The gearing ratio, calculated by dividing the total borrowing by the
total assets, was equal to 3.23% as at 31 March 2010 (2009: 2.83%).

In addition, 446,556,000 share options were exercised by staffs over the
year. The net proceeds amount was approximately HK$108,753,298.
The management is of the view that the Group’s incoming cash flow from
the financing activities and business operations together with the
available banking facilities will provide sufficient funds for the Group to
meet with the requirements of present operation and further business
development in the foreseeable future.
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Placing of existing shares and subscription of new
shares

On 20 May 2009, Ever Source Enterprises Limited (“Ever Source”)
and the Company entered into the share placing agreement (as
amended by the supplemental agreement) with Sun Hung Kai
International Limited (the “Placing Agent”) pursuant to which the
Placing Agent agreed to place, on a best efforts basis, the placing
shares comprising in aggregate up to 225,000,000 existing shares at
the placing price of HK$0.325 per placing share on behalf of Ever
Source to not less than six share placees who, and whose ultimate
beneficial owners, was independent third parties.

On the same date, Ever Source entered into a subscription agreement
with the Company for the subscription of up to 225,000,000 new
shares (“subscription shares”) at the above placing price. The placing
was unconditional. The subscription was conditional upon (i) the
Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange granting approval for the
listing of, and permission to deal in, the subscription shares; and (ii)
the completion of the placing.

The net proceeds of the subscription was approximately
HK$71,630,000. The directors used the net proceeds to finance the
first payment of acquisition interest of Tunisia project.

The Company placed 220,000,000 new shares at HK$0.51 and
raised net proceeds of approximately HK$109,200,000 on 30
December 2009. The directors intend to apply the net proceeds as
general working capital and also for future development should
suitable opportunities arise.

On 11 February 2010, the Company further placed another
220,000,000 new shares at HK$1.02 and raised net proceeds of
approximately HK$218,400,000. The uses of the net proceeds were
for the second committed payment of the oil and gas project in
Tunisia, North Africa and the balance will be used as funds for any
potential acquisition in the future should suitable opportunities arise.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of 31 March 2010, the Group’s tangible assets and receivables
have a net book value of approximately HK$2,445,000 and
HK$34,482,000 (2009: HK$51,421,000 and HK$34,322,000)
respectively were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group. In addition, a registered all monies first share charge over 51%
of all the issued shares in a subsidiary is pledged to secure the
facilities.
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VALUATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS

During the reporting period, the Group conducted a valuation exercise
for the oil related intangible assets. The management appointed
Exploration and Development Research Institute of Daging Oilfield
Company Ltd (“X B H B R & 2 7 & & 7 2 i T ") as
professional technical advisor (the “Technical Advisor”) to evaluate the
estimated oil reserve of Qigihar oilfield and LCH (Asia-Pacific)
Surveyors Limited (“LCH”) as professional valuer to provide an opinion
on the valuation.

The Technical Advisor was a research institute established directly under
Daging Qilfield of PetroChina Group in 1964 and has over 1,800
employees currently. Most of them focus on oil research and technical
development, and are actively involved in the China oil & gas industry.
The management of the Group has made a background checking and
believes that the Technical Advisor has adequate qualification and
experience to review the technical data of the Qigihar project and prepare
an Oil Reserve and Technical Feasibility Report (“The Technical Report”).
Since undertaking the assignment, the Technical Advisor reassessed the
data prepared in 2006 and updated them based on available latest
information as well as after making physical site visits. When preparing
the report, the Technical Advisor adopted guidelines issued by the
People’s Republic of China in 2004 under “Classifications for Petroleum
Resources/Reserves (GB/T19492-2004)" (‘A X AR E R/ E 5 18
(GB/T19492-2004)") and this is commonly adopted by oil & gas industry
in China. The authorized person signing this report is also one of the
writers of the Classifications for Petroleum Resources/Reserves.
According to the report, the management understands that there is no
substantial difference between China standards and international
standards. The Technical Advisor then submitted an updated technical
report together with feasibility economic data to LCH for further
evaluation. According to the updated technical report, the Fu 710, Meilisi
723 and Fu 718 areas totally have the proved estimated recovery
approximately 6,230,000 tons (approximately 45,670,000 barrels), proved
initial reserves of approximately 5,810,000 tons (approximately
42,590,000 barrels) and proved sub-economic initial reserve of
approximately 340,000 tons (approximately 2,490,000 barrels) under
US$70 oil price. In addition, the Technical Advisor made reference with
Daqing oil field economic benchmark as the assumption of feasibility
study in the report.
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LCH is a professional surveyors firm and has past records signing off
mineral resources/ reserve estimation and mining technical reports for
public circular purpose according to Chapter 18 of the Hong Kong
Listing Rules. The management of the Group has made a background
checking and believed that LCH has adequate qualification to prepare
the valuation report of Qigihar project. The valuation of the intangible
asset was determined using the discounted cash flow analysis. The
analysis uses the operating profits attributable to the 2007 & 2008
Production Sharing Contract (“PSC”) as a base updated with latest
information.

The valuation of oil exploitation right with a combined value to
approximately RMB2,264,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,575,010,000)
determined by LCH was using discounted cash flow analysis and was
based on an agreed-upon procedure and adopted information
provided by the management and the Technical Advisor.

Although the management of the Group considers the technical report
and the valuation report are reasonably authoritative and can be used to
form a comfortable basis for the valuation exercise, the newly appointed
joint auditors hold a more reserved view. Amongst others, the absence of
an international professional expert and the inadequate proven
information to support the feasibility of the new extraction methodology
are the prime concerns of the newly appointed joint auditors.

In a bid to resolve this situation, the Group agrees to appoint an
international independent valuer to prepare another valuation report
to meet the requirements of the joint auditors.

In order to avoid further delay of the results announcement, the
directors decide that the release of the financial statements with a
disclaimer from the joint auditors prior to the completion of the
valuation reports is a better option for shareholders. The directors will
however appoint the joint auditors to conduct a special review and to
have the outstanding accounting issues resolved.
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COMMITMENTS 1B
As at 31 March 2010, the Group had capital expenditure RZZE—ZTF=FA=+—H AE£EEHER
commitments as follows: FZAENT:
2010 2009
—E-FF —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFT BT
Contracted but not provided for EENEREBE
— development expenditure of the Work — REEAETEFEN
Programme in Tunisia 2 X 46,500 -
— property, plant and equipment — % BEREZE - 1,984
— construction in progress —ERIRE - 2,670
— acquisition in a target mining group —E-—HAERRES - 60,000
46,500 64,654
Authorised but not contracted for EREERETL
— acquisition of a company engaged in oil — Uy BE — R 1 B A i B Al
technology consultancy service BHARBEH AR 41,380 -

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(@) Contingencies on Hong Kong Profits Tax

In the prior years, the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department
(the “IRD”) had made some enquiries on the taxability of profits
of certain subsidiaries of the Company in respect of Hong Kong
Profits Tax since the year of assessment 1996/97. In addition,
the IRD had commenced a tax audit on these subsidiaries since
2007 which covers the years of assessment from 1996/97 to
2007/08. The Company had made the response and provided
the relevant information to address the IRD’s enquires and no
conclusion was made by the IRD up to the approval date of the
consolidated financial statements. The IRD issued protective
assessments to certain subsidiaries with tax payable amounting
to approximately HK$28,735,000 (in which approximately
HK$7,917,000 are duplications). The Group filed objections
against such assessments on the grounds that these
assessments were excessive, and that the income under
assessment neither arose in, nor was derived from, Hong Kong.
The Group had purchased tax reserve certificate of
approximately HK$4,700,000 (2009: HK$1,800,000) at the
IRD’s request during the financial year.
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(b)

24

In the opinion of the management, the IRD’s enquiries are still at
the stage of collation of evidence and the Company has
reasonable ground to justify its position as the management
considers that the subsidiaries were not carrying on business in
Hong Kong or the profits were derived by the subsidiaries
outside Hong Kong.

In the event that all the relevant profits at this stage would be
treated by the IRD as chargeable to Hong Kong Profits Tax, the
estimated tax liabilities without considering penalty arising from
the tax audit in respect of such circumstances would be
approximately HK$21 million (2009: HK$21 million), HK$11
million (2009: HK$11 million) out of which had been indemnified
by Mr. Poon Sum, the director, for those potential liabilities
incurred prior to the listing of the Company in 2002. If there is
additional tax payable upon the settlement of the tax audit, the
IRD may also impose a penalty of maximum three times of the
tax undercharged. After taking into account of the professional
advice from its tax representative, the management considers
that there is no reasonable basis to determine the accurate
amount of additional tax and penalty at this stage under the tax
audit. Accordingly, no provision for such potential liabilities has
been made in the consolidated financial statements.
Management is considering various approaches in the best
interest of the Group to resolve the dispute with the IRD.

The Company had contingent liabilities as follows:
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FABMHABFEMNT -

2010 2009

—E-FF ZZEThF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BETT BT T

Guarantee for banking facilities of subsidiaries ~ Hi B AR iR 1T B & FOHE 1R 127,113 322,221

In the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the fair value of
the financial guarantee contracts of the Company is insignificant
at initial recognition and the Directors consider the possibility of
default of the parties involved is remote, accordingly, no value
has been recognised in the balance sheet.
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(c) Environmental contingencies

Due to the under ground oil exploitation method adopted by the
Group, the Group has not incurred any significant expenditure
on environmental rehabilitation since its establishment. There is,
however, no assurance that stringent environmental policies
and/or standards on environmental rehabilitation will not be
implemented by the relevant authorities in the PRC in the future
which require the Group to undertake environmental measures.
The financial position of the Group may be adversely affected
by any environmental liabilities, which may be imposed under
such new environmental policies and/or standards.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK
AND INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s business transactions are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and Renminbi. Most interest bearing bank borrowings of
the Group are on floating rate basis. Foreign currency exposure is
monitored closely by the management and hedged by foreign
currency forward contracts. The Group also uses derivative financial
instruments to manage interest rate exposures for hedging purpose
only.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had an aggregate of 136 (2009: 376)
employees of which about 114 (2009: 361) were located in main land
China while the rest were based in Hong Kong and Macau. The
employee’s remuneration package includes salary, bonus and share
options. Pursuant to the Group’s remuneration policy, employees are
rewarded on the basis of merit and market conditions and in
accordance with the statutory requirements of the respective
jurisdiction where the employees located.
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DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULES 13.21 OF
THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of rule 13.21 in the
Listing Rules, the Company makes the following disclosures in relation
to the details of the Facility Letter (as defined below), which includes
conditions relating to specific performance of the controlling
shareholder of the Company:

On 14 October 2009, the Group had accepted the renewal of the
Banking Facilities Letter (the “Facility Letter”) offered by a Bank in
Hong Kong (the “Bank”) in relation to various working capital facilities
up to a revised amount of HK$134,846,852. The terms included
corporate guarantees on subsidiaries, an all money first share
charge(s) over 51% of all issued shares of a subsidiary and financial
covenants on the financial statements of the Group. In addition, it is
required that (1) Mr. Poon Sum, Mr. Poon Sau Tin and their family shall
collectively maintain at least 23% of the issued share capital of the
Group; (2) Mr. Poon Sum shall remain as Chairman or Chief Executive
Officer of the Group and shall be actively involved in the management
and business of the Group; (3) Mr. Poon Sum, Mr. Poon Sau Tin and
their family members shall remain the single largest shareholder of the
Group. Other terms and conditions have no material different with the
information disclosed previously. As at the date of the financial
statement, one of the financial covenants was not satisfied with the
requirement but it was waived unconditionally by the bank
accordingly.

On 25 November 2009, a subsidiary of the Group accepted a special
loan guarantee scheme with amount of HK$6,000,000 offered by the
Bank. The facility is non-revolving nature with 60 months period and
for the sole purpose of meeting the needs of general business uses.
The major terms and conditions are similar with above disclosure.
There are no special terms and conditions required to further
disclose.

The above banking facilities are subject to periodic review by the
relevant banks at its sole discretion.
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Corporate Governance Report

EEELRRE

This corporate governance report (“CG Report”) presents the
corporate governance matters during the year covering the financial
year ended 31 March 2010 (“CG Period”) required to be disclosed
under the Rules Governing the Listing of the Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) (“Listing Rules”).

ADOPTION OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Group has adopted the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
which came into effect on 1 January 2005. During the CG Period, the
Code had been duly complied with except for the deviations as
follows:

The Non-executive Director (“NED”) and the Independent Non-
executive Directors (“INEDs”) of the Company are not appointed for
specific terms but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2010, the Board comprised a total of six Directors,
with three Executive Directors (“EDs”) and three INEDs. Two of the
INEDs have appropriate professional qualifications, accounting, or
related professional management expertise, which is required by the
Listing Rules. During the CG Period, four regular Board meetings
were held.

The composition of the Board, and the respective attendances of the
Directors are presented as follows:

BANESE =URTEF(RTEED
NM=Z(IBIFNTES - HPMUBILIF
NTEERALTRAFMRENEZEE
Bf SR NEREEBEXEEEMME - N
CEERPME ARRBTTHREHE
EE

B = X

EEENERLSUESERSBLEBRNAT

Director Board Capacity Attendance
EE EZESH % 2
Mr. Poon Sum ED & Chairman 4/4
EREE HITEERIE 4/4
Mr. Wong Kwok Leung ED 4/4
=E R B BiTEE 4/4
Mr. Poon Wai Kong ED & Financial Controller 4/4
R LA BIOTEERVBERE 4/4
Mr. Chen Lizhong (retired on 21 August 2009) NED 1/4
RIZBEERZZEZEAFNAZT—HREME) FEBMITES 1/4
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung INED 4/4
REBEE BYEHITES 4/4
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul INED 4/4
PR ERIR o BYIEAITES 4/4
Mr. Chan Shu Kin INED 4/4
PR 161 B2 5 A WY FRTES 4/4

All the four regular Board meetings were held to discuss and/or
approve the financial performance/results of the Group, report,
discuss and/or resolve for the ordinary business, joint auditors’ matter
and operation matters, and the corporate development and decisions.
The Board formulates overall strategy of the Group, monitors its
financial performance and maintains effective supervision over the
management. Daily operations and administration are delegated to
the management. During the CG Period, none of the Directors above
has or maintained any financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship with any of the other Directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was formed on 21 March 2005 and
adopted specific written terms of reference in accordance with the
provisions set out in the Code. The role and function of the
Remuneration Committee includes:

° recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy for
the Directors;

° review of, approval of and recommendation for (if any) the
remuneration package of each Director including benefits in
kind, pension right, bonus payment and compensation
payable;

° review and approval of the compensation payment to any
Director upon his/her cessation of directorship in or
employment with the Company; and

o engagement of external professional advisors to assist and/or
advise the Remuneration Committee on its duties when
necessary and reasonable.

For the financial year under review, the Remuneration Committee had
held three physical meetings for the purpose of considering the
remuneration of the Directors and senior management.

The composition of the Remuneration Committee, and the respective
attendances of the committee members are presented as follows:

HWNESE
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AAMREEEEREEE - e kit E
AZEFETHRE &

o REERAENR - REEIFEXER -
BB R SmFMEE e RHEE
HBBHER -

REBEMBEE  FMEZBESER E81T
T=ZRE&F EHEZREFAEMEEA
S -

FTHEESeMEARKREEERNESTAHRE
BRI :

Member Committee capacity Attendance
5 4= EEEHH =
Mr. Poon Sum Chairman of the committee 3/3
ERREE ZEBRXR 3/3
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung INED 3/3
SR LA BYENTES 3/3
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul INED 3/3
Bk £ 12 55 4 BYNITES 3/3
Mr. Chan Shu Kin INED 3/3
R 461 B2 o A BIERITES 3/3

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee since its establishment
has been Mr. Poon Sum.
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The summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee
for the financial year under review included:

° review the current remuneration policies and appraisal system;

° consider and approve the grant of share options to directors
and senior management;

° recommend to the Board the director’s fee for the year ending
31 March 2010;

° consider and approve the remuneration of the director and
senior management.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to and/or entitled by each of the Directors for
the financial year under review is set out in Note 13 to the financial
statements.

The share options granted to/or entitled by the Directors during
the financial year under review are inscribed in the section
headed “Directors’ Interests in Equity or Debt Securities” of the
Directors’ Report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific equity
of all Directors, they confirmed that all of them have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the reporting
period.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company does not have a Nomination Committee. The Chairman
of the Board is responsible to identify and recommend for the Board’s
approval of any eligible candidate to join the Board for filling the
casual vacancy and/or appointing additional directors. The Board
composes members with mixed skills and experience with
appropriate weights necessary to accomplish the Group’s business
development, strategies, operation, challenges and opportunities.
Each member of the Board shall posses, be recognised for and be
able to exhibit high and professional standard of a set of core criteria
of competence.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has adopted specific written term of reference
in accordance with the provision set out in the Code. The principal
duties of the Audit Committee include:

° monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the Group;

° providing independent review and supervision of the
effectiveness of the internal control of the Group;

° reviewing adequacy of the external audits;

o reviewing compliance issues with the Listing Rules and other
compliance requirements;

° providing independent views on connected transactions and
transactions involving materially conflicted interest;

° considering and reviewing the appointment of the Auditors and
the audit remuneration; and

° considering the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and budget.

For the financial year under review, the Audit Committee had held four
regular meetings for discussing and/or approving the periodic
financial results of the Group, discuss the joint auditors’ performance
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group
and adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function and their
training programmes and budget.

The composition of the Audit Committee, and the respective
attendances of the committee members are presented as follows:
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Member Committee capacity Attendance
5= EBE5H ==
Mr. Chan Shu Kin Chairman of the committee 4/4
PR 51 B2 St AE ZEEER 4/4
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul INED 4/4
PR iR IR e 4 BYENITESR 4/4
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung INED 4/4
REE LA BYNITER 4/4

The chairman of the Audit Committee since its establishment has
been Mr. Chan Shu Kin.
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AUDIT REMUNERATION

The analysis of the Joint Auditors’ remuneration for the financial year
under review is presented as follows:

%8 =

REBEYBFEE  BFEZEEOME D0
wm

Fee amount (HK$°000)

ER(EE T
Audit service % 8RS 2,380
Non-audit services EAZ BRTE 940

INTERNAL CONTROL

Both the Management and the Board of Directors increasingly
recognise the significance of maintaining an effective and reliable
internal control system within the Group, and would like to contribute
and co-operate additional efforts and resources to help improving the
current monitoring systems as well as for ensuring the implementation
of any constructive recommendations.

Before June 2009, review of the Group’s operating functions and
procedures were only performed by an accountancy firm on an
assignment basis and after that period, an independent Audit
Department had been established internally with the designated
primary roles for reviewing and evaluating the current operating
procedures within the Group and the effectiveness of its control and
monitoring systems. The Head of Internal Audit therefore reports
administratively to the Chief Executive Officer and functionally to the
Audit Committee.

During the year, Audit Department conducted several on site review
of the Company’s subsidiaries and its associate according to the
audit plan, the scope of services mainly focusing on review of the
current operating procedures and the adequacy and appropriateness
of the control systems. Audit reports were issued timely for the
Management’s attention and actions.

Regarding the current market trend, Internal Audit function will help to
contribute more than performing a monitoring role within the
Company, like they will also act as internal advisors and facilitators to
Management for serving as constructive means in order for enhancing
the internal communications among the Group, minimizing any
potential business and operating risks and also acting as a change
advocate.
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Group. In preparing the financial
statements for the financial year under review, the Directors have:

° Based on a going concern basis;

° Selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently;

° Made judgments and estimates that were prudent, fair and
reasonable.

The statement of the Joint Auditors regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in detail in the
Joint Independent Auditors’ Report on page 55 to 58.

On behalf of the Board

Poon Sum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 August 2010
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The directors submit their annual report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 45 to the financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and
geographical segments is set out in Note 7 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
income statement on page 59.

No interim dividend was paid or declared in respect of the year ended
31 March 2010 (2009: Nil).

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2010 (2009: Nil).

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statements of changes in
equity on page 63 to 65.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in Note 17 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in Note 34 to the financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 March 2010 amounted to
HK$NIl. Under section 34 of the Companies Law (Revised) of the
Cayman lIslands, the share premium is available for distribution to
shareholders subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association of
the Company, and no distribution may be paid to shareholders out of
the Company’s share premium unless the Company shall be able to
pay its debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 215 to 216.

PURCHASES, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries, purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the securities of the Company during the year.

SHARE OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

Warrants

On 30 January 2008, the Company had issued 200,000,000 non-
listed warrants, each entitles the holder thereof to subscribe for one
new share at the subscription price of HK$1.00 (subject to adjustment)
at any time during a period of thirty-six months commencing from the
date of issue of the warrants. As of 31 March 2010, there were
outstanding non-listed warrants carrying subscription rights up to
HK$189,851,999 in aggregate, equivalent to the aggregate
subscription price for a total of 220,758,139 shares on the basis of the
adjusted subscription price of HK$0.86 per share.

On 26 September 2008, the Company had issued 161,894,434 listed
warrants, each entitles the holder thereof to subscribe for one new
share at the subscription price of HK$0.48 (subject to adjustment) at
any time during a period of thirty-six months commencing from the
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date of issue of the warrants. As of 31 March 2010, there were
outstanding listed warrants carrying subscription rights up to
HK$76,239,248.64 in aggregate, equivalent to the aggregate
subscription price for a total of 158,831,768 shares.

On 31 May 2009, the Company had issued 77,000,000 non-listed
warrants, each entitles the holder thereof to subscribe for one new
share at the subscription price of HK$0.45 (subject to adjustment) at
any time during a period of twenty-one months commencing from the
date immediately after three months from the date of issue of the
warrants. As of 31 March 2010, there were outstanding listed warrants
carrying subscription rights up to HK$65,500,000 in aggregate,
equivalent to the aggregate subscription price for a total of 29,475,000
shares.

At the extraordinary general meeting held on 21 June 2010, it was
approved to issue 250,000,000 non-listed warrants to Mr. Poon Sum,
the Chairman of the Company. Each warrant entitles the holder
thereof to subscribe for one new share at the subscription price of
HK$1.35 (subject to adjustment) at any time during a period of thirty-
six months commencing from the date of issue of the warrants.

Share Options

Share options are granted to directors, executives and employees
under a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) approved
by shareholders at an Extraordinary General Meeting on 21 October
2002.

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to acknowledge the contributions made or to be made by
participants to the Group. The Board of Directors may, at its
discretion, offer employees, executive and non-executive directors,
officers, advisers and consultants of the Company and its
subsidiaries, the grant of options to subscribe for shares of the
Company. Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the grant. The
total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval of the Share
Option Scheme. The 10% limit was refreshed by ordinary resolution
passed by the shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held
on 16 June 2009 which enabled the grant of further options to
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subscribe up to 255,112,210 shares, representing 10% of the shares
in issue as at the said date. The 10% limit was further refreshed by
ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 18 March 2010 which enabled the grant of
further options to subscribe up to 361,373,428 shares, representing
10% of the shares in issue as at the said date.

As at the date of the annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue pursuant to the exercise of all options granted or to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme was 219,589,428
(including options for 70,016,000 shares that have been granted but
not yet lapsed or exercised), representing about 5.57% of the issued
share capital of the Company. Unless approved by shareholders of
the Company, the total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. The Directors will have the
absolute discretion to fix the minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised, and the performance targets
that must be achieved before the options can be exercised upon the
grant of an option to a participant.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the
Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price
will not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares,
(i) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in daily
quotations sheet of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) for the five consecutive trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer of the option and (jii) the closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of offer of the option (which must be a trading day).

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time after the date upon which the
option is deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the expiry
of such period to be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion and notified to the grantee. No option may be granted more
than 10 years after the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.
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Details of the share option outstanding at 31 March 2010 which have WR-Z—ZF=ZF=+—H BEFIER

been granted under the scheme are as follows: LR M ARITEM R ETIBOT:
Number of Options Price of Company’s shares
BREYE FATRMBER
Outstanding Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
Exercise price asat  duringthe  duringthe  during the asat  ForOption  For Option
Participants Date of grant per share Exercisable Period 1 April 2009 year year year 31 March 2010 granted exercised
R-BENE R-F-%%
mA-H ZA=t+-H 2R BiTfE
2% REBAH BRITERE TTEH HATE REARE REATE REAXR o R AT £ R ki
HKS$ HKS HK$
(Note 1) (Note 2)
B ek ek
i3l (Fi&t2)
Executive Directors
$rES
Mr. Poon Sum 14/09/2007 0.933 (adjusted) 14/09/2007 to£13/09/2009 48,000,000 - —  (48,000,000) - 1.020 -
EREE (B%)
29/04/2009 0.2064 29/04/2009 to £ 28/04/2012 — 110,000,000  (110,000,000) - - 0.203 1.385
Mr. Poon Wai Kong 28/07/2008 0,310 28/07/2008 to % 27/07/2009 6,450,000 - (6,450,000) - - 0.295 0409
EERLE 28/07/2008 0310 28/01/2009 toZ27/07/2009 6,450,000 - (6,450,000) - - 0.295 0457
31/08/2009 0.412 31/08/2009 to£30/08/2010 — 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000 0.405 -
Mr. Wong Kwok Leung 13/08/2004 0.251 (adjusted) 13/08/2004 to£12/08/2014 100,000 - - - 100,000 - -
BERASE (BH%)
29/04/2009 0.2064 29/04/2009 to % 28/04/2012 - 3,000,000  (2,784,000) - 216,000 0.203 0.533

Non-executive Director

*HTES

Mr. Chen Lizhong (retired on 28/07/2008 0.310 28/07/2008 to £ 27/07/2009 5,000,000 - (6,000,000) - - 0.295 0.408
21 August 2009)

RIBKEMRZZINE
NAZT—BE#A)

Independent Non-executive Directors

BUkHTES
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul 14/09/2007 0.933 (adjusted) 14/09/2007 to%13/09/2009 680,000 - - (680,000) - 1.020 -
RifRELE (BHE)
29/04/2009 0.2064 29/04/2009 to % 28/04/2012 - 260,000 (260,000) - - 0.203 0.530
16/07/2009 0.414 16/07/2009 to£15/07/2010 - 1,664,000 (1,664,000) - - 0.41 0.530
Mr. Chan Shu Kin 14/09/2007 0.933 (adjusted) 14/09/2007 to £13/09/2009 680,000 - - (680,000) - 1.020 -
REBEE (B%)
29/04/2009 0.2064 29/04/2009 to % 28/04/2012 - 260,000 (260,000) - - 0.203 0670
16/07/2009 0.414 16/07/2009 to£15/07/2010 - 1,664,000 (1,664,000) - - 0.41 0.670
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung 14/09/2007 0.933 (acjusted) 14/09/2007 to£13/09/2009 680,000 - - (680,000) - 1.020 -
RERRE (BHE)
29/04/2009 0.2064 29/04/2009 to£28/04/2012 - 260,000 (260,000) - - 0.203 1.120
16/07/2009 0.414 16/07/2009 to£15/07/2010 - 1,664,000 (1,664,000) - - 0.41 1.120
Chief Executive
THaH
Mr. Leung Kam Lung, Danny 28/07/2008 0.310 28/07/2008 to % 27/07/2009 6,475,000 - (6,475,000) - - 0.295 0.414
2oEEE 28/07/2008 0.310 28/01/2009 to % 27/07/2009 6,475,000 - (6,475,000) - - 0.295 0.449
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Number of Options Price of Company’s shares
ERENE FATRMBER
Outstanding Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
Exercise price asat  duringthe  duringthe  during the asat  ForOption  For Option
Participants Date of grant per share Exercisable Period 1 April 2009 year year year 31 March 2010 granted exercised
RZEELE R-E-%%
mA-A ZA=+-H Bt BfTfE
2HZE RHBH BRITER TTEY HATE RERRE REATE REAKY BRI Bk | 13
HK$ HKS$ HKS
(Note 1) (Note 2)
B ek ek
Gika) (Hi32)
Employees in aggregate
EEA
28/07/2008 0.310 28/07/2008 toZ27/07/2009 47,950,000 - (47.950,000) - - 0.295 0.474
06/11/2008 0.077 06/11/2008 to%05/11/2009 20,000,000 - (20,000,000) - - 0.083 0.427
24/12/2008 0.110 24/12/2008 to%23/12/2009 63,500,000 - (63,500,000) - - 0.070 0.343
24/12/2008 0.118 24/12/2008 to%23/12/2009 38,000,000 - (38,000,000) - - 0.070 0.345
24/12/2008 0.200 24/12/2008 to£23/12/2009 10,000,000 - (10,000,000) - - 0.070 0.382
31/12/2008 0.200 31/12/2008 to£30/12/2009 20,000,000 —  (20,000,000) = - 0110 0533
13/05/2009 0.300 13/05/2009 to%12/05/2010 - 42,200,000 (27,200,000) - 15,000,000 0.275 0467
24/07/2009 0.475 24/07/2009 toZ23/07/2010 - 17,000,000 (12,000,000) - 5,000,000 0.485 0.897
14/08/2009 0.472 14/08/2009 to£13/08/2010 — 51,800,000 (30,800,000) - 21,000,000 0.475 1133
31/08/2009 0.412 31/08/2009 to£30/08/2010 — 60,000,000  (27,700,000) - 32,300,000 0405 1175
280,440,000 299,772,000  (446,556,000)  (50,040,000) 83,616,000
Notes: B o
1, The price of the Company’s shares disclosed for options granted is the closing 1. RERLBEREMEBEONARARMDER B
price of the shares immediately before the date on which the options were ZEBRESLBBAIROOKTE -
granted.
2. The price of the Company’s shares disclosed for options exercised is the 2. RETEEREMEENARARNDER 1B
weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the dates on ZEERERTEREATR M NEFE KRS
which the options were exercised. & -
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Save as disclosed above, none of the directors, or their spouse or
children under the age of 18, had been granted any right to subscribe
for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any of its
associated corporations, or had exercised any such right during the
period.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME OF THE COMPANY

On 16 October 2008, the Company adopted the Share Award
Scheme in which selected employees of the Group, including without
limitation any executive and non-executive director, officer, agent or
consultant (with payroll) of the Group, are entitled to participate in the
Share Award Scheme pursuant to the rules of the Share Award
Scheme.

The purposes and objectives of the Share Award Scheme are to
recognise the contributions by certain employees and to provide them
with incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group. Subject to any early termination as may be
determined by the Board, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the adoption date.
The maximum number of shares which may be awarded to a selected
employee under the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the adoption date. The
nominal value of the shares awarded by the Board under the Share
Award Scheme shall not exceed 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the adoption date.

During the reporting period, the Company did not purchase any share
for the Share Award Scheme.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Mr. Poon Sum
Mr. Wong Kwok Leung
Mr. Poon Wai Kong
Mr. Chen Lizhong'
(retired on 21 August 2009)
Mr. Chan Shu Kin?
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul?
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung?

! Non-Executive Director
2 Independent Non-Executive Director

In accordance with Article 87(1) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Poon Sum and Mr. Chan Shu Kin shall retire from
office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreements with
any member of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Apart from Directors’ service contracts as described above, no
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
of the company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Poon Sum, aged 46, is Chairman of the Company and one of the
co-founders of the Group. Throughout the year, he has been, and still
is, primarily responsible for the overall strategic planning, business
development, marketing and formulation of overall corporate policies
of the Group. He has over 20 years of experience in the oil, paints and
coatings industry and the trading of chemicals in Hong Kong and the
PRC.

Mr. Wong Kwok Leung, aged 52, is an Executive Director. He is
currently responsible for the administration and production
management of the Group’s subsidiary in Dongguan. He obtained the
qualification of LCC — Higher Accounting from London Chamber of
Commerce and diploma of supervisory studies from Hong Kong
Productivity Council. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in the field
of finance and accounting for over 15 years and has obtained
extensive knowledge therein. He joined the Group in September 1997.

Mr. Poon Wai Kong, aged 39, is an Executive Director. He is a
member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Certified Practising Accountant of Australia. He
also holds a Master degree in Business Administration and a Master
degree in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance from
the City University of Hong Kong, a Master degree in Practising
Accounting from the Monash University, Australia and a Bachelor
degree in Economics from the University of London, United Kingdom.
He has more than 19 years’ experience in accounting and financial
field. He joined the Group as Financial Controller in September 2005.
He was appointed as Company Secretary for the Company in
September 2006.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Shu Kin, aged 55, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director. He was appointed on 21 October 2002. He is a certified
public accountant and is a partner of Messrs. Ting Ho Kwan & Chan,
Certified Public Accountants. He is a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United
Kingdom, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. He has over 32 years of
experience in the field of auditing, accounting as well as financial
management. He is the past president of the Society of Chinese
Accountants and Auditors (the “Society”) and currently a committee
member of the Society. He is also an independent non-executive
director of PYI Corporation Limited which is a listed company on the
main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul, aged 55, is an Independent Non-
Executive Director. He was appointed on 21 October 2002. He is the
proprietor of Paul K.C. Chan & Partners Solicitors & Notaries, and has
been practising laws in Hong Kong for over 26 years. He obtained a
Juris Doctorate degree from the University of Toronto in 1979. He has
been admitted as a barrister and a solicitor in Ontario, Canada and as
a barrister in the Australian Capital Territory, as a solicitor in Hong
Kong and in England and Wales, and as an advocate and solicitor in
Singapore. He became a China-Appointed Attesting Officer in 1995, a
member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in 1996, a Notary
Public in Hong Kong in 1997, and HKIAC Accredited Mediator in
1999.

Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung, aged 58, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director. He was appointed on 30th September 2004. He is a
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has over
25 years of experience in accounting, finance and investment banking
profession specialising in equity/debt fund raising, mergers and
acquisitions and corporate restructuring before working with publicly
listed companies undertaking corporate management, planning and
strategies development functions. He is an independent non-
executive director of NewOcean Energy Holdings Limited, V.S.
International Group Limited and Mobile Telecom Network (Holdings)
Limited, whose shares is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He was an independent non-
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executive director of Diagonite International Limited (formerly known
as “Ruyan Group (Holdings) Limited”), whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange, from 20 September 2004 to 28 June 2010.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the
Independent non-executive directors as regards their independence
from the Company and considers that each of the Independent Non-
executive directors is independence of the Company.

Senior Management

Mr. Leung Kam Lung, Danny, aged 49, is the Chief Executive Officer
of the Group. He joined the Group on 1 April 2008 and is primarily
responsible for the Group’s daily operations. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United
Kingdom, an associate member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Leung has over 27 years of
experience in various functional areas with responsibilities for strategic
planning, business development, mergers and acquisitions, internal
and external auditing and financial management. Mr. Leung held
various management positions with a number of reputable groups,
with business activities throughout Greater China and the Asia Pacific
region, including a multi-national commercial group headquartered in
Shanghai, a state-owned enterprise headquartered both in Beijing
and Hong Kong, two investment banking and securities brokerage
groups based in Hong Kong, a Hong Kong securities regulatory body
as well as two ‘big-four’ auditing firms.

Professor Kwong Ser Yuen Kwong, Albert, aged 60, is the Vice
Chairman and Chief Operating Officer of the Group. He joined the
Group on 1 July 2008. He is a renowned oil scholar and a seasoned
senior petroleum engineer with worldwide hands-on exploration and
production experience, both onshore and offshore, plus sharp cross-
border business management skills of an international standard. He
has direct exposure to the exploration and exploitation of oil and gas
in North America (covering both the United States and Canada),
South America, Asia (especially China), Australia, West Africa and the
Middle East.
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Professor Kwong earned his Bachelor of Science in Computer
Science from the University of South Carolina in 1974 and Master of
Science in Petroleum Engineering from the University of Texas at
Austin in 1977, also later Master of Science in Engineering
Management in Oklahoma, the United States. He had worked as a
research engineer for the Department of Energy, the United States
and later as drilling and operations engineer for Atlantic Richfield Co.
He then worked for Sun Qil (USA) in its south China Sea offshore
drilling ventures with CNOOC.

Mr. Ho Chi Hung, Alan, aged 57, is Senior Manager of the Investment
Management Department. He joined the Group in February 2009 and
is responsible for all aspects of investment management matters in
relation to the Group’s subsidiaries, associated companies and joint
ventures. He has over 10 years of experience in advising independent
petroleum firms operating in PRC. Mr. Ho graduated with a Master
degree from the University of Michigan in 1977. He is also a co-
founder of PetroChina Services Company and later PetroAsia Energy
Limited.

Ms. Liu Yu Qin, aged 42, is the General Manager and Director of
America Archi Colors Group Limited. She joined the Group in April
2007 and is responsible for the sales and marketing of paints
products in Northeast China Market. She has a postgraduate degree
from the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences. She has 12 years of
experience in the coating industry in both China and internationally
and over 12 years of experience in sales and marketing.

Mr. Cao Quan, aged 38, is General Manager of the Qigihar Northeast
Oil currently. He held a Business Administration degree in 1993 and
had worked in numerous senior management positions in various
industries including the construction of the Guangzhou Subway
System. He joined the Group in 2008 as committee member of joint
management committee in the oilfield area.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN EQUITY OR DEBT
SECURITIES

At 31 March 2010, the interests of the directors and chief executive of
the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company, and any of its associated corporations (as defined in Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as

EENRAVEHEFNEDR

RZZE-—ZEF=ZA=+—H REIFHFR
HEHRMTEFEPEGRD])EI2GFE
MBERMATE  KREFETAHAESBAAX
RAIRBRXAHNEN  ARAEERETE
TTHRABRARR R EERBEER(ER

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the R &EH N H SIEHIEXVE) G5 - B
Model code were as follows: Hx D ESREENESAT
Number of Shares Total %
Name Capacity Nature of Interests held Equity Derivative Total Interest  of Issued Shares
EEBRTRE
23 g 323371 RENRHEE BRAEHEIR BER A
Directors:
=
Mr. Poon Sum Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 232,770,453 9,629,537 651,677,427 17.97%
BREE (Notes 1&2)
BEREBA {8l A 2 (B 321 52)
Founder of a Other Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879
Discretionary Trust (Notes 1 & 3)
ERETABA H 2 (M FH110)
Mr. Wong Kwok Leung Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 16,285 317,357 333,642 0.01%
HEREE (Notes 1 &4)
ERBERA 8 A & (P 31 R4)
Mr. Poon Wai Kong Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 2,300,000 10,100,000 12,400,000 0.34%
BERTAE (Notes 1 &5)
BEREBA {8l A 25 (FfY 51 525)
Mr. Chan Shu Kin Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 61,500 - 61,500 0.002%
BRI B S (Note 1)
EREEA B A 2 (P 251
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 4,000 100,000 104,000 0.003%
RBIELAE (Notes 1 &6)
EREHA B A8 & (P 5 126)
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 654,000 147,500 801,500 0.02%
KHBEAE (Notes 1&7)
EaBEAA {8l A 2 (P 1 R7)
Notes: Y & -
1. All interests in shares and underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company 1. AR BB A & BRAN 07 4 T B /9 48 B8 AR 17 /O P
are long positions. BRESERITRE -
2. All interests in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company are 2. RARBRASTET AR RN OB EE R

interests in warrants of the Company (the “Warrants”) which conferred rights to
subscribe for 9,629,537 shares at an initial subscription price of HK$0.48 per
share (subject to adjustment) exercisable during the period from 17 October
2008 to 16 October 2011.
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3. All interests in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company are
interests in the Warrants. These shares and Warrants are held by Ever Source
Enterprises Limited (“Ever Source”). The issued share capital of Ever Source is
beneficially owned as to 50% by Time Concord Limited (“Time Concord”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and indirectly owned by
a discretionary trust, the beneficiaries of which are family members of Mr. Poon
Sum, and as to 50% by Guidance Investments Limited (“Guidance”), a company
incorporated in the BVI and indirectly owned by a discretionary trust, the
beneficiaries of which are family members of Mr. Poon Sau Tin, the elder brother
of Mr. Poon Sum. Accordingly, Mr. Poon Sum will be deemed to be interested in
377,794,558 shares, representing approximately 10.42% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at 31 March 2010 through his shareholding in Ever Source.

4. All interests in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company are
interests in the Warrants which conferred rights to subscribe for 1,357 shares
and interests in share options of the Company granted under the share option
scheme of the Company, 100,000 of which may be exercised during the period
from 13 August 2004 to 12 August 2014 at an adjusted exercise price of
HK$0.251 per share and 216,000 of which may be exercised during the period
from 29 April 2009 to 28 April 2012 at the exercise price of HK$0.2064 per share.

5. All interests in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company are
interests in the Warrants which conferred rights to subscribe for 100,000 shares
and share options of the Company granted under the share option scheme of
the Company which may be exercised during the period from 31 August 2009 to
30 August 2010 to subscribe for 10,000,000 shares at an exercise price of
HK$0.412 per share.

6. All interest in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company are interests
in the Warrants which conferred rights to subscribe for 100,000 shares.

7. Allinterest in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company are interests
in the Warrants which conferred rights to subscribe for 147,500 shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, none of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company had held any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (as defined in Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

3. RARBBRATETEEBROOE E&S
BARATRIRBRIEZINEDS  ZERORBKE
# M Ever Source Enterprises Limited ([Ever
Source]) 5 & ° Ever Source ) 2 3 1T X A B —
HREBEZHSAMKRY RBE—BE2EET (R
HARBEREENRGREB)BEREEHAR
Time Concord Limited ([Time Concord]) & z #
H50%  M—EREBELESTEMK L RA
—HEECEEEAREREENRARES
BB R KK B) B % B & 2 8 Guidance
Investments Limited ([Guidance]) # & 2 4 &)
50% o B It - 7% 7R 5t A& B i H 7 Ever Source )
A4 - 18 448 B 1A377,794,558F% AR 17 R #E B 4
@ HERARBARZZTE-—ZEF=ZA=+—HH
BT £910.42%

4. RARABRATETEHBERMOFAEERZR
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

FERRMER

As at 31 March 2010, the interest of the shareholders, not beinga RZZ

director or chief executive of the Company, in the shares and §

to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

4\:1{

5

A ] 553361 A 17 B /) &
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required P& 3R (I JEARQA R A & = 12 2

~FF=A=t-A BEEHE

= 50 i T RC 8%
TEAB)

WARRAD MARBER D PR A RO R a0 T

Approximate

percentage
of the
Company’s
Name of Substantial Number of Equity total issued
shareholders Capacity Nature of Interests Shares held Derivative  Total Interest  share capital
LA
EBTRE
REN L& BERY
TERRNEE BB g5 e Kt & E fTETR BiEn =34
BNP Paribas Jersey Trust Trustee Other Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879 409,277,437 11.29%
Corporation Limited (Notes 1,2, 3 &4)
(BNP Paribas Jersey’) EEIN Hih s
(51~ 2 3R4)
Ground Point Limited Interest of Controlled Corporate Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879 409,277,437 11.29%
(“Ground Point”) Corporation (Notes 1,2, 3 &4)
REHERRR AL 3
(F&E1 -2~ 3R4)
Red Tiles Limited Interest of Controlled Corporate Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879 409,277,437 11.29%
Corporation (Notes 1,2, 3 &4)
REHEE RS NGIE: X
(FzE1 -2~ 3%4)
Guidance Interest of Controlled Corporate Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879 409,277,437 11.29%
Corporation (Notes 1,2,3&4)
ZEHEE R R NEER
(FH3E1~ 2 3]4)
Time Concord Interest of Controlled Corporate Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879 409,277,437 11.29%
Corporation (Notes 1, 2,3 &4)
ZEHEE R R NEER
(FH3E1~ 2 3R4)
Ever Source Beneficial Owner Corporate Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879 409,277,437 11.29%
(Notes 1, 2,3 &4)
EHHEAA AR
(51~ 2 3R4)
Mr. Poon Sau Tin Beneficial Owner Personal Interest 36,292,453 3,862,037 449,421,927 12.39%
EEMLE (Note 1)
EHHEAA EAES ()
Founder of a Other Interest 377,794,558 31,482,879
Discretionary Trust (Notes 1,2, 3 &4)
RGN LA Hih s
(51~ 2 3R4)
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Notes:

Allinterests in shares and underlying shares of equity derivatives of the Company
are long position. All interest in underlying shares of equity derivatives of the
Company are interests in Warrants.

All interests of BNP Paribas Jersey, Ground Point, Red Tiles, Guidance, Time
Concord and Ever Source and the other interest of Mr. Poon Sau Tin were
duplicated.

BNP Paribas Jersey is deemed to be interested in the shares and Warrants in the
capacity of a trust through interests of corporations controlled by it as follows:

o :

RARB R B R BEAITE T AMRR DM
ERBHIRER - RARABRAITETAKE
RO ERIARREENES -

BNP Paribas Jersey * Ground Point + Red Tiles »
Guidance * Time Concord & Ever Source K] FT 5
EmbESAEENEMERER &R -

BNP Paribas Jersey A {5 5t & (0 i& 8 A TR H 2=
il 8 V% B 2= i 4 AR A A AR 1) B AR AR B A
T o

Name of Controlled Corporation

Name of Controlling Shareholder

Percentage Control

REHEEEE ERBERNERE ERESEE
Ground Point BNP Paribas Jersey 100%
Red Tiles BNP Paribas Jersey 100%
Guidance Ground Point 100%
Time Concord Red Tiles 100%
Ever Source Guidance 50%
Ever Source Time Concord 50%

These shares and Warrants are held by Ever Source. The issued share capital of
Ever Source is beneficially owned as to 50% by Time Concord, a company
incorporated in the BVI and indirectly owned by a discretionary trust, the
beneficiaries of which are family members of Mr. Poon Sum, and as to 50% by
Guidance, a company incorporated in the BVI and indirectly owned by a
discretionary trust, the beneficiaries of which are family members of Mr. Poon
Sau Tin, the elder brother of Mr. Poon Sum. Accordingly, each of Mr. Poon Sum
and Mr. Poon Sau Tin will be deemed to be interested in 377,794,558 shares,
representing approximately 10.42% of the Company’s shares in issue as at 31
March 2010, because each of them is the respective founder of the aforesaid
two discretionary trusts which indirectly own 50% beneficial interest in Ever
Source respectively.

Save as disclosed above, there was no person known to the directors
of the Company, other than a director of the Company, who as at 31
March 2010 had an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register kept
under section 336 of the SFO.

2 % W& 1 K R A% #E 7% B Ever Source £ A © Ever
Source BB ITRAB—BRAEBRE ZXEHEST
MR RBE-—EHE2RET(ZEAREREE
)R bR A 8) 8 # # B 19 2 8 Time Concord# &
50% M—EREBEZESEMA T Ri—
BrEER(REARERAENARESH
S HEMR IR E) BB B /A 7 Guidance # B
BINEIS50% o FE M AREREERFSHE
& 5 Bl B b it 7 5 % B Ever Source B 5 ## 25
S50%MMEBEE2EEITNRIA AHESES
WAR B B377,794,558 0 R (h fE 2 - ARE R A
AARZE—ZTE=-A=+ BN EITRH
#910.42% ©

BREXFEEEN  RARBESHAA
RZE-—ZEF=ZA=+—H REFHFR
HIE G PIE336GAFENERMALE
BMECFAAL(EFARFES)RARA

B B £ 2K A B B ) o 1 7B et Bk

S A
KB o
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers were approximately 42% and the sales attributable
to the Group’s largest customer were approximately 22% of the
Group’s total sales.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers were approximately 49% and the purchases
attributable to the Group’s largest supplier were approximately 27% of
the Group’s total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or customers
noted above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into transaction with certain
Directors or companies related to them. Details of the significant
related party transactions and the Directors’ interests therein are set
out in Note 44 to the financial statements. The rental expenses of
approximately HK$237,000 payable to Luen Yat Enterprises Company
Limited, and consultancy fee approximately HK$576,000 payable to
Mr. Poon Sau Tin, also constitute a continuing connected transactions
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange (the “Main Board Listing Rules”). Mr. Poon Sum and Mr.
Poon San Tin have beneficial interests in Luen Yat Enterprises
Company Limited. Such continuing connected transaction falls under
R.14A.33 of the Main Board Listing Rules and thus is not subject to
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirement.

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
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On 28 October 2009, Merry Boom Investment Limited (“Merry
Boom”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
agreement with Well Lead Group Limited (“Well Lead”) to purchase
49% of the entire issued share capital of Northeast Oil (China)
Development Company Limited (“Northeast”) and all obligations,
liabilities and debts owing or incurred by Northeast to Well Lead on or
at any time prior to the completion of the acquisition at an aggregate
consideration of HK$168 million which shall be satisfied in the
following manner:

1) HK$44,652,376.58 shall be settled by way of entering into the
deed of novation among Well Lead, Merry Boom and
Northeast;

@) HK$39,347,623.42 shall, at Merry Boom’s sole discretion, be
settled either in cash or by procuring the Company to allot and
issue 87,829,516 new Shares to Well Lead, credited as fully
paid, at the issue price of approximately HK$0.448 per
consideration share at completion or a combination of both;
and

(38)  the remaining HK$84 million shall, at Merry Boom’s sole
discretion, be settled either in cash or by procuring the
Company to allot and issue up to 187,500,000 new Shares to
Well Lead, credited as fully paid, at the issue price of
approximately HK$0.448 per consideration share on or before
the date falling the 45th day of the date of completion (as such
later date as the parties may agree) or a combination of both.

Well Lead, being a substantial shareholder of Northeast, a subsidiary
of the Company, was a connected person of the Company. The
acquisition constituted a major and connected transaction of the
Company.

Before the acquisition, the Company, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary Honour Bright Investments Limited, was interested in 51%
of the entire issued share capital of Northeast. The directors believed
that the acquisition allows the Group to fully integrate the operation
and management of the Northeast group within the Group and also
provides the Group with promising business potential while further
enjoys the costs benefits, operating efficiency and other synergistic
effect and strengthens the energy business of the Group. The
directors further considered that the acquisition enables the Group to
tap further into the benefits of Northeast by capturing the entire profits
of Northeast.

AZEENFTAZTNR AR —E

2B KB R FMerry Boom Investment Limited
([Merry Boom]|) &2 Well Lead Group Limited
(IWell Lead)) T3 % - B ARIL A (RED)
ERARAR(RIEAM)ZIHE TR
A 249% LA R B 7 5T A W BE AT SR AE A
S| Bk R TWell Lead 2 # ¥ - EEMEH -
4 (8 B 7 168,000,000t A R I =
At

(1) 7B %44,652,376.587T # B Well Lead °
Merry Boom &2 R4t Al 2 ) & (T
IR ERIR

(2) 7B %39,347,632.427T # H Merry Boom
ZHEARISEE  UWRSHUNESAR
7] Bg B K ¥% 1787,829,516 % 2 % A% A%
1 FWell Lead * AT KRB R D 4788
0448 T BEITEBEETHNBARY A
BELZMN gmECHEE R

@) Merry Boomz BEMBERET A T2
& 84,000,0007T 1% LA IR €& sk LA JE TS
AR &) Bit 3£187,500,000 % 2 1 A% B 1D
FWell Lead * A B R E R H LB K
0448 T EBEITENEREEH M+
FARN AR ABRE IHELHE
ZEBAE)  SkMEZEE -

Well Lead £ & A2 &) i /8 A &) B 3k A )R Y
FTERE BARARIZBEEAL  BELE
MHRA - WESEBEXAR—EBFTER
BERS -

BITRANWER  AXARBEBEZENS
A &) Honour Bright Investments Limited & #
BERIABMEHEBEITRAZ51% EEH
ERBARANE AEBRHSBEERIL
AMEENEFENER YT RAKXEEREH
BRISHWEEEN RE TOE—$=
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On 8 February 2010, Wing Shing Group Limited (the “Vendor”), a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
conditional sale and purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with Mr.
Poon Sau Tin and Mr. Mai Mao Quan (the “Purchasers”) to sell the
entire issued share capital of Win Profit (Asia Pacific) Co., Ltd. (“Win
Profit”) (“Sale Shares”) for a total consideration of HK$30,000,000
which shall be satisfied in the following manner:

(i) as to HK$5,000,000 payable in cash to the Vendor by the
Purchasers in proportion to their respective equity interest in
the Sale Shares to be acquired within ten business days after
the signing of the Agreement;

(i)  as to HK$15,000,000 by the issue of the first promissory note
by Mr. Poon Sau Tin to the Vendor upon completion; and

@iy  as to HK$10,000,000 by the issue of the second promissory
note by Mr. Mai Mao Quan to the Vendor upon completion.

Mr. Poon Sau Tin is the elder brother of Mr. Poon Sum (an executive
director and the Chairman of the Company) and is a substantial
shareholder of the Company. The disposal constituted a discloseable
and connected transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Win Profit, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Zhongshan Wing
Shing Chemical Co. Ltd., is principally engaged in manufacturing and
sale of emulsion paint in the PRC. The directors believed that the
disposal enables the Group to sell out non-performing business,
reduce potential loss of Win Profit group to the Group in coming
years, avoid further fund injection as required to support future
operation of Win Profit group and deploy more resources to other
investment opportunities with better prospect.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions, which
need to be disclosed as connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors has an interest in a business which competes
or may compete with the business of the Group.
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PENSION SCHEME

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Mandatory Provident Fund
scheme (“MPF scheme”) was set up for certain employees in Hong
Kong, in accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance. Under the rules of the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees in Hong Kong are each required to contribute 5% of the
employees’ gross earnings with a ceiling of HK$1,000 per month to
the MPF scheme. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme.

Employees in the Group’s PRC subsidiary are required to participate
in a defined contribution retirement scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The PRC subsidiary contributes 2% to 4% of
the employee payroll to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of
the employees.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable under the above schemes.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this report,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the Independent
Non-Executive Directors to be independent.

BAKEETE

H-ZETEF+_A—HE AEERER
HERBEEFAEGD RETEBREER
ViR AR (REERFE) - RIE
BESENBRA BEEREEIMEESE
FAMBES A EEHEER BB 2K A%
MR &8 A LR A #1,0007T - A&
BHRNBBESEOE - REERAE
AR EH AR -

AEBENTEMBEAREE AL
b T BB P S8 1 B SR R FRCR IR AT 8
EfEA RS f‘?EZ#ﬂVEﬁ* ENEERE
T H2% E4% H R - A AT R B AR KA
I

E,"_ \}v

2 8/
=

iy # B B

B E R WE AT BIARDR B IR IE L
At & ST AR -

ARRRE

REBEARBARAREEMENE N RIE
EEMA RAFHRNNEBRS  ARFHNA

RRBEEARFREMARABETNDRAR
A2 #ETRD25% °

18I E
ARREREEBLFRTESRELD

MAEIBEABLMELNFERRSE
YRRAEBILIFNTESTHRBEIAL °

Annual Report 2009-2010
—zenE-2-258 OO



Report of the Directors
EEHRE

AUDITORS

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 16 July
2010, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited was removed as one of the joint
auditors of the Company. Besides, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was
appointed to act jointly with Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited as the
new joint auditors of the Company. Save as aforesaid, there have
been no other changes of auditors in the past three years.

The financial statements for the year have been audited by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu and Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited. A resolution
for re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and Lau & Au Yeung
C.P.A. Limited as the joint auditors of the Company will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Poon Sum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 August 2010
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Deloitte.
=)

TO THE MEMBERS OF PETROASIAN ENERGY HOLDINGS
LIMITED

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), set out on pages
59 to 214, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2010, and the consolidated income
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to
the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

[ LAU || 2B s s a R A
INORGA(CRI 1 AU & AU YEUNG C.P.A. LIMITED

Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited
21/F., Tai Yau Building

181 Johnston Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Except for the limitation in the scope of our
work as explained below, we conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement. However, because of the matters described in the
basis for disclaimer of opinion paragraphs, we were not able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2010 are other intangible assets with a combined carrying
value of HK$2,043,397,000 (2009: HK$2,044,541,000) in relation to
two exploitation rights for oil exploitation in the People’s Republic of
China. As detailed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company appointed an independent valuer to
perform a valuation for each of the oil exploitation rights to estimate
their recoverable amounts for impairment assessment purposes as at
31 March 2010 and 2009. The valuer estimated the combined value
of the exploitation rights as at 31 March 2010 and 2009 to be
RMB2,264,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,575,010,000) and
RMB1,874,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,124,643,000) respectively,
using discounted cash flow analysis. The valuer’s reports were based
on information about the proven reserves extracted from technical
reports and assumptions as to the Group’s ability to exploit the crude
oil. These oil exploitation rights were originally recognised on
acquisition at fair values of RMB1,591,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,763,975,000) and RMB341,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$389,924,000), using equivalent valuation methodology, resulting
in the recognition of excess of fair value of net assets acquired over
the cost of acquisition of a subsidiary/gains from a bargain purchase
of HK$849,627,000 and HK$259,924,000 during the years ended 31
March 2008 and 2009 respectively.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
(CONTINUED)

We were unable to assess the reliability of the valuations for financial
reporting purposes as we were not provided with sufficient
information to verify certain assumptions with respect to the
underlying technical information or the feasibility of the business plan
and oil extraction method which underpin the valuation calculations.
Accordingly we were unable to assess whether (i) the fair values of the
oil exploitation rights at the dates of acquisition were reliably
measured in accordance with the relevant requirements of Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standard 3 “Business Combinations”
issued by the HKICPA and therefore whether the carrying values of
the oil exploitation rights and the retained profits as at 31 March 2010
and 2009, and non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2009 were
free from material misstatement; (ii) any impairment loss should be
recognised in respect of these intangible assets during the years
ended 31 March 2010 or 2009 in accordance with Hong Kong
Accounting Standard 36 “Impairment of Assets” issued by the
HKICPA; (iii) the related amortisation recognised in respect of these
intangible assets for the years ended 31 March 2010 and 2009 was
free from material misstatement; and (iv) recognition of other reserve
(the “Other Reserve”) amounting to HK$552,132,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2010, as further described in note 38(a) to the
consolidated financial statements, resulting from acquisition of
additional interest in a subsidiary which in turn held one of the
exploitation rights was free from material misstatement.

In addition, the Group has not recognised any deferred tax liabilities
as at the dates of acquisition of the oil exploitation rights arising from
the business combinations in accordance with Hong Kong
Accounting Standard 12 “Income Taxes” issued by the HKICPA. It is
not practicable for us to quantify the effects of the departure from this
requirement in respect of (i) the carrying values of the deferred tax
liabilities as at 31 March 2010 and 2009; (ii) the corresponding
deferred tax credit recognised during the years then ended; and (iii)
the Other Reserve as at 31 March 2010.

Any adjustments found to be necessary in respect of the above
matters would affect the Group’s net assets as at 31 March 2010 and
2009 and 1 April 2008, and the Group’s loss/profit for the years
ended 31 March 2010 and 2009.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
I BT iR

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Because of the significance of the matters described in the basis for
disclaimer of opinion paragraphs, we do not express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements as to whether they give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2010
and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. In all
other respects, in our opinion the consolidation financial statements
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

17 August 2010

Lau & Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

17 August 2010
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Consolidated Income Statement

& W R

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-F-TFZA=+-ALFE

2010 2009
—T-FF —ZEENE
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 BETT BT T
Revenue & 7 307,982 399,409
Cost of sales 8 5 P A (290,733) (378,570)
Gross profit E F 17,249 20,839
Other income H Ao g A 8 5,129 7,233
Other gains and losses H bW s K SR 9 (153,110) 190,034
Selling and distribution costs SHE Ko 8 A (12,770) (18,498)
Administrative expenses TE A (80,793) (67,355)
Share-based payments LARR 2 214 538 35 (31,459) (13,362)
Amortisation of other intangible 5 E AR
assets BE 21 (1,344) (102,009)
Share of result of an associate JE(G—EBE & QR ELE (1,075) —
Finance costs Bl & B AN 10 (2,625) (5,429)
(Loss) profit before income tax FR AT T AT (B 1R) & 7 (260,798) 11,453
Income tax expense BT 1S % 2 11 (1,739) (717)
(Loss) profit for the year RNEZ (BB HN 12 (262,537) 10,736
(Loss) profit for the year attributable AN A £ fEL AREE
to: (E18) & H -
Owners of the Company VINNETE DN (262,348) 55,143
Non-controlling interests FE 12 ) 1 4 2 (189) (44,407)
(262,537) 10,736
(Loss) earnings per share iz (& 18) & F 16
Basic K HK(9.65) cents & flll HK3.01 cents & 1l
Diluted e HK(9.65) cents# fll HK2.98 cents & Il
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

HEEEMBE

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-F-TFZA=+-ALFE

2010 2009
—E-FF —TETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
EETRT BT T
(Loss) profit for the year RNEEZ (EE) = A (262,537) 10,736
Other comprehensive (expense) income  E 2 & (B2 ) Yg A (4,335) 3,197
Total comprehensive (expense) income  AFE 2 mE (FIsZ)
for the year WA #B58 (266,872) 13,933
Total comprehensive (expense) income A FA T EE2E (F )
attributable to: LONEEE
Owners of the Company KRARHEE A (267,176) 56,641
Non-controlling interests FE 12 Il 14 fE 2 304 (42,708)
(266,872) 13,933
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HEMBRRR

As at 31 March 2010
RZZE—ZTF=A=+—H

2010 2009
—E—-FF —EENF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B o BT BT T
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment WME  BRELZE 17 99,901 216,351
Prepaid lease payments FENAERE 18 2,748 34,551
Investment properties wEME 19 38,415 14
Goodwill mE 20 - —
Other intangible assets EEREE 21 2,043,397 2,044,741
Interest in an associate N T RE S 22 71,846 =
Deposits paid for a jointly controlled B — 18 £t [/ 42
operation XBEWE2 23 53,515 —
Deposits paid for long-term assets ENRBEENTS 24 4,966 10,000
Other receivables H i & W SR IE 26 - 9,409
2,314,788 2,315,066
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 25 21,033 32,625
Prepaid lease payments AN EKIE 18 652 1,123
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E A fE YR IE 26 117,147 112,950
Held-for-trading investments BIEEBKRE 27 33,334 17,720
Derivative financial assets MESREE 28 1,318 30,385
Tax recoverable A 3R [6] 7 18 8,038 6,257
Bank balances and cash RITEBR AR S 29 393,225 30,585
574,747 231,645
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 & H At e kI8 30 90,767 88,758
Derivative financial liabilities METBEE 28 70,416 94,295
Tax liabilities HIAAE 2,379 863
Bank borrowings RITEE 31 24,615 16,567
188,177 200,483
Net current assets MENEEFE 386,570 31,162
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRHER 2,701,358 2,346,228
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HEMBRRR

As at 31 March 2010
RZZE—ZTF=A=+—H

2010 2009
—E—-FF —EENF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5E BETT ST T
Capital and reserves B ARGk
Share capital fi% < 34 36,261 19,857
Reserves o6 1 2,591,736 1,449,924
Equity attributable to owners of the ARXF]HEF A
Company FE1E B9 HE == 2,627,997 1,469,781
Non-controlling interests FEIEHEER 4,137 820,454
Total equity EimiEE 2,632,134 2,290,235
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Bank borrowings RITEE 31 68,754 55,523
Convertible bonds AR ES 32 - —
Deferred tax liabilities ELERHIEAE 33 470 470
69,224 55,993
2,701,358 2,346,228

The consolidated financial statements on pages 59 to 214 were F598 &£ F214E S 2 i A M MED &
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on EZ=e R - —ZEN\A++tBHELF

17 August 2010 and are signed on its behalf by: B YR THEEREREE:
Poon Sum Poon Wai Kong
EH &R
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EE EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GERDEBIPRR

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AATHAANES
Share Non-
Share Share Merger Statutory Other  option Warrant Exchange Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  profits Total interests Total
FRHE DS E3d

BEx RBEE GHEE TERE LORE ] e ELfE RIHEH B8 i k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKE000 HK$000 HKE000 — HK$000 HK$'000
BETT BBTr AT A%Tr B%Tr AT B%Tr AT B%Tr B%Tr BETr A%Tr

(notea)  (noteb)  (notec) (noted)  (notee) (note f) (note g)

(M3a) (Mab) (Mae) (MaEd) (Mae) (Han  (Hig)

At 1 April 2008 R=ZZE/\FEA—-A 12,952 449,870 3,248 - - 42,478 1,869 16,100 690,043 1,216,560 863,185 2,079,745
Profit for the year FRgA - - - = = = - - 55143 55143 (44,407) 10,736
Exchange differences arising 2B SN EBEEZ

on translation of foreign ERERE

operations - — - - - - - 2,769 - 2,769 1,453 4,222
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR - - - - - - - (1,271) - (1,271) 246 (1,025)
Other comprehensive income  E 62 &4 A - - - - - - - 1,498 - 1,498 1,699 3197
Total comprehensive expense & N2 M ¥ 258

for the year - - - - - - - 1498 55143 56641 (42708 13,933
Incorporation of anon-wholly & #f —f k2 B &

owned subsidiary NS - - - - - - - = - - 842 842
Increase in non-controlling & B4 B —

interests through 2 EHBAR

acquisitions of a by B S

non-wholly owned (B & h K fff 7£38)

subsidiary (note h and

note 39) = = = = (120) = = = = (120) 115 5
Recognition of equity-settled A IELE 2

share-based payments BAZATE - - - = - 13,362 = = - 13,362 - 13,362
Exercise of share options I RBRE 430 4,787 = = - (1,357) - - - 3,860 - 3,860
Lapse of share options BRELH - - - - - (18812 - - 13312 - - -
Issue of shares from open HARAREEMRT

offer B’ 6,475 180,027 = = = = = = — 186,502 — 186,502
Transaction costs attributable %17 A& {3 FE & 2

to issue of shares RHKA - (7,024) - - - - - - - (7,024) - (7,024)
Surrender of warrants REZREE - - - - - - (101) - 101 - — —
Transfer of statutory reserve ~ E#OE ERERE - - - 236 - - = = (236) = = =
Dividend paid to non- B A RiE 2L

controlling interests i - - - - - - - - - - (980) (980)

6,906 177,790 - 236 (120) (1,307) (101) - 13,177 196,580 (23) 196,557
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEEREBHHRR

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AATHAANES
Share Non-
Share Share  Merger Statutory Other  option Warrant Exchange Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  reserve  profits Total interests Total
fEIRE DRER E 34114
BE RMVEE SO6E ETHE ZhRE it fE EXRHE KRB HE 353 fot )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT ABTr B%Tr B¥Tr AT B%Tr AT B%Tr BT BT B%Tr
(notea)  (noteb) (notec)  (noted)  (notee) (note f) (note )
(FisFa) (kD) (Make) (Miskd) (Hiske) (Hi&D  (Mi&Eg)
At 31 March 2009 RZBERNF
=A=+-H 19,857 627,660 3,248 236 (120) 4171 1,768 17598 758,363 1,469,781 820,454 2,290,235
Loss for the year ERER = = = = = = = — (262348 (262,348) (189) (262,537)
Exchange differences arising ~ ## BN EHEEZ
on translation of foreign EXZERE
operations - - - - - - - 2,092 - 2,092 493 2,585
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - - - - - - - (6,920) - (6920 - (6920
Other comprehensive expense £ it 2 1 f % - - - - - - - (4,828) - (4,828) 493 (4,335
Total comprehensive expense SN2 EF X 5
for the year - - - - - - — (4828 (262,348) (267,176) 304 (266,872)
Recognition of equity-settled ~ BRARELEE 2
share-based payments BGEGE S - - - = — 31459 = = — 31459 — 31459
Exercise of share options IfRERE 4,466 137,706 - - - (33418 - - — 108,754 — 108,754
Exercise of warrants IR REE 146 7,387 - - - - (112) - - 7421 = 7,421
Lapse of share options i PR K - - - - — (29,809 - — 29,803 - - -
Placement of new shares BENRH 6,650 403,075 - - - - - - — 409,725 — 409,725
Transaction costs attributable  #47Hk {3 {5 2 %X 5
to issue of shares KA - (9,805) - - - - - - - (9,805) - (9,805)
Placement of new warrants &g & 7 2 R i & - - - - - - 770 - - 770 - 770
Transactions costs attrioutable %17 7 & # & fE {5 2
toissue of warrants RHMA - - - - - - (19) - - (19) - (19
Issue of new shares for R BB E AR
acquisition of an associate BIIHR 2,389 52,556 - - - - - - — 54945 — 54945
Issue of new shares for HUE-ARERAEZ
acquisition of additional BIMERBITHR
interest in a subsidiary 2,753 267,257 - — 552132 - - - — 822,142 (813,681) 8,461
Dividend paid to non- BR84SR R 4
controlling interest 33 - - - - - - - - - - (2,940  (2,940)
16,404 858,176 - — 552132 (31,762 639 - 29,803 1,425,392 (816,621) 608,771
At 31 March 2010 RZZ-ZF
=A=t+-B 36,261 1,485,836 3,248 236 552,012 9,409 2,407 12,770 525,818 2,627,997 4137 2,632,134
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GERDEBIPRR

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BE

Notes:

—ZEFE=ZA=F+—RALFE

The application of the share premium account is governed by the Company’s
articles of association and the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, which
provides that the share premium account may be applied in making distributions
or paying dividends to members, provided that immediately following the date on
which distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The share
premium may also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

The Group’s merger reserve represents the difference between the aggregate of
the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
the Group re-organisation completed on 26 October 2002 over the nominal value
of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange there for.

Pursuant to the relevant rules and regulations governing foreign investment
enterprise established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the
articles of association of certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group, the subsidiaries
are required to transfer an amount of their profit after taxation to the statutory
reserve fund, until the accumulated total of the fund reaches 50% of their
registered capital. The statutory reserve fund may be distributed to equity
owners in the form of bonus issue.

Other reserve represents the difference between the amounts paid or received
for any transaction related to the change of shareholding in a subsidiary without
the overall gain or loss of control in that subsidiary and the non-controlling
interest being acquired or disposed of.

The share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options granted to employees of the Company
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in note 3.

The warrant reserve represents the net proceeds received and receivable on
issue of warrants to subscribe for the Company’s shares. The warrant reserve
will be transferred to share premium when the warrant is exercised or released to
the retained profits when the warrant remains unexercised at the expiry date.

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 3.

The Group in year 2009 had early adopted HKFRS 3 (revised) and HKAS 27
(revised) for non-controlling interests (see note 37) for business combination.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

2010 2009
—E-FF —TTAEF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BETR BT T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES HEED
(Loss) profit before income tax BRERS B AT (E518) i A1 (260,798) 11,453
Adjustments for: PR
Finance costs & A 2,625 5,429
Interest income A EWA (456) (2,472)
Share of result of an associate FE(—EEE & AR FEE 1,075 —
Depreciation e 14,993 16,457
Amortisation of other intangible BHEMEREE
assets 1,344 102,009
Release of prepaid lease payments CAEIEEA RN = /01 652 1123
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BEREE
written off i S8 45,786 =
Impairment loss recognised on trade 5t & 5 & E b & Uk 7k I8
and other receivables, net T R B B 1R F 58 22,094 11,046
Impairment loss recognised on MIREMERRRE
investment properties 518 14,393 —
Impairment loss recognised on REEEERR
intangible assets BB EE - 9,340
Impairment loss recognised on MEERRBERE
goodwill - 929
Allowance for write-down of BEEEEMEN
properties held for trading i B - 411
Allowance for write-down of 5 & O H0R B 15
inventories 185 188
Gain on bargain purchase arising MEBEHIEZEBEA
from a business combination ol g 37a - (259,924)
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME  BEX
and equipment Bz EE 143 447
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR ZEE 39 24,695 2,101
Loss on redemption on convertible BRI RES
bonds 18 - 1,663
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale & A[ft =R &
investments ZEE - 444
Loss on disposal of an associate HER S AR 2 EE 4,467 —
Recognition of equity-settled R ARERE 2 ’H
share-based payments SRR 31,459 13,362
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

A -
GEHERER
For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-F-TFZA=+-ALFE

2010 2009
—E-FF —ETAF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B & BETRT AR T
Operating cash flows before movements &8 & & & &) fij 2 &
in working capital EHSRE (97,343) (85,994)
(Increase) decrease in inventories FEBRBEEEEREZ
(except for properties held for trading) W) Z 5N (32 hn) ek (4,512) 11,570
Decrease in properties held for trading BEIEEEMHER L 8,800 —
(Increase) decrease in trade and other B 5 I H fth fE U 5018
receivables (38 0) R 2 (11,125) 41,451
(Increase) decrease in held-for-trading BIEEEB 2 & & (GEM)
investments Vs (15,614) 19,932
Increase (decrease) in derivative financial T4 @ T A AE
liabilities, net BINOR D) F58 5,188 (87,507)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 & HAth e~ 3R I8
20 38,459 37,837
Cash used in operations ARREEK2RE (76,147) (12,711)
Hong Kong Profits tax paid BENEBEEFGH (1,817) (3,551)
PRC Enterprise Income tax paid BB ERSH (262) (388)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING AREEEH2Z
ACTIVITIES H&%E (78,226) (16,650)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

2010 2009
—F—-FF —ZETHhF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B & BETRT ok e
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREETH
Acquisition of subsidiaries Ik BB FT B AR (FOBRE
(net of cash and cash equivalent WErRe RIRE
acquired) £EI1EH) 37c - (124,959)
Net cash inflow (outflow) on disposal of H & B AT 2R &
subsidiaries mACGR M) 558 39 1,606 (1,726)
Acquisition of additional interest in W EE B B AR 2 38(b), (0)
subsidiaries RE N 22 - )
Acquisition of an associate U B — B & A A (12,226) -
Purchase of intangible assets, property, & AR &EE -« H%
plant and equipment and prepaid & B K 5% s I TR A
land lease payments T EFRIE (25,132) (64,769)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant ~ HEWE - HE &
and equipment A2 FTS SRIE — 571
Deposits paid for acquisition of long- ~ WERHEE ZEff
term assets Hia 24 (4,966) (10,000)
Increase in deposits paid for a jointly BT RS S 2
controlled operation 51 380 (53,515) —
Interest received 2 E 456 2,472
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING AnEEsHz
ACTIVITIES REFH (93,777) (198,416)

68 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
PERRRIERARAS



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

2010 2009
—F—-FF —TTNEF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B & EBETRT PEEE T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Proceeds from issue of new shares from /A A 3% & 35 17 #7 I
open offer B 1% 5018 - 186,502
Proceeds from placement of new shares B2 & #7 i% P15 3K T8 409,725 —
Payment for shares issue costs ST AR D B TR A (9,805) (7,024)
Proceeds from issue of warrants BTRRERME
RIE 7,421 -
Proceeds from placing of warrants fic & 7R A 4 75 P15
RIE 770 -
Payment for warrants issue costs SRR F BT
BN (19) —
Proceeds from exercise of share options 17 {3 &% % 4 Fr 15 7k 8 108,754 3,860
New bank loans raised ERITER 63,955 59,224
Repayments of bank loans ERRITER (42,676) (40,821)
Interest paid B F A (2,625) (1,827)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests & 1<+ — &1 B B8 A &) 3F
of a subsidiary MR 2 RS (2,940) (980)
Redemption of convertible bonds HE [B] A] 2 IR 1B 75 - (43,083)
Proceeds from non-controlling interests Bt & #F — I IE 2 B K B
for incorporation of a non-wholly owned 7 &) #i£ FE 422 il 4 % 25
subsidiary F 1% 5018 - 842
NET CASH FROM FINANCING KEMEETETHZ
ACTIVITIES ReFHE 532,560 156,693
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN HeRRLFEHIEH
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BGRB8 360,557 (58,373)
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE SIEEEERREH 2HE
RATE CHANGES 2,083 1,624
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RPEA—HZHRER
AT 1 APRIL Re%¥EEH 30,585 87,334
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R=ERA=+—HZ
AT 31 MARCH ReERBELEFEHEH 393,225 30,585
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& M| R M

For the year ended 31 March 2010

HEZ
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the introduction to the annual report.

In prior years, the Company’s functional currency was Hong
Kong dollars (‘HK$”). Due to the continuing expansion of the
Group’s business operations in the PRC and the foreseeable
reduction in business operations in Hong Kong, the
management reassessed the functional currency of the
Company and changed the functional currency from HK$ to
Renminbi (“RMB”) during the year.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$ as
the directors consider that HK$ is the appropriate presentation
currency as the management of the Company control and
monitor the performance and financial position of the Group by
using HK$.

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities engaged by the principal subsidiaries and
associate are set out in note 45 and note 22 respectively.

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
PERRRIERARAS

ATEH

ARTARBEREEMR I AR
BRAT - KRBES B AR5
BRAF LS - AARZEMBEEE
REBLEME Y 01 ERERS S
e

RBEFE RARANINEEERE
BIAEBD ERAEEMRFEN
EBRETHER RABARLLR
BENEBRLEHERD  EHED
RENBHFTERRBNINEEEL
ROEEREREBESARBIAR
LD

HRARBNEEERAEEEER
ERAKENRTRSBERR -
EZRARBETEENZNEE W
REMBHRERITAMUEEZ5 -

KRR ABRELER AR - TBHE R
RN AR E Y EBEKFIE
7 A& F P T 545K B 5E22 o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010

BE

—E-FF=A=t-HLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and revised standards, amendments and interpretations (“new
and revised HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007)

HKAS 23 (Revised 2007)

HKAS 32 &1
(Amendments)

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27
(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

HKFRS 8

HK(FRIC) —
HKAS 39
(Amendments)

Int 9 &

HK(FRIC) — Int 13

Presentation of Financial Statements

Borrowing Costs

Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liquidation

Cost of an Investment in a
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate

Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations

Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments

Operating Segments

Embedded Derivatives

Customer Loyalty Programmes

2.

FER ] REETEEMN
BREER
RAFERN  NEBERBES ST
ANE((BESHMAE])EMHZ T
Tl R EEF 2 R« BRI AR BZE
([T RS R BB I RS 2R ) -
BB SFERERE FHEHRERZ 25
(CEZTLHEK
1&3])
EXE ST ERFE23 BEKAKN
B(ZETLF
KAEET)
EXE S ERFE32 IDHESRTEA
LAY FEREES
ZEE
ERBPERELER RHEBERAA -
FIHELRESS H%ﬂi%&
SHERIZE275R RN o s
CHEY) & kAN
BEUBREED HBEGEEHREHE
EPLACCHEY)
EBVERELER RMITAEZEZ
EYeACHEN) ok 3
BEEMBEREER KEHEB
%855
EBEERGTBER MAXNGTETR
LREZED)
— REFEER
BB ERE
395k (& 7T %)
EX(BERUBKHR BB
LREZES
— B EE185
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. FERMIIREBITEEM
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING & EL(E)
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

HK(FRIC) — Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of B5(BERGHBER FBHEEERZR
Real Estate EREZE®)
— BEF155%
HK(FRIC) — Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a BEABEBEMGEHR BINEBREF
Foreign Operation ERELZEY) #H ¥
— ZREE165R
HK(FRIC) — Int 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers HEEEERMGHR BXRPEEEE
ERELZEY)
— REZE18R
HKFRSs (Amendments)  Improvements to HKFRSs issued in BAEUBEWMEERN —ZTTN\FHM
2008, except for the amendment CCHEN) B S B 7% R
to HKFRS 5 that was early =R sl
adopted for annual periods #oHERZE
beginning 1 April 2008 ZNFHA—
Hak 2 & A
FEHHEER
AR 2 BB
B 75 i 25 2= 8|
55 ZIEE]
A BR SN
HKFRSs (Amendments)  Improvements to HKFRSs issued in ERMBHREER R_ZEENFR
2009 in relation to the amendment (EFTA) ﬁ!ﬁﬁ B
to paragraph 80 of HKAS 39 RS 2RI 2 ok
’E BHEET
BB GFTER
55395% 55808
Except as described below, the adoption of the new and BRI SCRTai & o - BRI ET R B ET
revised HKFRSs had no material effect on the consolidated BAEMBRELENEREBRAGE
financial statements of the Group for the current or prior BB Tet A REe B HRE
accounting periods. WEBKERTE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs affecting presentation
and disclosure only

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) has introduced terminology changes
(including revised titles for the consolidated financial statements)
and changes in the format and content of the consolidated
financial statements.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HKFRS 8 requires the presentation of operating segments in a
manner consistent with the internal reports that are regularly
reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision maker (see
note 7 for details). HKFRS 8 replaces HKAS 14 Segment
Reporting which required an entity to identify two sets of
segments (business and geographical). The adoption of HKFRS
8 has not resulted in a redesignation of the Group’s operating
segments.

Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
(Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 expand the disclosures required
in relation to fair value measurements in respect of financial
instruments which are measured at fair value. The Group has
not provided comparative information for the expanded
disclosures in accordance with the transitional provision set out
in the amendments.

I~

F&

Rl REIETEEM
BREE

Al (&)

Ini=}

EREE2RRBEBZMTREE
A EEMGREEA

BB BRI EIR (—FFLFLE
FBHRE 2 Z25

EAGHERER(CTTLFEE
SBIAMES B (BIERETZEA
HHBREEBRGATBRE 2
RENEED -

BB BHE ERESHEE T

BB HRELERESRRELE D
BEIAAAEAEEETELER
RATHERZABRSE —H(FB
S EE7) - & B B 7% oS 2 B £85%
BB EERADHFMAD B (XK
K i) 2 & B & ERF14RIDF
2W] - KRB BB M EERIF8HR
T EEHENREARE ZELENE -

TR TARES HE
(BB HEERE @ TA:
KEZEE )

BRAUBRELRETR ZETAE
REBARFEAEZERTAER
FEFEZEERE ARETER
B FAERT AN P 8L 2 B R R X5k IR
ABBERERELBER -
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. EAHIIREETEEMT
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 15 5 4 % Bl (48)
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

EREE2RRBEBZMTREE
A EEMEREENGER)

New and revised HKFRSs affecting presentation
and disclosure only (continued)

EH TAREZNE
(BB HEERET M TA:
KB EFTR)(E)

Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
(Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures)
(continued)

AREBEWEEFRAT I BMER
REMZHIREETETET B RE

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards, amendments or interpretations that have been

issued but are not yet effective. AR BRI AR R o
HKFRSs (Amendments)  Improvements to HKFRSs 20092 BEAMBmERER H_ETNER
CHEY), S B S RS
8 Z B2
HKFRSs (Amendments)  Improvements to HKFRSs 20103 BEEMBMEER T —TFH
(1BET ) V5 B 75 R
8z B s
HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures* BB SERF24 BHEALHE
5 (B4 ET)
HKAS 32 (Amendment)  Classification of Rights Issues® BB S ERZEI2 RS HES

UACCHIEN)

ERGEREI9 AEREIHIER
UACCHIFN)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)  Eligible Hedged Items!

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)  Additional Exemptions for First-time BAEMBHmEER HREMNEZE

Adopters® EXLACCHPY) HNER GO
HKFRS 1 (Amendment)  Limited Exemptions from BAMBmEER BETBIRESE
Comparative HKFRS 7 FE15% (B ETA]) A7 E
Disclosures for First-time IRER R BR
Adopters’ EEmERZE
MR JZ %A 7
HKFRS 2 (Amendment)  Group Cash-settled Share-based EBMEREED EENRGEE
Payment Transactions® FE2% (1B FTAN) A% 17 2~ /I8
R 5°
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_Z-—ZTF=A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs affecting presentation
and disclosure only (continued)

Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
(Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures)

(continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments®
HK(FRIC) — Int 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
(Amendment) Requirement*
HK(FRIC) — Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to
Owners'
HK(FRIC) — Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities

with Equity Instruments’

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

2 Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010, as appropriate

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 and
1 January 2011, as appropriate

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010
’ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

EREE2RRBEBMTREE
A EEMEREENER)

B TARKEE
(BEUBEHREERERHM TR -
HEZEFTR)E)

BAEMBmERER ST As
Eetelid

BE(BRTEHR SEEEHEZ
TREZEg B R
— BRREE145
CCHENS

BB (BB BER MESAKEIE
EREZES ReEBE
— RESITHR

& (BBRMEHR UESsTAEEH
TREBZE®) MBRaE
— BEE195

! R_FFNFELA-HHAERRBZF
JZ 5 8 A 2

3 RIEZNFLA-BR-ZE-—ZF—
B—R@EREMmE)RERRRZF
EHRERZETAR

e R_F—FFLH—BHR-F——F—
R—HREREMmE) K ERFR®RZF
JZ 5l AR 2

¢ R-ZB——F A HEERABZF
JE AR A B

° RZE—TF_A—BHHERAKRZF
ER e

° NZE-—ZEF A AR ERRAKRZE
JZ 5l AR 2

7 RIE-—ZFLA-BRHEBRHRKRZF
JE AR A B

¢ R-B—=F—-—A - HREEHRKRZF
JE BARE A A
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs affecting presentation
and disclosure only (continued)

Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
(Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures)
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets and
will be effective from 1 January 2013, with earlier application
permitted. The Standard requires all recognised financial assets
that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement to be measured at either
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that
(i) are held within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows and (ii) have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost.
All other debt investments and equity investments are measured
at fair value. The application of HKFRS 9 might affect the
classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets.

In addition, as part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009,
HKAS 17 Leases has been amended in relation to the classification
of leasehold land. The amendments will be effective from 1
January 2010, with early application permitted. Before the
amendments to HKAS 17, lessees were required to classify
leasehold land as operating leases and presented as prepaid lease
payments in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
amendments have removed such a requirement. Instead, the
amendments require the classification of leasehold land to be
based on the general principles set out in HKAS 17, that are based
on the extent to which risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
a leased asset lie with the lessor or the lessee. The application of
the amendments to HKAS 17 might affect the classification and
measurement of the Group’s leasehold land.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
the other new and revised standards, amendments or
interpretations will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEETHE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments,
which are measured at fair values, as explained in the significant
accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including special
purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries).
Control is achieved where the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition
and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately
from the Group’s equity therein.

HRAEMBHRRTIBEELRAEE
mE - ERETERITANRAFER
BRI FATXHIZERNEFTR
%O

REMBHRRDIREEESHAMAE
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-
controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. Prior to 1 April 2008, losses
applicable to the non-controlling interests in excess of the non-
controlling interests in the subsidiary’s equity were allocated
against the interests of the Group except to the extent that the
non-controlling interests had a binding obligation and were able
to make an additional investment to cover the losses.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership, interests in existing
subsidiaries prior to 1 April 2008

Increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were treated in the
same manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or
a bargain purchase gain being recognised where appropriate.
For decreases in interests in subsidiaries regardless of whether
the disposals would result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries, the difference between the consideration received
and the carrying amount of the share of net assets disposed of
was recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEETHEE)

(CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership, interests in existing
subsidiaries after 1 April 2008 (continued)

Changes in the Groups ownership interest in a subsidiary that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Groups interests and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the
fair value of any retained interest determined at the date when
control is lost and (i) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests. Where certain assets of the subsidiary
are measured at revalued amounts or fair values and the related
cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Company had
directly disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings at the date
when control is lost). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKAS 39 or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a jointly
controlled entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations

Business combinations prior to 1 April 2008

Acquisition of businesses was accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition was measured at
the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of
assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business
combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities that met the relevant conditions for
recognition were generally recognised at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Groups interest in the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised. If, after assessment the Groups interest in the net
fair value of the acquirees identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities exceeded the cost of the business
combination, the excess was recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

The non-controlling interest in the acquiree was initially
measured at the non-controlling interests proportionate share
of the fair value of the acquirees identifiable net assets.

Contingent consideration was recognised, if and only if, the
contingent consideration was probable and could be measured
reliably. Subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration
were recognised against goodwill.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for
as separate steps. Goodwill was determined at each step. Any
additional acquisition did not affect the previously recognised
goodwill.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFTERE)
(CONTINUED)
Business combinations (continued) EBEO(E)

Business combinations after 1 April 2008

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as
the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the acquirees identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for
recognition under HKFRS 3 (2008) are recognised at their fair
values, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income
Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement
by the Group of an acquiree’s share-based payments
awards are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that Standard.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Business combinations after 1 April 2008 (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirers
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the
Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests are initially measured at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the fair value of the
acquirees identifiable net assets.

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
considered as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the
corresponding adjustments being made against goodwill or
gain on bargain purchase. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the measurement period about facts and circumstances
that existed as of the acquisition date. The measurement period
does not exceed one year from the acquisition date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

(CONTINUED)
Business combinations (continued)

Business combinations after 1 April 2008 (continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or
a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in
accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control) and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss.

Any changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
that were recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity before the acquisition date are
reclassified to profit or loss when the Group obtains control
over the acquiree.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at

cost less any accumulated impairment losses and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill (continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a
joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEETHEE)
(CONTINUED)
Investments in associates (continued) NEZEATZRE(E)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of
the associates, less any identified impairment loss. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. An additional share of losses is provided for and
a liability is recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,

e NRZEE BERBETINE
BEEAAMREEAMBRERSD -
REEDZEE RBEERARZIKE
RSP BRRRANLWBRAE
BEGHEARNEEFEIESME
38 B 2 BN - R A AT BB B R
BERIIK - WAKEEE—FBEL
AZBBRENABBERNZEE AR
ZEDZ(BHRER LBRAEERZ
fENEREFRE S P ZEMNRY
) AEBERRLEREMAEZ
E—FEE - mBEE-FEE AR
SEAKRBARZRREEE AN
ZHERR N FIBEZBERT - BLAA
HEIMNBEBREFLBEBRERAR -

AEEFAGABANEE BBEEXR

BEZQAFFERDWEBRARZEM
M EEHAGERNERIE SR

MA—SEERENTEZBE QR
2
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Joint ventures SEL%E

Jointly controlled operations HEEGEF

When a group entity undertakes its activities under joint venture
arrangements directly, constituted as jointly controlled
operations, the assets and liabilities arising from those jointly
controlled operations are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position on an accrual basis and
classified according to the nature of the item. The Group’s
share of the income from jointly controlled operations, together
with the expenses that it incurs are included in the consolidated
income statement when it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the transactions will flow to/from the
Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of crude oil and goods is recognised when
the goods are delivered and title has passed.

When the outcome of a service contract can be estimated
reliably, revenue from a fixed price service contract is
recognised on the percentage of completion method, measured
by reference to the value of work carried out during the period.
When the outcome of a service contract cannot be estimated
reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that is probable will be recoverable. Contract
costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they
are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment (other than oil properties)

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress)
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress over their estimated useful lives and after taking into

3.
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account of their estimated residual value, using the straight-line ILEHB ZKAAT

method as follows:

Buildings 2-4.75% BF 2-4.75%
Plant and machinery 9-20% R 5 Ko 1 2§ 9-20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 18-20% RE - KB REMHE 18-20%
Motor vehicles 9-30% HE 9-30%

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or for its
own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost
less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress
is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed as evidenced
by end of owner-occupation, the carrying amount of that item
at the date of transfer is transferred to investment properties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Oil properties

QOil properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depletion, depreciation and amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Depletion and depreciation are provided to write off the cost of
items of productive oil properties over the shorter of the
unexpired term of the joint venture and their useful lives, using
an unit-of-production method.

Oil properties under construction

The cost of oil wells under construction is initially capitalised as
oil properties under construction when the well was found to
have a sufficient quantity of reserves to justify its completion as
a production well and where the Group is making sufficient
progress assessing the reserves and the economic and
operating viability of the project. Exploratory well costs not
meeting these criteria are charged to expense. All other
exploration costs, including geological and geophysical costs,
are charged to the profit or loss in the period as incurred.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Prepaid lease payments

Prepaid lease payments representing prepaid land costs are
stated at cost less subsequent accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Prepaid lease payment is
released to the consolidated income statement over the term of
relevant land leases.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is charged
so as to write off the cost of investment properties over their
estimated useful lives of 20 to 50 years and after taking into
account of their estimated residual value, using the straight-line
method.
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Intangible assets \REE
Intangible assets acquired separately BUWEZEREE

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. Alternatively, intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment losses on tangible
and intangible assets below).

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (continued)
Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development (or from the development phase of an internal
project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have
been demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

° the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

° how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

° the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset; and

° the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable
to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for an internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the
date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition
criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (continued)
Research and development expenditure (continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, an internally-generated
intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the
same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.
Amortisation for such intangible assets is provided on a
straight-line basis over a period of not more than 5 years to
reflect the pattern in which the related economic benefits are
recognised.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets which represent exploitation rights acquired in
a business combination and recognised separately from
goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, exploitation rights are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Exploitation rights are amortised on an unit-of-production basis
over the estimated useful lives of 20 years (prior to the
accounting period beginning on 1 April 2009, straight line basis
was used). The useful lives of the exploitation rights are
reviewed annually in accordance with the production plans of
the Group and the proven and probable reserves of the crude
oil (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment losses
on tangible and intangible assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. In addition,
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that they may be
impaired. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (continued)
The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits
received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an
operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building
are considered separately for the purpose of lease
classification, unless the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, in which case,
the entire lease is generally treated as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment. To the extent
the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably,
leasehold interests in land are accounted for as operating
leases and amortised over the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences arising on a monetary item that
forms part of the Company’s net investment in a foreign
operation, in which case, such exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity and will be reclassified from equity to profit or loss on
disposal of the foreign operation. Exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange
differences are also recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (the
exchange reserve) and will be reclassified from equity to profit
or loss upon disposal of foreign operation.

Change in functional currency

The functional currency of a group entity is changed only if
there is a change to the underlying transactions, events and
conditions relevant to the entity. The effect of a change in the
functional currency is accounted for prospectively. At the date
of change, the entity translates all items into the new functional
currency using the prevailing exchange rate at that date and the
resulting translated amounts for non-monetary items are treated
as the historical cost. Exchange differences arising from the
translation of foreign operations recognised in translation
reserve are not recognised in profit or loss until the disposal of
the operation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and state-
managed retirement benefit schemes are charged as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
income statement because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associate, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEETHERE)
(CONTINUED)
Taxation (continued) BIE(E)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on the tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end
of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively.

Inventories

Properties held for sale are stated at lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Other inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average
method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into two categories,
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL’) and loans and
receivables. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as
at FVTPL, of which interest income is included in net gains or
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEFEK(E)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued) &I AE)
Financial assets (continued) EHEEE)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets classified as held-for-trading are carried at
FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near future; or

o it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments
that the Group manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables and bank balances and
cash) are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting
policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables (continued)

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are
assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each
reporting period. Loans and receivables are impaired where
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets
have been affected.

Obijective evidence of impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

° default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain loans and receivables, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in
the portfolio past the average credit period, and observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is
objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at
the original effective interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. XEFEK(E)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued) eI AE)
Financial assets (continued) EHEEE)

Loans and receivables (continueq)

The carrying amount is reduced by the impairment loss directly
for all loans and receivables with the exception of trade
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are generally classified
into financial liabilities at FVTPL and other financial liabilities.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EEEBRGE
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued) &I AE)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) THEERER ()
Effective interest method BB F %

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than those financial liabilities classified at FVTPL of which
the interest is included in net gains or losses.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities classified as held-for-sale are carried at
FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held-for-trading if:

o it has been incurred principally for the purpose of selling
in the near future; or

o it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments

that the Group manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. XEFEK(E)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued) eI AE)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) EHEEREZ ()

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL include held-for-trading derivative
financial instruments that are not designated and effective as
hedging instruments. At the end of each reporting period
subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at FVTPL are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising on
remeasurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any interest paid on the financial liabilities.

Convertible bonds containing liability component and
conversion option derivative

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both
liability and conversion option components are classified
separately into respective items on initial recognition. A
conversion option that will be settled other than by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is
a conversion option derivative. At the date of issue, both the
liability and conversion option components are recognised at
fair value.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible
bonds is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The conversion option derivative is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability and conversion option
components in proportion to their relative fair values.
Transaction costs relating to the conversion option derivative
are charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs
relating to the liability component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of
the convertible bonds using the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables and
bank borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Warrants

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by a fixed
amount of cash for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments are equity instruments. Otherwise, they are
classified as derivative financial instruments, and initially
recognised at their fair values at the date of issue. Changes in
fair values in subsequent periods are recognised in profit or
loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are
measured at the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect is
material).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand
deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant date
is expensed immediately on the date of grant when the share
options granted rest immediately, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share option reserve).

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in the share
option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Share options granted to consultants

Share options issued in exchange for services are measured at
the fair values of share options granted at the grant date, unless
the fair values of the services received can be measured
reliably. The fair values of the share options are recognised as
expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve), when the counterparties render services, unless the
services qualify for recognition as assets.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3.

The directors of the Company consider the following to be the
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The directors determine the residual values, estimated useful
lives and related depreciation charges for the Group’s property,
plant and equipment. The estimates are based on historical
experience of the actual residual values and useful lives of plant
and equipment of a similar nature and function and may vary
significantly as a result of technical innovations, resulting in
higher or lower depreciation charges and/or impairment when
residual values or useful lives are less than previously estimated.

Property, plant and equipment is set out in note 17.

The directors review the estimated useful lives of property, plant
and equipment at the end of each reporting period to ensure
that the useful lives as stated in note 3 remain appropriate.

Amortisation method for oil exploitation rights and
vanadium exploration right

During the year, the directors reviewed the amortisation method
of the oil exploitation rights included in other intangible assets
and the vanadium exploration right held by the associate of the
Company, and consider that there has been a significant
change in the expected pattern of consumption of the future
economic benefits embodied in such rights. Accordingly, the
amortisation method of such rights has been changed from the
straight-line method to the unit-of-production method. Such a
change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate
and applied prospectively in accordance with HKAS 8.

As at 31 March, 2010, the impact has increased other intangible
assets and interests in associates by HK$106,551,000 and
HK$8,029,000 respectively and has decreased the loss for the
year by HK$114,580,000 and has decreased the loss per share
by HK4.2 cents accordingly.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Estimated impairment of trade receivable

Where there is objective evidence on impairment loss has been
incurred, the directors take into consideration the estimated
future cash flows. The amount of impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment
may arise. As at 31 March 2010, the carrying amount of trade
receivables was HK$58,137,000 (net of allowance for doubtful
debts of HK$6,132,000) (2009: HK$68,568,000 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of HK$7,176,000)).

Impairment loss of non-financial assets

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position at
31 March 2010 are non-financial assets of HK$2,347,725,000
(2009: HK$2,349,471,000) which are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation or depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any).

The Group appoints an independent professional valuer to test
at least annually whether the oil exploitation rights included in
other intangible assets have suffered any impairment.

Other non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
Determining the recoverable amount of an asset of a cash-
generating unit requires value-in-use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates.

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
PERRRIERARAT

AT EERREZEERIE
(48)

ESEWMRIE Z G5 R{E

EEEEBBERERNERERE =
EeEEGBFAKRBEERE - BHES
BRSBENREBEEEREERES
A E R AT R A R BV 2R
ATERNERAR)ITIEA G RKR
EMEREMEZHNEZRETE
BRENAEENRAKREEBRE) M
BERARBEERERBEHAELD s
EEXEEARE R-_ZE—ZTF=A=
+—R ZES5EWRENEEEASS
#58,137,0007T (1 Br & BR £ &5 & &
6,132,000)(= T T 1 F %
68,568,0007T (31 Br R BR # B B &
7176,0007T)) °

FEeMEEMREERIE

NZBE-TF=A=+—"B2&HE&6H
BRARFTANFEESREERK
23477250007 (= B T h, F: & &
2,349,471,0007T) 73 ¥2 X A gk 2 &t 8
kT ER R REBEGE)
EE °

AEERRBYEXGEMEZLEF
AREMIESREE(ETERETA
Hit B EENAMARB) AL
BAEATRIE

AEETERKELEFHIBFEREEM

ARELER  BRABAEATH
R - ReEEB LA BTN
1 78 /B IAfE PR 3 BOR B2 - A
HEBEHAM -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Impairment loss of non-financial assets (continued)

The valuation model adopted in the valuation of the oil
exploitation rights is primarily cash flow projections which are
based on the most recent financial budget and ten to twenty
years business development plan approved by management.
There are a number of assumptions and estimates involved for
the presentation of cash flow projections for the period covered
by the approved budget. Key assumptions and estimates
include the reserve quantity, oil extraction rate, feasibility of
business plan and the oil extraction method, expected growth
in revenue and operating margin, effective tax rate and the
selection of discount rates.

Judgement is required by the directors to determine key
assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections and changes
to key assumptions can significantly affect these cash flow
projections and therefore the results of the impairment reviews.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

As described in note 6(c), the directors use their judgement in
selecting an appropriate valuation technique for financial
instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation
techniques commonly used by market practitioners are applied.
For derivative financial instruments, assumptions are made
based on quoted market rates adjusted for specific features of
the instrument. The fair values of the derivative financial
instruments as at 31 March 2010 was estimated as financial
assets of HK$1,318,000 (2009: HK$30,385,000) and financial
liabilities of HK$70,416,000 (2009: HK$94,295,000).
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Estimation of oil reserves

Qil reserves are key elements in depletion, depreciation and
amortisation calculation and in testing for impairment. Changes
in proven oil reserves will affect the unit-of-production
depreciation recorded in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for property, plant and equipment related to oil
production activities. A reduction in proven reserves will
increase depreciation, depletion and amortisation charges.
Proven reserve estimates are subject to revision, either upward
or downward, based on new information, such as from
development drilling and production activities or from changes
in economic factors, including product prices, contract terms or
development plans.

Oil production sharing contract

As described in note 21b, the Group entered two production
sharing contracts with Z& 75 5 &8 )3 F 7 2% &2 5% 422 7] (“Qigihar
Oil”) in 2007 and 2008 for a period of 20 years. Qigihar Oil is an
agent of the local government and the holder of oil exploitation
licence. However, the oil exploitation licence will expire in
August 2010. Under the terms of the production sharing
contracts, Qigihar Qil is responsible for renewing the licence.
The directors are confident that the licence for the production
sharing contracts will be extended at least another 16 and 17
years. Qigihar Qil is currently applying for an extension of
exploitation period for another 10 years from the Ministry of
Land and Resources. The success of the application to extend
the rights is not yet confirmed. If the application for the
extension is unsuccessful, the Group’s exploitation rights,
related oil properties and oil properties under construction may
be impaired. As at 31 March 2010, the carrying value of oil
exploitation right was HK$2,043,397,000.
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5.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the bank borrowings as disclosed in note 31, net of
bank balances and cash, and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associates with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends and new share issues as well as the issue of new
debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@) Categories of financial instruments

EXEMmER

AREERREEANRRARENY
ERG LA E A LA
7B B (L B R B A B T AR SR %S
B AES - AE B BB ERE -
—EEREBTE -

AEEMNEAGRBRERFE A
BN 3R E MR ERGR
RITEBRRBES)RARREE AR
RS (BEERTRARFER) -

ARABEEATE R AT EARRE -
EREERNMN IR EFEEES
AN B ERAFRE B - R
EENER AEESEBRRMNKE
REFBDET  ARBITHEERE
CEREEY  FEHHEEBERRE -

R TH
(@ &EMIAMSE

2010 2009
—E—-FF —TTHAF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETRT ok e
Financial assets T EE
Loans and receivables B K ERFIE(BE
(including bank balances and cash) RITHEHBEIRE) 507,158 149,135
Held-for-trading investments REEEBENKRE 33,334 17,720
Derivative financial instruments BIEEE 210T4E
held-for-trading SR TE 1,318 30,385
541,810 197,240
Financial liabilities THEE
Derivative financial instruments BIEBEE 2I0T4E
held-for-trading ST A
Other derivative instruments HEmfTESm T A (10,503) (94,295)
Warrants R R (59,913) -
Amortised cost AN (160,219) (151,830)
(230,635) (246,125)
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6.

112

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include, trade
and other receivables, held-for-trading investments,
derivative financial assets, bank balances and cash, trade
and other payables, derivative financial liabilities and bank
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk
Foreign currency risk management

The Group conducts its treasury functions and maintains
certain bank balances and cash and bank borrowings in
foreign currencies, hence is exposed to foreign currency
risk. The Group manages its foreign currency risk by
closely monitoring the movements of the foreign currency
exchange rates. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arises.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

6. EMIAR)

Financial risk management objectives and (b) HBEKREEBERBE
policies (continued) (&)
Market risk (continued) 45 JE b (48)
Foreign currency risk management (continued) SN B R (4B
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency REBIINE(REEERES
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities, MIEEBAREK(CZZEZT N
other than the functional currency of respective Group F (] BN 51 E /Y
entities (RMB/Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$"), at the reporting EREEREBABERHREA
date are as follows: R BREE LT -
Assets Liabilities
BaE Bf&
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-BF —TTHNEFE —T-F|F —TThE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT ok e EBETT P T
United States Dollars 7T
(“US$") 1,794 30,842 10,503 94,295
Hong Kong Dollars i
(“HK$”) 527,785 — 214,248 —
Renminbi (‘RMB”) AR - 44128 — 17,166
Great British Pound 5
(“GBP”) 3,471 1,784 — —
Foreign currency sensitivity HNEE B RK S

Before the change in functional currency, the directors
considered that as HK$ was currently pegged to USS$,
the exposure to exchange fluctuation in respect of US$
was limited. Accordingly, no foreign currency sensitivity
analysis on US$ denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities was disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009.

The following table indicates the approximate change in
the Group’s profit or loss in response to reasonably
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which
the Group has significant exposure at the end of the
reporting period.
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BERBAR - Bt HENE
E_TTNF=A=+—HILF
B2 M |ERF AR
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk management (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity (continued)

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the year end for a 5% (2009: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates. A positive (negative) number below
indicates a decrease (increase) in post-tax loss (2009: an
increase (decrease) in post-tax profit) where US$, HK$
and GBP strengthens against RMB (2009: RMB and GBP
strengthens against HK$). For a 5% weakening of US$,
HK$ and GBP against the RMB (2009: 5% weakening of
RMB and GBP against HK$), there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the post-tax loss (2009: post-tax
profit) and the balances below would be negative.

6. EMIAER)

MHBEREEBRERBR
(&)

i 45 e ()
S R B RE ()
SN B E (AR)

FERELTEREREEN I
W EE%ER  YRFRE
[E X% (ZTTNF: 6% &
yMABREHBRE - TIIE(R)
BERTR WET BERRE
AAREEX EFH (ZETAF:
AREREFHBEEERET) -
AR BR B EFER D (=
T T NF BR PR S A 3G OR
D)) e fMETT  BERRELA
REEXTES% (ZETNEF:
ARBRRER BHETTRE
5%) AIGEHREEBR(CZEZA
F BRBRENBHREEE
HROZE BIATHERBER

Post-tax effect on profit or loss

Hin AN BENBRBIER

2010 2009

—B-%fF —ETNE

HK$’000 HK$'000

BETRT BT I

uss$ E7T (435) —
HK$ i B 15,677 =
RMB AR - 1,348
GBP g 174 1
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank borrowings (see note 31 for
details). The Group also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to bank balances, variable-rate bank
borrowings and derivative financial liabilities.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates risk on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR?”) arising from the Group’s
HK$ denominated borrowings.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for bank
balances, variable-rate bank borrowings and derivative
financial liabilities. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
50 basis point (2009: 50 basis points) increase or
decrease for variable-rate bank borrowings and 10 basis
point (2009: 10 basis point) increase or decrease for bank
balances are used for interest rate sensitivity analysis and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

6. EMIAR)

(b)

MHBEREEBERBR
(&)

45 e ()
FIEE SR & 2

AEERHEBEERITEE
ZRFEM E R R (L RES) -
RNEEJRE H A B RITAEER
FERTEERTESRERE
Zfﬁﬁmbgﬂz—ﬂ R

AEER R BENNXE R
RAWERBDE S EE—HF
it o $%@E"]Iﬁﬁmiﬂ$ﬂ
EETRREAREBIAE
KIEBEMEENEBRIT
FEFEIRE o

MERGERE DT

AT B 85 3% JE 9 4T B AR 15 3t 3R
TS FERTEERTAE
CREBENFNERBRITE - o
BT T3 (R 5% B 3R 45 HA 45 SR B 1 A
BENSRIANERAEER
DRFE - FIEFKRE DT
FERZEERITEE EFAHRTH
501E E 2 (== T N 1501 &
2h) & SR 1T 45 5k | FHek T B10E
ﬁ%’(_j T E 0B E 2 A
CTREREEEBHMNERZE
EET““‘WZ.:ME

Annual Report 2009-2010
“ETAE-T-TFH

115




6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk management (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (continued)

In order to keep borrowings at fixed rate and to minimise
the cash flow interest rate risk, the Group uses floating to
fixed interest rate swaps to manage the cash flow interest
rate risk exposure associated with certain amount of
borrowings issued at floating rate totalling
HK$92,494,000 (2009: HK$54,406,000). In addition, fixed
rate bank borrowings expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. At 31 March 2010, bank borrowings of
HK$875,000 (2009: HK$17,684,000) were at fixed rate.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2009: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax loss derived from variable-
rate borrowings and interest rate swap for the year ended
31 March 2010 would increase/decrease by HK$428,000
(2009: post-tax profit would decrease/increase by
HK$832,000).

If interest rates had been 10 basis points (2009:10 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax loss derived from bank
balances for the year ended 31 March 2010 would
decrease/increase HK$393,000 (2009: post-tax profit
would increase/decrease by HK$31,000).
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in listed equity securities. Decisions to buy or
sell listed equity securities are based on daily monitoring
of the performance of individual securities compared to
index of relevant stock markets and other industry
indicators.

The Group is also exposed to commodity price risk (i.e.
crude oil) through its investment in fuel option contracts.
Decisions to enter these derivative contracts are based
on daily monitoring of the price trend of crude oil
compared to the its own production costs of crude oil.
The management will monitor the price movements and
take appropriate actions when it is required.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
reporting date. If the prices of the respective equity
instruments had been 10% (2009: 10%) higher/lower, the
Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended 31 March 2010
would decrease/increase by HK$3,334,000 (2009: post-
tax profit would increase/decrease by HK$1,772,000) as
a result of the changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Other price risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to crude oil commodity price risks
at the reporting date. If the price of crude oil had been
10% (2009: 10%) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year
ended 31 March 2010 would increase/decrease by
HK$786,000/HK$643,000 (2009: post-tax profit would
decrease/increase by HK$260,000/HK$115,000) as a
result of the changes in fair value of derivative financial
instruments.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2010, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. ERMTAE)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MBEMKREEZEEHERBE

policies (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks or financial institution with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies or state-owned banks in the PRC.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 43% (2009:
19%) and 62% (2009: 46%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively within the paints, blended
solvents and chemical materials business segment. The
Group has assessed the credit worthiness of these
customers and all of these customers have good
historical repayment records and low default rates. In this
regard, the directors considered that the credit risk is low.
The Group also has concentration of geographical risk as
approximately 63% (2009: 50%) of the Group’s turnover
was generated from the customers from the PRC.
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6.

120

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants and timely negotiations with the
lenders if any non-compliance is expected.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant
source of liquidity. As at 31 March 2010, the Group has
available unutilised overdraft and short-term bank loan
facilities of HK$113,547,000 (2009: HK$117,797,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are at floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from the weighted
average interest rates by reference to the HIBOR of the
Group’s variable-rate borrowings at the end of the
reporting period.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

In addition, the following table details the Group’s liquidity
analysis for its derivative financial instruments, except for
the issued warrants classified as derivative financial
instruments, since the settlement of which would be
satisfied by the issue of new ordinary shares and does
not involve any cash outflows. The tables have been
drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual net
cash outflows on derivative instruments (other than the
issued warrants classified as derivative financial
instruments) that settle on a net basis. When the amount
payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been
determined by reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the weighted average interest rate by
reference to HIBOR of the Group’s variable-rate
borrowings and the terms stipulated in the contract of
derivative financial instruments existing at the end of the
reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s
derivative financial instruments (other than the issued
warrants classified as derivative financial instruments) are
prepared based on the contractual maturities as the
management consider that the contractual maturities are
essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash
flows of derivatives.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. ERMTAE)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) MBEKREEEHERBE
policies (continued) (#&)
Liquidity risk (continued) REE 2R &)
Weighted
average Total Carrying
interest 12 months 1-2 2-5 Over undiscounted amount at
rate orless years years 5years cash flows 31.3.2010
®
—E-%F
KiFH =R
MEEH 12@AH HeRE =+—H
U UTF  1-2%  2-5%8 S5fNE k] B AR E E
% HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

% EETT ERTR EHTR EETR EETRT EETR

2010 —E-%F
Non-derivative financial FTELBER
liabilities
Non-interest bearing TEEFIE
Trade and other payables B 5 & B A A
HIE 66,850 - - - 66,850 66,850
Fixed interest rate instruments & £ T A
Bank borrowings RITEE 25 895 - - - 895 875
Variable interest rate EEIA
instruments
Bank borrowings (note i) RITEE (M=) 211 24,240 25,043 46,869 - 96,152 92,494
91,985 25,043 46,869 - 163,897 160,219
Derivative — net settlement #T4£ T B — B
(note ii) i B (P =)
Interest rate swaps 7| % 4= B 633 646 1,019 - 2,298 2,197
Foreign currency forward INERBEL
contracts 1,298 1,139 - - 2,427 2,349
Fuel options 19 ek A A 6,060 - - - 6,060 5,957
7,991 1,785 1,019 - 10,785 10,503
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(i) For the Group’s variable-rate interest borrowings, the weighted
average effective interest rate of the Group’s variable-rate

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. £t TH (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HBEAKREEEEFERBR
policies (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) REELE ()
Weighted
average Total Carrying
interest 12 months 1-2 2-5 Over undiscounted amount at
rate or less years years 5 years cash flows 31.3.2009
i
—ZTNE
RTH =k
MmEFY 128 A%k Reme =+—H
7| = T 12 2-5F 5FpE ek R B
%  HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% wETr BT BT BETx BT T BT
2009 —EehE
Non-derivative financial FTLELRARE
liabilities
Non-interest bearing TEEFIE
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk B A e
A 79,740 = = = 79,740 79,740
Fixed interest rate instruments & 2 T &
Bank borrowings RITEE 5.65 2,955 4,119 10,079 1,671 18,824 17,684
Variable interest rate FETHR
instruments
Bank borrowings (note i) RITEE (M=) 2.84 14,071 15071 29,875 — 59,017 54,406
96,766 19,190 39,954 1,671 157,681 151,830
Derivative — net settlement #T4£ T B — B
(note i) i 5 (0 2t i)
Foreign currency forward INEREEH
contracts 584 — — — 584 568
Fuel options 1A h HA 60,228 37,623 - - 97,851 93,727
60,812 37,623 - - 98,435 94,295
Notes: i

RAKEHFRMEEMS  RIT
MEAMHFEARERE

BB

#0 RB R R BT B 18 B 60 0
ETHEBFIEHE -

borrowings at the end of each reporting period is used for
undiscounted cash flow analysis.

(ii) BErELRIANAITRES
MER  DNRENSHREHER
HEZZHE AEHEATE
HFTEEBERTE -

(ii) The undiscounted cash flow of derivative financial instrument
was determined assuming all variables used in the fair value
calculation at the end of each reporting period remained the
same until maturity.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. ERITR(4E)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HBEGEEBERBE
policies (continued) (8&)
Liquidity risk (continued) REE 2 EFE (&)
The amounts included above for variable interest rate FHFHAETESRBEEER
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject THZ28 #REFHA K2
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to DHENREREREEE 2
those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of BEAEEHEEEREMAMN
the reporting period. 28 o

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (c) €MIHEMATEE

124

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

° the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) is
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis; and

° the fair value of derivative instruments is calculated
using quoted prices. Where such prices are not
available, use is made of discounted cash flow
analysis using the applicable yield curve for the
duration of the instruments for non-optional
derivatives, and option pricing models for optional
derivatives.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair values.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. ERMTAE)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (continued) (c) ZMIAEBNAFEE)
Fair value measurements recognised in the REGEEHMBRIFZEZILF
consolidated statement of financial position Hit &
The following table provides an analysis of financial TRERVPURAFERERE
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial HEZEMIEDN Wik
recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 and Level 3 BRAVTEEEI SR =M -

based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

. Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived . F—RAFEGETHAE
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for REEEXBGERERETS
identical assets or liabilities. MRECRERAR)FH -

. Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived . FMAFEFAEINRE
from inputs other than quoted prices included — £ BT &k R (B LA S RO AT R
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or REESBERHAZREER
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. # (AN (8 #%) =k [ £ (B R
derived from prices). BERISH -

. Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived . F=MAFEFE DRI
from valuation techniques that include inputs for FERIR A B R IS EE (1
the asset or liability that are not based on A8 R ABB)GTED
observable market data (unobservable inputs). BESAEH ASEMMA

RE B ERIIFH e
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. ERMTAE)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (continued) (c) ZMIAEBNAFEGEE)
Fair value measurements recognised in the REBH BRI EKEZI L F
consolidated statement of financial position Ei & (%)
(continued)
2010
—E-FF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—4R BoR =R A%

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EETR EETRT EETRT EETRT

Financial assets at #EAE{EHETA

FVTPL EIE SR
BE
Held-for-trading BRIEEERIIRE
investments 33,334 — - 33,334
Derivative financial REEENITA
instruments ST A
held-for-trading - 866 452 1,318
33,334 866 452 34,652
Financial liabilities at %2 E#HiT A
FVTPL HIEHMER
B&
Derivative financial BIEBEERITE
instruments held-for- SRt THE
trading — 2,197 8,306 10,503
Other derivative HMATET R
instruments
Warrants R HE E - - 59,913 59,913
— 2,197 68,219 70,416
There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in the REAFERN F—HZKEBE_H
current year. 2 [ A o
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of
derivative financial instruments

SRMIREE
() &EMIAMAFEGR)

HA2MTAE=HATFE
BH9#1 R

2010
=
Derivative
financial
instruments Warrants
TTESMTH e HEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR BETR
At 1 April REA—H (63,342) —
Additions NE 3,250 (22,499)
Settlements/de-recognition EE S BUSHER 52,730 1,545
Change in fair value recognised in REZERE
profit or loss NS ) (492) (38,959)
At 31 March R=A=+—H (7,854) (59,913)

The above change in fair value is included in “other gain
or loss” and reported as “gain (loss) from changes in fair
value changes of derivative financial instruments” in the
consolidated income statement.

A ERFEZE T ATEAM
SHEBERIERGEARERER
RITESRIARFEZDH
Y sk (B8]
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T-FFE=A=t+-RLEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 Operating Segments with
effect from 1 April 2009. HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that
requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal reports about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (i.e.
the board of directors) for the purpose of allocating resources
to segments and assessing their performance. In contrast, the
predecessor Standard (HKAS 14 Segment Reporting) required
an entity to identify two sets of segments (business and
geographical) using a risks and returns approach. In the past,
the Group’s primary reporting format was business segments.
The application of HKFRS 8 has not resulted in a redesignation
of the Group’s segments as compared with the primary
segments determined in accordance with HKAS 14.

The factors that used to identify the Group’s operating
segments, including the basis of organisation are mainly based
on the types of products sold and services provided by the
Group’s operating divisions as follows:

o manufacture and sale of paints, blended solvents and
plastic colorants and trading of chemical materials
(“paints, blended solvents, chemical materials and plastic
colorants”);

° provision of painting services (“service contract”);
° exploitation and sale of crude oil (“crude oil”); and

° lease of investment properties and the sale of properties
held for trading (“property investment”)

Information regarding the above segments is reported below.
Amounts reported for the prior year have been restated to
conform to the requirements of HKFRS 8.
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PERRRIERARAT

7.

W B 53 S E #

AEEERMBE-TTAFMNA—H
A A R B B 7S 3R R SBR[
BNl BAEMBHREERFESR TS
—EFEER  RELENEHAE
ELEAREESFS)THERD
AN SR B A BRRR 0 B Y B e fE A B
#al - AESEBRTED BRI
HEHRB-HYME RAIENEE
S ERFURIDBEERDAEE
B E R K BRI ER R AR
(X RME)  AE AEBENE R
ERAAREH LB - BREEE
B EAFIAREENERZAERD
BRL RRBFEMBREERES
A EERAKEN D RAEHE

4N\ o

7]

ARBEIAEEEE D BNERE
RABARBERE)TZ2ULREEN T
DI 48 & BB T A 5 B am B AT ER R AR 7S
MVAREL & K IR -

e HERHEMZ RARARK
PHESH R BB TR (T
EORBBE LT RMRZE
HEBHD

o BRHZHRBKIRBEEH]D
o FREHEERMTRME] &

e REVEXHERHEREEER
METWEKRE]D -

BRELESENENNTXEY] - &
FHEBNESHECIEEY  UFEE
BB REENFSHRABRE ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

(a)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

results by operating segments.

For year ended 31 March 2010

7. WmRSEERER)

(a)

SEMERER

N

AEBZEEDBRE DO KRE
REGDMMT

BE-F-FF=ZH=1+—-H
IEFE

Paints,
blended
solvents,
chemical

materials and

plastic Service Property Segment
colorants contract Crude oil investment total Eliminations Consolidated
i
BEEm -
EIR#R
BHERE  REBEEY Rt HERE HESFH i ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EBTRT BT E®TRT  EBTR  ERTR EBTT EBTR
Segment revenue SN E
External sales HoMHE 271,811 20,500 6,461 9,210 307,982 - 307,982
Inter-segment sales ¥BeRHE 25,764 4,418 - - 30,182 (30,182) -
Total A&t 297,575 24,918 6,461 9,210 338,164 - 307,982
Segment result ECES
Segment (loss) profit AR(BE)EF (122,631) 1,436 (16,938) 2,058 - - (136,075)
Unallocated other income APEEMBPA 440
Unallocated expenses AABAX (121,463)
Share of result of an associate VNG ES (1,075)
Finance costs REARK (2,625)
Loss before income tax WEEHAEE (260,798)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

7.

130

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

7. WmESEEHGER)

(CONTINUED)
(a) Segment revenue and results (continued) (@) HEWRERELSGE
For year ended 31 March 2009 BE-—FFEAF=A=+—H
tFE

Paints,

blended

solvents,

chemical

materials and

plastic Service Property Segment

colorants contract Crudeoil  investment total Eliminations  Consolidated

hiihz

RARE

EIRKR
BHEGR R AL R MERE  DEMEE HH e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BRTT A%Tn BT BETx BETT BETT

Segment revenue SEWE
External sales M E 354,722 32,685 7,722 4,280 399,409 - 399,409
Inter-segment sales (B HEE 30,476 - - - 30,476 (30,476) -
Total Ehl 385,198 32,685 7,722 4,280 429,885 = 399,409
Segment result PREE

Segment (loss) profit AR (BR)EF (63,268) 4,423 (156,861) (2,085) - - ©17,771)
Unallocated other income AOEEMBEKA 262,396
Unallocated expenses APEAX (27,743)
Finance costs BEKA (5,429)
Profit before income tax B BT 15 B AT 4 7 11,453

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies as
described in note 3. Segment (loss) profit represents the
loss made or profit earned by each segment without
allocation of incomes or expenses which are not recurring
in nature and unrelated to the Group’s operating
performance, bank interest income, central administration
costs, directors’ emoluments, share of result of an
associate, changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments and derivative financial instruments and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker that is the directors of the
Company for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market
rates.
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mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

7.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Segment assets

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by
operating segment:

7.

W B 53 B E )

SEEE

AEFBRELEDHEEAINEE
DT :

2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Segment assets NEEE

Paints, blended solvents, chemical R RARE - (ET
materials and plastic colorants Rk 28 Bl 3 B 138,337 324,087
Service contract RiE &4 14,403 22,075
Crude oil JER8 2,119,872 2,088,062
Property investment LEE 46,197 16,596
Total segment assets DABEEERE 2,318,809 2,450,820
Unallocated RO 570,726 95,891
Consolidated assets IREEE 2,889,535 2,546,711

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances
and allocating resources between segments, all assets
are allocated to operating segments other than, interest
in an associate, deposits paid for a jointly controlled
operation, deposits paid for long-term assets, held-for-
trading investments, derivative financial assets, tax
recoverable, bank balances and cash and other corporate
assets.

The chief operating decision maker mainly reviews the
segment assets for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment. An analysis of the Group’s
liabilities is not regularly reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker and hence, the relevant information is not
presented accordingly.

REENPERARNSERS
RERME MMEBEEBDE
EREES BN —HBZERR
s - EERESER
XS BEHEEXN
MEE FHAEFEEENRE
TESREE  AJREHEA-
RITEBRRASREMBRAE
BRI

TBLERRETEZENOHE
BENETERD K RRIRF
- AKENABEOMALEE
HRHTIELERRENRSE
Bl At Y EE5F@EH -

Annual Report 2009-2010
—zznrz-%-%58 131




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& M| R M

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. KWEEDPEEHE)
(CONTINUED)

(c) Other segment information c) HipEEH

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BE—FE-FTF=A=+—HILLEE

Paints,
blended
solvents,
chemical
materials and

plastic Service Property

colorants contract  Crude oil investment
M

BEEHE

fETRER

BHERE RBSH Rt WERA
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
BETRT #EBTR BYRTR EETR

Amount included inthe 5T A % 8% %
measure of segment B ek n ki
profit or loss or BEMSE:

segment assets:

Additions to non-current s & 3E 7 &)

assets* BE" 6,178 82 18,866 126
Depreciation and mEREE

amortisation (13,875) (105) (1,165) (1,159)
Property, plant and ME  BEK

equipment written off &% f& H $4 (45,786) - - -
Impairment loss ML EMEER

recognised on H R B B 18

investment

properties - - - (14,393)
Impairment loss on B 5 & H A fE UK

trade and other SKIA R R E

receivables 518 (13,725) (1,433) (6,936) —

Loss on disposal of HEME - BB
property, plant and MERENEE
equipment (122) - (21) -

1 32 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
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mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WBERDEEHE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Other segment information (c) HitpEEH

For the year ended 31 March 2009
HE_ZTTZNF=ZA=+—HLFE

Paints,
blended
solvents,
chemical
materials and
plastic Service Property
colorants contract Crude oil  investment
R
BREBH
{ETER R
BREEH RBEH BB  ERE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BEEFT BT BT EBETT
Amount included in the & A 2 48 & F1| 5%
measure of segment & 1Bk D 48
profit or loss or BERS:
segment assets:
Additions to WEIEMH
non-current assets* EE” 23,037 556 404,024 781
Depreciation and I8 K 5H
amortisation (15,017) (120) (104,390) —
Impairment loss L E M 47 T
recognised on other B E R
intangible assets BB E B (9,340) — — —
Impairment loss P EE R
recognised on VERIEN i
goodwill (929) — — —
Impairment loss ME F W RIE
recognised on trade R HAth i R
and other receivables I8 #& 3R H) R (B
&8 (11,046) — — —
Impairment loss HEEEEYE
recognised on T R MR (B
properties held-for- &5 18
trading - = = @11)
Loss on disposal of LEWE - BE
property, plant and M EREE
equipment (447) — — =

*

Capital additions include additions to property, plant and

equipment during 2010, while it also included other intangible

assets in 2009.

EAENBER-_ZT-—ZFFE
MYE - BMERZE  TEE=
ZENFNEMETVEE -
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7.

134

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

7. WmESEEHGER)

(d) Revenue from major products and services d REBFTEEREEEMKkZE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from AEEKREHEFEEMERS
its major products and services: Bz D ATEA T
2010 2009
—E—-FF —ETTAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
EETT BT T
Paints AR 61,181 107,038
Blended solvents SEE A 207,806 245 529
Plastic colorants BRZEEH 1,009 1,523
Other chemical materials H At TR 1,815 632
Service contract R &4 20,500 32,685
Crude ol R 8 6,461 7,722
Property investment MERE 9,210 4,280
307,982 399,409
(e) Geographical information (e) HMEZHE

The Group’s operations are mainly located on PRC and
Hong Kong. The Group’s revenue from continuing
operations from external customers and information
about its non-current assets by geographical location of
the assets are detailed below:

AEENEBEETBUNRFE R
B - AKEREEMENLRE
FNKEFERERBOHINK
EEHMKRERERERBE
ERERNT:

Revenue from external

Non-current

customers assets
SpRE R U I ERENEE
Year ended Year ended
BEUTHHZEE BEUTHHZEE
31.3.2010 31.3.2009 31.3.2010 31.3.2009
BT —TTNEFE ZB-BE _—TThF
=A=+—-8 =A=+—H =ZH=+—-—H =A=t+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T BET T BT T
PRC M 195,188 198,716 2,165,676 2,273,836
Hong Kong BB 112,794 200,693 79,124 41,230
Others H b - — 69,988 —
307,982 399,409 2,314,788 2,315,066
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mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. KEESEEHE)
(CONTINUED)

(e) Geographical information (continued) (e) WMEZHE(E)
The Group’s non-current assets above excluding financial AEBERDEETRITES R
instruments and deferred tax asset, if any. THREERIBEERE) °

(f) In the operating segment of paints, blended solvents, () 2EE EESAD ELERHK
chemical materials and plastic colorants, revenue BHEREHKLESBME @ RE
contribution from one customer of HK$68,000,000 during E-T—TF=-A=+—HItF
the year ended 31 March 2010 and revenue contributions ERE—ZEFPHEXEB B
from two individual customers of HK$93,000,000 and 68,000,0007C * AR RBE_Z
HK$40,000,000 each during the year ended 31 March ZENF=A=+—HILFEHHI
2009 were more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue. REMBERNRFEREERE B

93,000,0007T & % #40,000,0007T
ERAKEEEBEEEN0P

8. OTHER INCOME 8. Hhlig A
2010 2009
—E-FTF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETFT BT T

Other income comprises: Hib g A IE

Rental income e A 4,579 3,152
Bank interest income RITH B U A 325 934
Other interest income E 4th 7 2 M A 131 1,538
Other income H b e A 94 1,609
5,129 7,233

Annual Report 2009-2010
—sEnrz-%-%58 |30




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& M| R M

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9. HihZmREE

2010 2009
—E-FF —ETAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR T IT
Exchange loss, net P& X E5 18 55 (139) (5,327)
Gain on bargain purchase arising from a K& G E 4 8
business combination (note 37a) HEEB AR
(Bt 7E37a) - 259,924
Fair value adjustment on warrants classified R E1THE D EAITE
as derivative financial instruments at issue SERTANRREDR
date R FEFHE (21,729) —
Impairment loss recognised on trade and BE 5 K H A FE WK
other receivables, net THHERERE B 1R (22,094) (11,046)
Impairment loss recognised on investment HIREDEERD
properties BB E5 18 (14,393) =
Impairment loss recognised on other MELEERRH
intangible assets (note 21) BB 5 18 (M 5E21) - (9,340)
Impairment loss recognised on goodwill HEBERARE
(note 20) &5 18 (Bff 5£20) - (929)
Allowance for write-down of properties FHIEE B W) % HUR
held for trading i) - (@11)
Property, plant and equipment written off Y12 - R KRR i 8 (45,786) —
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) HEMN B AR/ EE
(Fff7E39) (24,695) 2,101)
Loss on disposal of an associate HEMEARNEIR (4,467) =
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEYWE  BEK
equipment Bl (143) (447)
Loss on early redemption of convertible REELRTBRKRES
bonds B & 18 - (1,663)
Loss from changes in fair value of derivative ~ $TE SR TEH QA F
financial instruments (note) BEEEEE M) (40,214) (23,265)
Gain (loss) from change in fair value of REEEENEREDN
held-for-trading investments N EE TN =
(&) 19,322 (14,806)
Others H A 1,228 (555)
(153,110) 190,034

Note: The amount in the current year includes the loss from changes in fair
value of warrants classified as derivative financial instruments of

HK$38,959,000 (2009: nil).
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mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. RIE R &
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR Nk e
Interest on: AT EIERF L :
Bank loans and overdrafts wholly repayable 7B EF A XK (E
within 5 years BHRTERR
FEX 2,625 1,627
Convertible bonds wholly repayable within ARAFRNEBHEERE
5 years MR MR E S - 3,802
2,625 5,429
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FiIREHEX
2010 2009
—E—-FF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT ok e
Hong Kong Profits Tax BAEMNEH
— Underprovision in prior years — BAFEEE
= - 4
PRC Enterprise Income Tax R EREH
— Current year — RFEE 196 1,217
— Underprovision in prior years — BEFERE
TR 1,543 2
1,739 1,219
Deferred tax i JE T 18
Current year credit — AFEHRRP
(note 33) (Mg 5£33) - (506)
Income tax expense for the year RAEEMEHRAX 1,739 717

W {8 F [ 8 & 78 B 1S B T 3% 13 51 FE iR
0% A E16.5% 5T & o

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profit for both years.
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11.

138

year ended 31 March 2010
T-EF=-A=+—HLFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and its detailed implementation
rules promulgated on 16 March 2007 and 6 December 2007
respectively, for those subsidiaries without preferential tax rate,
the new tax rate for domestic and foreign enterprises was
unified at 25% and had become effective from 1 January 2008.
For those subsidiaries enjoying a preferential tax rate, the new
tax rate would increase from 15% over 5 years to 25% as a
result of the grandfathering provisions.

Taxation on PRC profits has been calculated on the estimated
assessable profit for both years at the rates of taxation
prevailing in the PRC in which the Group operates.

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 33.

In considering the majority of income tax expenses is sourced
from the profits earned in the PRC, where the operation of the
Group is substantially based, the directors during the year
considered the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% as the
domestic tax rate which is the most appropriate applicable tax
rate used for tax reconciliation purposes.

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
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mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 1. FIRHEX(E)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the REZFSH A ERE K am KR AR
(loss) profit before income tax per the consolidated income FriSEial (B518) ) MM E BRI T -

statement as follows:

2010 2009
—F—-FF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFT TS T
(Loss) profit before income tax MRETIS R AT (B E) & (260,798) 11,453
Tax at domestic income tax rate of 25% 2 7K M BT 15 B B 2R 25%
(2009: 16.5%) —ZEETNF 16.5%)
FTE M IE (65,200) 1,890
Tax effect of share of result of an associate &5 B & /X 7] 3£ 45 HY)
W5 = 2 268 =
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries RE A B VAR & A& Y
operating in other jurisdiction PSRN E RS
e 3,906 (4,282)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences 7k 72 7] 1 5 £ b 2= &2
not recognised O Ri- 21,854 6,307
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERTIAE B
MG E 12,003 1,485
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARB U AR
tax purpose Mg E (23,358) (46,256)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for A H0 %R B 2 A9
tax purpose Mg e 49,417 40,475
Underprovision in prior years BAEFEEEDR 1,543 6
Others Hfth, 1,306 1,092
Income tax expense for the year REEFSHAX 1,739 717
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

12. (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12. XEE(BR) R

2010 2009
—E-FF —ETAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR EEET T
(Loss) profit for the year has been arrived at A 4FfE (E518) % FI 2 40
after charging: RN &IE
Directors’ emoluments e
— Fees — % 770 940
— Salaries and other emoluments —FekHEMMe
(including share-based payment) (B FELARR A 21T
B RRIR) 18,804 7,144
Other staff costs Efh 8B TR A
— Salaries, wages and other benefits — e ITEREM
8 A 24,094 34,655
— Share-based payments (excluding the — AR D A RO ZRIE
amount included in directors’ GFrAEZEEBH &8
emoluments) SKIA BRI 19,832 12,057
— Contribution to defined contribution — TE R FURIK
retirement plan (excluding amount T EIR R (GEA
included in directors’ emoluments) EEMEHRIE
B 4N 2,008 1,640
Total staff costs BT K A4E%E 65,508 56,436
Auditors’ remuneration % SN BN & 2,587 2,766
Cost of inventories FERAR 272,126 363,405
Release of prepaid lease payment AN B ERREE 652 1123
Depreciation e
— Owned property, plant and equipment — BEVE BB
&S 13,813 14,188
— Oil properties — FOmEBEE 21 2,269
— Investment properties — HEYHE 1,159 =
Allowance for write-down of inventories 5 & R
(included in cost of inventories) GIATEE KA 185 188
Research and development costs it 3% B AR - 92

1 40 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

13. EEB &£

The emoluments paid or payable to each of seven (2009: eight) BENZENTER(CEEZNE: N\R)
directors were as follows: EESZaMenT
2010
—e-%%
Salaries
Allowances Employee
and Retirement share
Director’s benefits scheme option
fees in kind contributions benefits Total
e
RR BUEtE EEREBRE
EEzwe BEWF = N =F &5
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EETR EETR EETRT EETRT EETRT
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Poon Sum EREE - 5,394 12 9,669 15,075
Mr. Wong Kwok Leung ERR A& - 470 12 264 746
Mr. Poon Wai Kong EEM & - 1,277 12 941 2,230
- 7141 36 10,874 18,051
Independent Non-Executive BIIFEHITES
Directors
Mr. Chan Shu Kin BeR 161 B2 St A 240 - - 251 491
Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul FeR 5% 72 55 & 240 - - 251 491
Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung R/ TE 240 - - 251 491
720 - - 753 1,473
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Chen Lizhong BRI B AL 50 - - - 50
Total A&t 770 7141 36 11,627 19,574
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 13. EE il & (&)

2009
—ZETNEF
Salaries

Allowances Employee

and Retirement share

Director’s benefits scheme option
fees in kind contributions benefits Total

E2c

AL R RIRGTE EEERE
EEHE Bz R 12 7 A&T
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT BETT BETT BETT

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Poon Sum BREE — 4,591 12 — 4,603

Mr. Wong Kwok Leung =ER A — 420 12 = 432

Mr. Poon Wai Kong BRI ST E - 792 12 894 1,698

— 5,803 36 894 6,733
Independent Non-Executive BIIIEHITESE
Directors

Mr. Chan Shu Kin Bek A8 B2 2 A 240 — - - 240

Mr. Chan Kam Ching, Paul PRERIZSE A& 240 — — — 240

Mr. Cheung Kwan Hung REIBSTE 240 — — — 240
720 — — — 720

Non-Executive Directors EHITES

Mr. Chen Lizhong B 57 5B 4 A 220 - — 411 631

Mr. Chew Lye Yin HEBBZ LT — — — — —
220 — — 411 631

Total At 940 5,803 36 1,305 8,084

None of the directors of the Company waived any emoluments FR - NN T E S ERERERAE

payable by the Group during the year (2009: Nil). BRSO FEMNME(CETENF:

/) o
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mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 14. EE£
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEEFHESNARBATESR &
Group, two (2009: two) were directors of the Company whose FREZ(CEZNLF MB)AELRRDF
emoluments are included in note 13. The emoluments of the EE BENMESEHRNH S - Eip
remaining three (2009: three) individuals were as follows: —H(CEZNF ZR)ATH#H S
PUNNE
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETRF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT ST T
Salaries and other emoluments ek HEMH e 1,320 2,535
Share-based payments LA B 19 A< 9 3R 38 4,538 2,209
Contribution to defined contribution TE R R ET 81 A9
retirement plan HFR 24 31
5,882 4775
Their emoluments were within the following bands: HERNM SR FIATEHE :
Number of individuals
A
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETRF
HK$500,000 to HK$1,000,000 75 #500,0007T &
75 #1,000,0007T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75 #1,000,0017C &
78 #1,500,0007T - _
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 75 #1,500,0017C &
7% #2,000,0007T 1 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 78 2 000,001 &
78 #2,600,0007T 2 1
3 3

During the current and prior year, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any of the above directors or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office.

RAFEREFE  AKEYER L
AEMEELARZSHFALTIMNE
MME  (FRMAREENREEHIE
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

15. DIVIDEND 15. &2
No dividend was paid or proposed during 2010 and 2009, nor RZE—ZERZZFENFULEIRN
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting REFRRTRE  MBMEHRLERIA
period. RIP R AR S o

16. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE 16. Bk (BE)EH
The calculation of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share AKARHEE ARG SRERKEE (E
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the B)BFTIRBEATEEE -

following data:

2010 2009
—F—-FF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
EBETR P T
(Loss) earnings (B5E) &
(Loss) earnings for the purpose of calculating R st E & I & A K
basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share HEEE B
(E18) B A (262,348) 55,143
2010 2009
—E-FF —ZTTNF
’000 ‘000
T F B%
Number of shares s B
Weighted average number of ordinary shares F R & B &% E &
for the purposes of calculating basic (loss) (E518) B A A I 3m
earnings per share fi hn 4 T4 AR 25 2,719,395 1,833,877
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares ERENEESRRK
on share options H 8 5 & - 15,635
Weighted average number of ordinary shares A 5+ & & % # &
for the purposes of diluted (loss) earnings (B8 B LB
per share P& N #E < 19 85 2,719,395 1,849,512
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mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

16. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i) No diluted losses per share have been presented for the year because
the share options and warrants outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect in
the calculation of diluted loss per share.

(ii) The computation of diluted earnings per share for 2009 did not assume
the exercise of the Company’s outstanding warrants as the exercise price
of those warrants was higher than the average market prices of shares in
2009.

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. Bz (E58) B (&)

Bt &

17. W% - BERRE

B 1 AR AT 50 O B8 P A % o8 B 8 Y AT
EEREIBERAERESEE Bt
W2 AFETREFER -

HECREAESREEEAE L ER
CEVNCEEDEE S B L Sole R
BE A %% R B 07T (8 (BB R
REFFAFHTFHTE -

Construction in progress

ERIRE
Oil
Furniture, properties
Plantand fixture and Motor Oil under
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles properties construction Others Total
wRIE
RE EEdH
Br BEAKSE RKEERE RE RABEE RHdE Hity &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BE%Tr BE%Tr E¥Trn BETT BE%TT BE%Tx
COST A E
At 1 April 2008 RZZZ\FNA—H 83,793 69,696 39,115 9,924 12,486 14,504 500 230,018
Acquired on acquisition of RN AR ER
subsidiaries — 412 36 130 — — — 578
Additions NE - 14,317 8,967 3,221 5,561 8,181 15,022 55,269
Disposals HE - (468) (28) (3,011) - - - (3,507)
Disposals of subsidiaries HERBAR = (192) (52 (976) = = = (1,220)
Write-off k| = - - (165) - - - (165)
Transfer R = - - - 8,715 (8,445) (270) -
Exchange realignment ERAE 542 959 264 118 295 170 27 2,375
At 1 April 2009 RZZEZAEMA—H 84,335 84,724 48,302 9,241 27,057 14,410 15,279 283,348
Additions NE - 1,464 2,529 2,287 841 16,706 1,305 25132
Disposals HE - (15) - (540) (35) - - (590)
Disposals of subsidiaries HEHBAT (19,012) (13,031) (5,313) (2,037) - - - (39,393
Write-off (note i) 85 (O =) (5,591) (22,884) (39,624) - - - (9,481) (77,580)
Transfer i - - 3,665 - 5,199 (4,860) (4,004) -
Transferred to investment BEERENE
properties (69,351) - - - - - - (69,351)
Exchange realignment EHAE 69 176 4 15 91 21 42 455
At 31 March 2010 RZE-Z4F
=A=t—H 450 50,434 9,600 8,966 33,153 26,277 3,141 132,021
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& M| R M

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y% - BERREE)
(CONTINUED)

Construction in progress
EEIR

0Oil

Furniture, properties

Plantand fixture and Motor Oil under
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles properties construction Others Total

#BIR

e Lo
B REEHKSE KEEARG RE RHhEE HRHEE Hit &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETr BETr A%t BT BETT BETT BE%Tx

ACCUMULATED RitiNE
DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2008 R=ZFT\FNA—H 6,861 18,832 20,106 5,999 945 - - 52,743
Provided for the year AEERE 2,295 7,584 2,983 1,326 2,269 = = 16,457
Eliminated on disposals & - (354) (25) 2,110) - - - (2,489)
Eliminated on disposals of 5 B B A ] B ] 8
subsidiaries - (20) (18) (46) - — — (84)
Write-off HisH - — — (165) — — = (165)
Exchange realignment f 55 % 60 220 174 58 23 - - 535
At 1 April 2009 RZZENFHA—R 9,216 26,262 23,220 5,062 3,237 — — 66,997
Provided for the year rEERE 1,125 8,312 3,101 1,275 21 - - 13,834
Eliminated on disposals o R 0 8 - © - (436) © - = (447)
Eliminated on disposals of o B A ] R T 8
subsidiaries (4,027) (5,617) (1,041) 476) = = = (11,161)
Write-off (note i) 88 (O ) (876) (14,137) (16,781) = = = = (31,794)
Transfer to investment BREREME
properties (5,398) - - - - = = (5,398)
Exchange realignment ERAE 12 43 19 5 10 - - 89
At 31 March 2010 RZZ-FF
=A=t+—H 52 14,860 8,518 5,430 3,260 - - 32,120
CARRYING VALUES AR {8
At 31 March 2010 RZZE-2F
=A=t+-H 398 35,674 1,082 3,536 29,893 26,277 3,141 99,901
At 31 March 2009 RZZTHEF
=RA=t+—H 75,119 58,462 25,082 4179 23,820 14,410 15,279 216,351
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mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

The carrying value of buildings shown above comprises:

17. W% - B ERREE)

EREJNNEFHREERRE:

2010 2009
—E-FF —EEAF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETFIT BT T
In Hong Kong BB

Medium-term lease — FHHEE 398 407

Outside Hong Kong LR E B AN [
Short-term lease — RHASE - 46,131
Medium-term lease — hHEE - 28,581
398 75,119

Notes:

(i) During the year, the directors decided to early terminate the tenancy
contract over an area of leased land on which certain property, plant and
equipment was attached, which then became idle and resulted in a write
off of property, plant and equipment of HK$45,786,000 which was

charged to profit or loss accordingly.

(i) The Group has pledged buildings with a carrying value of HK$398,000
(2009: HK$29,794,000) to secure general banking facilities granted to the

Group as detailed in note 42.

(i

RERN BEEATRELIE—BHES
FTHE BERIEOEE L HEEN
HEEGYN BEZSVE BERLHE
B & & BHE i 8 & 18 75 %45,786,000
T WA R E S PR o

7N %2 [ £ 3 17 B [ 18 40 & 78 #398,0007T
— T T A & $529,794,0007T) B 12
F o UAREETAEEN—MBRITEE -
(FEIE # 5 R M 3E42)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 18. EftHERIE
2010 2009
—EB-FF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T B F T
COST R A {E
At 1 April AmA—B 38,609 37,813
Addition NE - _
Disposal of subsidiaries o B8 A A (33,832) =
Exchange realignment ME 5, 38 2 116 796
At 31 March W=A=+—H 4,893 38,609
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION g
At 1 April AmA—B 2,935 1,780
Release for the year F AR 652 1123
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries o & BT B8 2 ) B 1 4 (2,100) —
Exchange realignment ME 5, 8 B 6 32
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,493 2,935
CARRYING VALUES BRE(E
At 31 March R=A=+—H 3,400 35,674

1 48 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
PERRRIERARAT




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 18. Faft#A &I (&)

The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise: AEEMENHEHERBRRE :
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Leasehold land in Hong Kong R BEBHEE L
— Medium-term lease — FHHEE 1,233 1,255
Leasehold land outside Hong Kong R & B LA SN [ 7Y
HE
— Medium-term lease — FHEE 2,167 34,419
3,400 35,674
Analysed for reporting purpose as: BERMIELH DM
PUNNE
Amount shown under non-current assets ERBEEET
E QL] 2,748 34,551
Amount shown under current assets MBNE EIE T HIE 652 1,123
3,400 35,674
At 31 March 2010, the Group’s prepaid land lease payments in NR—EFE—FF=F=+—H A&
the PRC, an aggregate carrying amounts of HK$2,047,000 MARPREN B ERE  BEWE
(2009: HK$21,627,000), were pledged to secure banking 4B 1H 5B 2,047,000 (ZEZE N F -
facilities granted to the Group as detailed in note 42. 7 #0201 627,0007T) B /E K 8 - LAELE

BAKBEMRITESR  FHREMER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. IREME
2010 2009
—E-FF —TRTHEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
EEFT VBT T
COST B AE
At 1 April REA—H 27 27
Transfer from property, plant and equipment & 2 &5 ¥ % -
R = K 5% 53,953 =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 53,980 27
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND et EERIBE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April »rA—H 13 13
Provided for the year REE R AR 1,159 —
Impairment loss recognised (note) B R E (B EE
(Mg 5E) 14,393 —
At 31 March R=A=+—8H 15,565 13
CARRYING VALUES AR {8
At 31 March R=A=+—8H 38,415 14

The carrying value of investment properties shown above

ER2JNNREMEREERR

COMPrises:
2010 2009
—E-FF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT ST I
Land in Hong Kong under medium-term lease 7 A& BRI P HEE
T b 14 14
Land outside Hong Kong under medium-term iz 14 % 78 LA Sh i [& K
lease REATE S + i 38,401 —
38,415 14
Note: At the end of the reporting period, an investment property of the Group Miek: R EHERRE  C2RBERNEETE

BMENBYEXGEMEASE AL
RPEENREMENGBAEER  AF
B ZIREMETARE ©

situated in the PRC has been impaired with reference to the valuation
estimated by the independent professional valuer not connected with the
Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

20. GOODWILL 20. HE
2010 2009
—E-FF —EETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
COST A& {E
At 1 April RO A—H 20,947 20,018
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary U B8 — R B B 2 B B
=X - 929
At 31 March R=RA=+—H 24,947 20,947
IMPAIRMENT B {E
At 1 April RMEA—A 20,947 20,018
Impairment loss recognised in the year (note) 7 4F A #& 72 K 8L B
&5 18 (Bt 5E) - 929
At 31 March R=RA=+—H 20,947 20,947
CARRYING VALUES BRE E
At 31 March R=RA=+—8H - —
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group recognised an WaE: 2T TNF=A=+—HLEFER "
impairment loss of HK$929,000 in relation to goodwill arising on the AEERAEKNBEIBEETHBMEZ2TE
acquisition of I 2 71 Bk [& 1k 2 T % 5 IR 2 & because the estimated ERARIFMEEMEBA@ANREEREE
recoverable amount was uncertain due to the impact of the economic #929,0007T * W IR E N E YRS
downturn to the manufacturing and sales of upstream chemical materials REETER EREIRBMERTE -
for industrial use. RIEFT AT E S RE IR THAEETE
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

21, HihEREE

Exploitation

Customer list rights Total
ERZE B BR 1 &5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
(note b)
(Fff 5 b)
COST A B
At 1 April 2008 RZZEZENFHA—H 5,650 1,763,975 1,769,625
Additions NE 9,500 — 9,500
Acquired on acquisition of FEBRWENE AR
subsidiaries JEER 40 389,924 389,964
At 1 April 2009 and 31 March 2010 R=ZZ L&MW A —H
;r—Z—=FF=H
=4=E 15,190 2,153,899 2,169,089
AMORTISATION AND 8 &R B
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2008 RZZEZNFHA—H 5,650 7,349 12,999
Charge for the year REE L — 102,009 102,009
Impairment loss recognised in R R 3R HY R (B 5 18
the year (note a) (Fff 5 a) 9,340 — 9,340
At 1 April 2009 RZZFEEZNFEMA—H 14,990 109,358 124,348
Charge for the year REE T 200 1,144 1,344
At 31 March 2010 RZZE—FF
=RA=+—H 15,190 110,502 125,692
CARRYING VALUES BRTE B
At 31 March 2010 RZZE—ZTF
=H=+H — 2,043,397 2,043,397
At 31 March 2009 RZZEZTNF
= F=F=I8 200 2,044,541 2,044,741
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 21. H{th S, & & (48)

Notes:

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group carried out reviews of
the recoverable amount of its customer list having regard to the changes
in market conditions, an impairment loss of HK$9,340,000 was
recognised in profit or loss for 2009.

Exploitation rights represent two rights for oil exploitation in the location
of Heilongjiang Province of the PRC expiring in 2027 and 2028
respectively, subject to renewal of licence by Qigihar Oil which expires on
31 August 2010.

Pursuant to an oil production sharing contract (“2007 PSC”)
entered into on 16 April 2007 between the Group and a PRC
incorporated oil exploitation and sales company, Qigihar Oil, to
develop and produce crude oil in certain parts of the Fu 710 and
Meilisi 723 districts in the Fulaerjiqu Oilfield, Qigihar City,
Heilongjiang Province, the PRC (the “Joint Development Zone”).
The Group and Qigihar Oil, the holder of the exploitation licence
for the Joint Development Zone, established an equity joint
venture, 7% 25 15 B ™ R b A B & A R & £ 2 & (“‘Qigihar
Northeast Qil”) on 25 May 2007, of which the registered capital is
US$6,450,000. Under the 2007 PSC, Qigighar Oil would provide
5% of the share capital and the exclusive rights to exploit oil in Fu
710 and Meilisi 723 Joint Development Zone to Qigihar Northeast
Qil for 20 years from 2007 to 2027. In return, Qigihar Oil receives
5% of the total oil revenue to be generated from the Joint
Development Zone. The Group is responsible for contributing all
the relevant capital expenditure for the exploitation business and
to bear all the operating costs involved. In return, the Group is
entitled to share all the profit after the deduction of the 5% of the
total oil revenue payable to Qigihar Oil mentioned above.

B &E :

BHE-_TTNAF=-A=+—HLFER "
AEBEERAEEFFZERNAKRE S
HOUERITAAE  R_TTAF
18 28 e SR 80 Rl (B S 18 /5 8 59,340,000

JC °

FIREER PR BEILAMERRA S
HEF - BARR T _LtFR=_FT=
NEEm(BEFEERRBEERTR -
—ZTENA=t+-—HERBZADE 7
AEE) -

0] REZTTLFMA+ARB A%
[ 52 75 75 S /0 B (7 A B o
BX S KO i B AR K 85 & A A]) AT
NABERAKER(EERE
R REBEBERTPEREL
EEERRTENBEEHENS
710%E [& K 15 B Hi723%% [& & T 20
A(HRBAZEE)RAEREER
o AEEEFHLRFEER
FHBRNEERBEAR-EZ
+tERA-tRBRZ—BERKRA
EECEBERRBM R A M
REREAARA(EERBRIL
Aol - B E A A6,450,000
ET -REBEVBEGR BE
BEHAEH-_TTLFREC
Tt FIE BT F BE
75 05 F R At A IR 5% R A &
KRBT RIE R H723HE F 5 % &
MEAMABRER - MEER
B8 e F B AT Uk B A R B B & P 1S
BHBKRARNSYS - AEEEEA
FREGREMBREEARY -
W BAEE SR A — YD AEE A
i 28 & B A = A A B _E i 7 7
W B9 M H AT G Al 1A B95%
BEFTAERF o
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21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

b. (continued)

(0

(continued)

The fair value of the exploitation right at 31 March 2010 and 2009
was estimated as RMB1,906,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,167,831,000) and RMB1,526,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,730,099,000) respectively. The valuation was carried out
by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited (‘LCH”"), an independent
firm of professional valuer not connected with the Group. The
agreed-upon procedures valuation report was prepared using
discount cash flow analysis and assuming that all key information
provided by the management which included reserve quantity,
feasibility of business plan, oil exploitation method is appropriate
and feasible without conduct further analysis in details. The
discount rate applied is 17.21% (2009: 14.5%) and the reserve
quantity is approximately 5,470,000 tonnes (2009: 3,300,000
tonnes) which is extracted directly from a technical report issued
by X B i B A [R & fF A 7] &) & 7 2 #f 55 B (“Daging Oilfield”) in
July 2010 (the “2010 Technical Report”). The reserve quantity
used in the valuation of the oil exploitation right as at 31 March
2009 is extracted with reference to a technical report issued by
Daging Oilfield in 2006.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-F-TF=A=+-ALFE

21, HihEREEE)

B (4%)

b. (48)

(#)

HEENATER-Z—ZFR
—EZNF=ZA=+—B2 R
=& A B #1,906,000,0007T (185
7% #2,167,831,0007T) & A R #&
1,526,000,0007C (18 & W & ¥
1,730,099,0007T) ° {H{EHE AR &
B EEENE L EEGEERMT
FEEITRIRE AR AR ([FBE1T))
EIT - KB ERFZEERSTY
FERESRENBA DL FHE

EEEBIREMLEETE S
BRAOMNBEEZER (BER
e BEETTERBAKRA
E)BEE RAIITmARE - BA
WHEAIT21% (ZZT TN F:
14.5%) + 1 #) /5,470,000 &9 &
f# = (=Z T A4 : 3,300,000/ )
TDEEREBABEHAERELA
AIEN AR ER (KERED
R —ZTFt BB 2 5 1ilT R
HE(ZZ—ZFERMHRED - B
ET A RFARER-_ZSZNEF
A=+ AZEENREE
TSR AEBRER-_TT A FH
2 TR S -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 21. H{th S, & & (48)

Notes: (continued) B e : (48D
b. (continued) b. (%8)
(i Pursuant to another oil production sharing contract (2008 PSC”) (i) AR IR AN £ (B B 7 7 0 R Uk [
entered into on 24 January 2008 between the Group and Qigihar —EEN\F-A-FTHEAFZH
Oil to form a joint development operation (the “New Joint E-—MABREESKAR
Development Operation”) to develop and produce crude oil in ([2008PSCl) - & 75 4 &k — 18 #
certain parts of the Fu 718 districts in the “New Joint R (HARREEL])
Development Zone”, Qigihar Oil, the holder of the exploitation VARREE R A EE AL [T FE[RIBA 3 2 |
licence for the New Joint Development Zone granted the rights to BT8R E E T &0 Rl o #F
exploit oil in the New Joint Development Zone to the New Joint B #7 Ak R B 3% [ R AR 0 PR 0 25
Development Operation for 20 years from 2008 to 2028. Details MEME ERMARRAEES
of this business combination are set out in note 37a. B # R R 2% (& A BROh %

ERBR_ZEENFE_FT N
FORA-—TF -BHULEBS
O 80 7 15 B 7B 5E37a ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-F-TF=A=+-ALFE

21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Notes: (continued)
b, (continued)
(i) (continued)

The fair value of the exploitation right at 31 March 2010 and 2009
was estimated as RMB358,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$407,179,000) and RMB348,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$394,544,000) respectively. The valuation was carried out by
LCH. The agreed-upon procedures valuation report was
prepared using discount cash flow analysis and assuming that all
key information provided by the management which included
reserve quantity, feasibility of business plan, oil exploitation
method is appropriate and feasible without conduct further
analysis in details. The discount rate applied is 19.21% (2009:
14.5%) and the reserve quantity is approximately 760,000 tonnes
(2009: 500,000 tonnes) which is extracted directly from the 2010
Technical Report issued by Daqing Oilfield. The reserve quantity
used in the valuation of the oil exploitation right as at 31 March
2009 is extracted with reference to a technical report issued by
Daging Oilfield in 2007.

During the year, the directors reviewed the amortisation method of oil exploitation
right and considered that there has been a significant change in the expected
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in such rights.
Accordingly, the amortisation method has been changed from the straight-line
method to the unit-of-production method.

The amortisation charge of the above exploitation rights for the year is disclosed
separately in the consolidated income statement.
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21. HthEREE (&)
B E: ()
b. ()
(ii) (#&)

HERENAFER=Z—ZTFR
—EZNF=ZA=+—B2 R
=t A& A B #358,000,0007T (18 &
R 7 #407,179,0007T) & A B #
348,000,0007t (1 & W & #
394,544,0007T) ° fk {8 i 7 5 17
ET - EHERFZEERSTD
FRASRENBEINTILMHRER

EEEIRE M AT P
BOMHMEBEEZEAR (BIER
e BEETTERBREA
EIBEERAITMER - #EA
I R B19.21% (Z T T N, F ¢
14.5%) + T # £&760,00018 K f# &
= (ZZ T N4 : 500,0000F) J5 &
EREAEHRBAEMRZ-_T—F
FRMHE - AEFTHAMARK
ER-_ZTHAFE=A=+—H2Z
BENFHES DH2BRAEHE
REZTTELFREMZ MRS -

RAFERN BEFEEMTORROEE A -
WRABN U E R FTEENEHERARLHR
REBESRTEREERE (L Ft - B
FHERERREMERE -

AEFALARENEHERERN G RER
FRE B
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 22 N—RIEEZEATINER

2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BT T

Cost of unlisted investment in an associate 7 — I H & A B &I IF

(note) EHEERNKANE
(Bt =) 72,704 —

Share of post-acquisition loss and other DIEWER EE R

comprehensive expense Hh2mEMAX (858) =
71,846 =

Note:

On 23 April 2009, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement in
relation to the acquisition of a 43% equity interest in Profit Success Industries
Limited (“Profit Success”), which directly holds a 100% interest in Dongguang
Licheng Trading Company Limited ( % 5 & 5% & 5 & R 2 &) (‘Dongguang
Licheng Trading”) and an 80% equity interest in Guizhou Rongfa Mining
Company Limited (& /1 &% % & % A BR 2 7)) (“Guizhou Rongfa Mining”), for an
aggregate consideration of HK$77,167,000 comprising payment in cash of
HK$22,222,000 and the issue of 238,889,000 shares which have a fair value of
HK$54,945,000 based on the share price of HK$0.23 at the date of acquisition.
Guizhou Rongfa Mining possesses an exploration right of vanadium mining in the
Xiaowujiang Yuging County Guizhou Province, the PRC.

On 4 August 2009, Lee Shing Mining Co., Ltd (“Lee Shing Mining”) was
incorporated in Hong Kong of which the Group injected HK$4,300 as capital and
holds 43% equity interest in it accordingly. Lee Shing Mining is an investment
holding company with 100% direct interest in Licheng Mining (Shenzhen)
Company Limited (F1 5% i 2£ (0% 2Il) B BR 2 &) (“Licheng Mining (Shenzhen)”).

As part of the restructuring, on 15 December 2009, Dongguang Licheng Trading
transferred 80% equity interest in Guizhou Rongfa Mining to Licheng Mining
(Shenzhen), this transaction does not have any financial impact to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

After the transfer, the Group disposed of its 43% equity interest in Profit Success
on 22 March 2010 for a consideration of HK$335. The carrying value of the net
assets of Profit Success attributable to the Group on the date of disposal
amounted to HK$4,467,000, resulting in a loss on disposal of an associate
amounting to HK$4,467,000 charged to profit or loss.

At the end of the reporting period, the fair value in respect of the exploration right
of vanadium mining held by Guizhou Rongfa Mining estimated by LCH is
RMB219,000,000 (equivalent to HK$249,090,000), which is in excess of the
carrying amount of HK$233,407,000. Accordingly, no impairment is considered
necessary.

o :

R-ZBZAEMA-_+=0 A&EEITZ—HE
B NAABERBEEERAR=FKES
ERARI(REFKE S 100%FE #wmRE
MEEBETE B BR A A ([E I 48 2% 1% % 1) 80% ik
AEZOMNKEXEERAA(RKEEDH
43% = BB BB ¥ET7,167,0007T © BIE B
IR & 7 IE 7B 22,222,000t M # 17238,889,000
BERHD MEBRMDORFEEBE
54,945,0007T J3 1B & 1 U B8 B 51 /9 AR 15 (B 18 8
023t E c EMAEBEREETFREMNE
BREZNSIHNCBREIRE -

RZZZNFNANAE  KEBE RN S S M
B 3 ) LeeShing Mining Co., Ltd. ([Lee Shing
Miningl) /£ & 7 #4,3007T » I A i1 5 A H43%
A ZN#E 25 © Lee Shing Mining Jb — I #& B4 I A
Al - ER AN KR ORI A R A E (F K&
% (FYND]) K9100% B B i 2 e

EREEN—HD RZZETNF+A+EA
S8 AR 5 5 B 2R B B 2R 9809 HE i o

EFARBEECRID - B ER 5 I 58 H AR B

EEMBRREXENYBEE -

BERE AEER-Z—TF=A=-+=AKN
75 53357 K A 1B & H R F Bk B % 1943% IR A
Hx REHEEAASEREFKNEEFEE
H BR T {8 40 5 75 #54,467,0007T + EBUH & — B
&N A/ B 18 78 ¥ 4,467,000T A 1B 2 W H0 Bk ©

RREHMARE AFSBITRE MBS EE
BFAENNSBHERGTNATEERAARE
219,000,0007T (18 5 7 7 #249,090,0007T) + &
BR T {8 8 H 75 #233,407,0007T ° H It * NEE
RABAELRE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)
Note: (continued)

Particulars of the Group’s associate as at 31 March 2010 and 2009 are set out
as follows:

22, R—REBEATIMER(E)

MizE: (&)
RIZB-—ZFER_ZFTNF=A=+—H £&
B —HEESARNFIERINAT

Name of associate Place of incorporation

Group equity interest

Proportion of

voting power held Principal activity

BEASZHE =F M B 3L 3 B FEEFAHNREER PRSI ERELL B EEEH
2010 2009 2010 2009
—F-FF —TTNGF ZF-FTEF —TTNF
Lee Shing Mining Co., Ltd. Hong Kong 43% 43% — Mining and exploitation of

Lee Shing Mining Co., Ltd. & &

vanadium

— ARRHFRASE

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s

AEEBERANMEENBEHT

associate is set out below: R
2010 2009
—E-FF —TTNF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BETT ok e
Total assets B E 244,812 -
Total liabilities weE (31,929) =
Net assets BEFE 212,883 —
Group’s share of net assets of associate AEBEEGEHE QT
BEFE 71,846 —
Revenue &= - —
Loss for the year KEEEBE 2,500 =
Other comprehensive expense Hih2mEAX 531 -
Group’s share of loss and other REEELEHE AR
comprehensive expense of associate NEEFE R EAM
for the year 2HAX 1,303 —
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

23. DEPOSITS PAID FOR A JOINTLY 23. ENfHEREHERENTS

CONTROLLED OPERATION

On 8 June 2009, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with the joint venturers and obtained a 51%
participating interest and 52.96% paying interest in Ksar
Hadada Permit for the oil and gas exploitation in Tunisia, under
which the Group shall pay to the joint venturers one pound
sterling and the direct and indirect costs of the work
programme under a production sharing contract (the “Work
Programme”) up to an amount of US$14,500,000. In the event
of any additional expenditure is required, the Group and the
joint venturers are responsible for such additional expenditure in
accordance with their paying interests. An escrow funding
agreement was then entered into for the setup of an escrow
funding account for the collection of the said deposit and the
payment for the Work Programme.

The oil exploitation activity in Tunisia is carried out under a
production sharing contract, and the output of the oil and gas
eligible for allocation will be based on an agreed methodology
and the corresponding participating interest of the Group and
the joint venturers which constitutes as a jointly controlled
operation.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, a total amount of
US$8,500,000 (equivalent to HK$65,905,000) has been placed
in the escrow funding account, and the balance at 31 March
2010 is US$6,901,000 (equivalent to HK$53,515,000). The
remaining balance of HK$46,500,000 (equivalent to
US$6,000,000) has been disclosed as the Group’s capital
commitment at the end of the reporting period.

RZZEZEAFNANR AEBBRE
ERHIY—MEEHH LRE
KsarHadada #F 7] 7 #951% 22 £ # 25 %
52.96% X (f#Ewm - At7E 2R B P dn s
THRHE  BHEASBAREGEH
SN—EEREESKARETHT
2 51 ([T 2 5 &1)) & %14,500,000
ETNEERIEEERA - HETE
EREINAL  IAEERSEERS
ARBEENINERBEB@AEIN
MY Y#EmMFII—HESEE RS
AR ST & 5T E R P LAUER £l 5T
&R TRRFTEIFIAE -

7 70 R FE 78 55 19 A P R R 15 0 IR B
ENKARETT - M AH D E A H
REENABENTET A RAK

HEZ-—ZTFE=F=1+—HItFE
A - /A 818,500,000 Tt (10 2 1A 4 &
65,905,00070) B £ BETFA Ll E
SHEEEP MR-ZE—ZTF=ZA=
+ — B 8 % % %6,901,0003% T (1 &
R #53,515,0007T) © 4 &k #4588 B
46,500,0007T (8 % #26,000,0002% 7T
ERFEHEERFREESAEEN
B A o
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

23. DEPOSITS PAID FOR A JOINTLY 23. ENfHEREHERNTS
CONTROLLED OPERATION (CONTINUED) (48)

At 31 March 2010, the aggregate amount of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in relation to the Group’s interest in the jointly

R-ZE-—ZTF=A=+—H  BEKE
B 70 LRI ) 36 7% A0 4 o A R 3 IR
EHMBHREINEE  AfF KA

controlled operation are as follows: M BENT:
HK$'000
BETF T
Property, plant and equipment (note) M~ BB R () 16,473
Accruals FEETIE B (6,388)
HK$'000
BETF T
Interest income FEKA 297
Administrative expenses 1T X (2,602)

Note: The amount represents solely the oil properties under construction at the

end of the reporting period.

24. DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF

HEE °

MiaE: MBEARRNREDMERFOEZR

24. EfBEBRHMEENTE

LONG-TERM ASSETS
2010 2009
—E—-FF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT 7S T
Deposit paid for acquisition of BENKREEFEN S
a business (note a) (M 5Ea) 4,966 -
Deposit paid for acquisition of BENKIBEERES
a target mining group (note b) " 5T (M 3ED) - 10,000
4,966 10,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

24. DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF
LONG-TERM ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

The Group paid an amount of HK$4,966,000 in December 2009 as an
initial deposit after signing a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) in
respect of the acquisition of 51% equity interest of Shenzhen Baohui Oil
Exploration Technology Consultancy Company Limited (% 3l 2 & 7 ji
B £% B i 75 59 A BR 2 A]) (“Shenzhen Baohui”), a company established
in the PRC engaged in the provision of oil exploration technology
consultancy service. Under the MOU, it is agreed that Easyrich Group
Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and Mr. Poon Sum, an executive director of the Company, will acquire
51% and 19% of the issued share capital of Shenzhen Baohui,
respectively. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a conditional
sales and purchase agreement dated 29 July 2010 has been entered into
in respect of this acquisition.

On 25 September 2008, the Group entered into a formal sale and
purchase agreement (“S&P agreement”) with an independent third party
for the acquisition of a 43% equity interest in a target group of companies
involved in the vanadium mining exploitation business in the PRC (“Mining
Acquisition”). The consideration for the mining acquisition was
HK$63,000,000. The Group paid an initial deposit of HK$10,000,000 in
cash upon signing the S&P agreement. The remaining amount payable
was divided into two parts of which HK$5,222,000 was settled in cash
on completion and HK$47,778,000 was satisfied by the issue of shares
by the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, a supplementary agreement was
signed between the Group and the independent third party with a
revision of the consideration from HK$63,000,000 to HK$70,000,000,
comprising cash consideration of HK$22,222,000 and the issue of
238,889,000 new ordinary shares at the contract price of HK$0.2, where
the fair value on the date of issue was HK$0.23. The consideration was
then adjusted to HK$77,167,000 for accounting purpose. The acquisition
was completed on 23 April 2009. The details of the acquisition are set
out in note 22.

o :

24. EfBEBRHMEENTTE

(&)

AEBEEABAAEKRBERINEER
MR M HAERAR(DRIIEE] -
— P8 A AP B B 37 3 A4 =B 4R A O B R AR
il ¥ &8 AR 75 B9 2 B]) 51% A% 2N #E 25 B9 R A2
Bo((RBEEREDE  R=2TTh
F+= BB 7% #4,966,0007T &) 5% B8 1E
BT  BEFRBEHESS  €HE
B ARRNEEZEEZENBRAREIES
HZERERAR RAARNITESER
EEK DR R BENDHTRA
51%K%19% - RREBERE - EH R
—Z—ZTFLtA-thERULBERES
B EGRHEE R -

RZZEZENFHLA=Z+THA  AEER
—EZBUE=AHRERERENSE
REEBS N B IZEE A F43% B A 2
(RBKRENIIERESHE(ES
mE) RBERBENREA BB
63,000,000 ° REBER 7 BE &
# S XA — £ 3 S % #10,000,0007T
WHE BTHENGSBEIARIES
% — 25 7 15,222, 0007 7 78 B B B A
£ B AR & X4 & B #47,778,0007T #5 A
RARBEITRMGHE A XA -

REE—Z-—ZE=-A=+—RHIFER "
NEBMEB Y FE=H R DT
& F % K {E B 78 #63,000,0007T A =
7 #70,000,0007c - BEHREEREBE
22,222,0007T & 12 & 4B 1§ 7 #0.27T &
77238,889,000 % # & i A% + ifn 7 BA L i
RN EITEHM A TEEEABE0.23TT -
RELEMRSTEEINMARE B
77,167,0007C - WIEEER=_ZTh &N
AZ+=HB%K - WEEAFBHI R
fzE22 o
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-F-TF=A=+-ALFE

25. INVENTORIES 25. BE

2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETIT BT I

Paints, blended solvents, chemical R RARE - (ET

materials and plastic colorants: R R BEE AR
Raw materials R 9,093 9,888
Work in progress & m 473 1,587
Finished goods 2K i 2,708 3,461
12,274 14,936

Crude oil: JR e

Consumable store SH A M 465 169
Crude oil in tank fih 8 R O 512 938
977 1,107
Properties held for trading BIEBEEWH 7,782 16,582
21,033 32,625
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

26. BE5 RHEMEYKRIE

The following is an analysis of trade and other receivables at the R EAERE - 5 R E A &Y K
end of the reporting period: HRDHTAT
2010 2009
—E—-FF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFIT BT T
Trade receivables 2 5 e WK IE 64,269 75,744
Less: allowance for doubtful debts B R BREAE (6,132) (7176)
58,137 68,568
Bills receivable e U 2= 4% 2,326 6,172
Other receivables, deposits and Hh W RIE ~ 5l Kk
prepayments (note a) a1+ 5k 3B (it 5T a) 72,984 52,885
Less: allowance for doubtful debts B RERBE (16,300) (6,266)
56,684 47,619
117,147 122,359
Less: non-current other receivables (note b) 3l = FE 7 Eh £ th fE Uk
KA (M 3EDb) - (9,409
117,147 112,950

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal
credit assessment system to assess the potential customer’s
credit quality and defines credit limits by customer and
considers adequate allowance has been made at the end of the
reporting period. Balances which are neither past due nor
impaired are all with good historical repayment records and
good credit quality.

ERMNEMHEPH  AKERBA
MEEFHRGAFHEETPNE
BEE  WEFENEFPOEERE
URRBREREREEEET RN E
e WEBAMTERENEHROES
REMNBEERLERABRIERE
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HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26. E5 R Hith FEU R IE (48)
(CONTINUED)
Trade receivables and bills receivable are due within 30 to 90 B REWRTE R EWE BRI E %
days (2009: 30 to 90 days) from the date of invoicing or billing. EHHEF=FTHEEATH(CZCZZ A
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables and bills F:Z+HZEATB)REIE - RIS
receivable net of impairment presented based on the invoice HFARE  BEZFEHHRESEAR
date and date of the bills at the end of the reporting period: HIZ2 5|02 5 e W kI8 K R R 1% (10
BRIRE) R ERER DT T
Aged analysis of trade receivables net of B 5 FE W FR I8 (F0BR B {H) 1Y AR R
impairment 5
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEFT BT
Less than 1 month TR—1EA 23,355 25,866
1 month to 3 months —EBAZE=EA 15,782 16,471
More than 3 months but less than 1 year BRE=EAETE—F 15,821 20,550
Over 1 year 8 iR — 3,179 5,681
58,137 68,568
Aged analysis of bills receivable net of impairment FEWE S (JOPR R (B) BV BR &8 0 4
2010 2009
—E-FF —TThF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT ST
Less than 1 month Tre—1EA 2,326 1,453
1 month to 3 months —@Az=1@A - 3,687
More than 3 months but less than 1 year HEE=EAETE—F - 1,032
2,326 6,172
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HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26.

(CONTINUED)

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts on
trade receivables

BESREBEKRIER)

BoSRKRIERRBHEHES

2010 2009
—E—-FF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
At 1 April KU A—H 7,176 7,290
Impairment losses recognised BRI A E 18 8,391 6,058
Amount written off as uncollectible 1 58 A A UL B /Y
| - (6,058)
Elimination on disposal of subsidiaries S B B 2 ) B A6 (9,445) —
Impairment loss reversed B EREEE - (2793)
Exchange realignment e H 10 159
At 31 March R=A=+—H 6,132 7176
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts on HibrEKHERIREEHENES
other receivables
2010 2009
—E—-FF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
At 1 April REA—H 5,266 —
Impairment losses recognised ERBEERE 13,703 5,261
Amount written off as uncollectible 58 A X UL B /Y
Gk (2,652) —
Exchange realignment bE W B (17) 5
At 31 March R=A=+—H 16,300 5,266

At 31 March 2010, the Group’s trade receivables and other
receivables of HK$6,132,000 and HK$16,300,000 (2009:
HK$7,176,000 and HK$5,266,000) respectively were individually
determined to be impaired. The individually impaired receivables
related to customers that were in financial difficulties and
management assessed that only a portion of the receivables is
expected to be recovered.

R-E—ZTF=A=1+—H A&EH
") B2 5 FE IR 5k I8 & E b W SR IE 5 Bl
5 7% #6,132,0007T & 74 #16,300,000
T (ZZEZNF : B #7176,0007T K 7S
¥ 5,266,0007T) EE IR E AEIRE -
18 51 2, 781 (B & U 5% 18 B T 3 B K PR 3
MEFEHE MEEREETEREZ
2 FE W SR I TR BB AT A ] o
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26. E5 R Hith FEU R IE (48)
(CONTINUED)
Aged analysis of trade receivables which are past CEHELRABENESEIR
due but not impaired TH B BR &8 5 #7
2010 2009
—E—-FF —EThF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT ok
Less than 1 month ™2 —1&E A 12,401 10,997
1 month to 3 months —EBAZE=M@EHA 3,140 16,552
More than 3 months but less than 1 year HEE=EAETE—F 1,626 8,748
Over 1 year Bid—F 167 5,411
17,334 41,708
Aged analysis of bills receivable which are past due EEHELRBEMHERERD
but not impaired AR & o 47
2010 2009
—ET-FF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT PR T
Less than 1 month TR—MEA - 3,445
1 month to 3 months —@AE=@A - 33
More than 3 months but less than 1 year BRA=EAENE—F - 1,030
- 4,508
Included in the Group’s trade receivables and bills receivable HARNEBRZESEKFER EKREE
balance are debtors and bills with a carrying amount of BWREDEBMEDJ A B K
HK$17,834,000 and nil (2009: HK$41,708,000 and 17,334,000t R EH E W R K R &
HK$4,508,000) respectively, which are past due at the end of ZZT TN F B 41,708,000t K B
the reporting period for which the Company has not provided #4,508,0007T) ° #% & 7 I8 1A R & A
for any impairment as there has not been a significant change HERECEH  BEARNEEERLE
in credit quality and the amounts are still considered BEAEE  MZERENER BB
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these U E - E bt AR E IR 5 AR E
balances. TR o ANEE W R AR

BEMER®D -
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HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26. B R HEMEWKIRIEE)

(CONTINUED)

At 31 March 2010, the Group’s trade and other receivable with
an aggregate carrying value of HK$34,482,000 (2009:
HK$34,322,000) were pledged to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group.

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, other
receivables and bills receivable, the Company considers any
change in their credit qualities from the date credit was initially
granted up to the reporting date. The Group assessed the
credit quality of trade receivables, other receivables and bills
receivable based on historical default rates and the repayment
records and considered adequate allowance has been made at
the end of the reporting period. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Other receivables are repayable on demand and the
management considers that they will be recovered in one year
from the date of advance.

Notes:

(@) Included in other receivable, deposits and prepayment as at 31 March
2010 are two promissory notes totalling HK$25,000,000, representing
the consideration receivables from the buyers in relation to the disposal
of its wholly owned subsidiaries, Win Profit (Asia Pacific) Company
Limited (“Win Profit”) which directly held entire equity interest of
Zhongshan Wing Shing Chemical Company Limited (“Zhongshan Wing
Shing”). One of the buyers is Mr. Poon Sau Tin, a related party of the
Company, and HK$15,000,000 out of the total promissory notes of
HK$25,000,000 is issued by him. Upon completion, Win Profit was
beneficially owned as to 60% by Mr. Poon Sau Tin.

R-E—ZTE=A=1+—H A&EH
BR B 488 4 78 #34,482,000T (=2 &
N 75 #534,322,0007T) K B 5 K& &
fth FEUR R IEE /B - ISR T A
EEMRITEE -

RETEESRYG - i EUKRIER
EWMRBENAIREIRE  ARAHE
BREREBEARTEEERREERS
BN ERERNEMEL - K&
BREBERAREREELENGE
Z MWK - ol 8 U R IR K B I R iR

EFEAENEE AEELERZE
‘BB AEMERR -

AREERRZFRRANBREEER
I B R BKAYETF —FRKE -

GEE

@) R-ZE—ZTF=A=+—AMEMBEK
KB e RENKERENELES
#£25,000,0007T & & X E & - Bl A R
EH2EMBARIKEF(BER)ERA
Al (CREFID(EE#F AP L mkKE
TAHBAR (TR LKA B2 PR ER)
MEETEKHRE - Eh—REH A
AARMBEEALESHAE  MBK
25,000,000 I FT B A& K R B 6 B 8
#15,000,0007T J5 3 1T T & S H % £ -
R FEAEE - KB F #I60% # 45 % 5 B
EEBRHES °
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

168

Notes: (continued)

(@)

(continued)

The promissory note receivable from the related party disclosed pursuant
to section 161B of the Companies Ordinance are as follows:

26. B5 R H it EWRIE(E)

BfaE - ()

(@)

(%)

1R 1% 2 B 16 ) 551618 {6k 4% B2 A9 8 U B 2
ALAGEERMT :

Maximum

amount

Balance at Balance at outstanding

Related party 31.3.2010 1.4.2009 during the year
R-T-—%& R-FThE

=A=+—H MA—B FhEKEED

FAEAL Y 4 8% Y 4 8% RESH

HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000

BET T BET T BET T

Mr. Poon Sau Tin BREEE 15,000 - 15,000

The amounts are interest-free, repayable within twelve months after the
end of the reporting period and secured by the grant of the option to sell
the equity interests in the subsidiaries which have been disposed of from
the buyers. Details of the disposal of the subsidiaries are set out in note
39.

The amount in last year included part of the receivables from the disposal
of B EIEMBERBERAR (VBB EIE") and R & EIEH A MK
fir BR %5 B BR A 7] (3R 4 = JIB”). The amount of HK$5,742,000 would be
paid by two installments of HK$2,871,000 till 2011. However, the
outstanding amount of HK$5,742,000 had been fully written off in the
current year as the directors considered that the recoverability was in
doubt because the debtor was under severe financial difficulties and
failed to make the repayment in accordance with the agreed repayment
schedule.

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
PERRRIERARAT

ZEFIARR B R AR R E MR A RE
ToEAREE  YHEHAREH
EMBARRAE RN R LR EERE
oo S B QR A RS SR
39 -

A—FENSERERELEEESER
MEREAERAR(ERSSE]) R R &
EIEMEABMBEMREER AR ([RE
EE]) & 365 FE W 5K IE o A 5,742,000
JC H) 3R I 18 2 LA 7 #62,871,0007T 2 W HA
BEE-T—— X AW mAXH
KO 7K T8 7 16 5,742,0007T B R AN E B 8
WsE - Ty A E RS A YR = B R
RARGERBERENENFERIMNER
ME SR AW E FKIE AT AL T 5 -
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27. HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 27. HAEEERSA
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
Equity securities held-for-trading: BEIEEEREAES
— listed in Hong Kong —RBEAE™M 29,863 15,936
— listed outside Hong Kong — RBEBUIMNEE
W 3,471 1,784
33,334 17,720
The held-for-trading investments are stated at fair value at the RIPEHERE  SEEESNERE
end of the reporting period. The fair values of listed equity TR N EYEE - EHRRAZTSH A
securities are determined by reference to the bid prices on the FED2BHBESZSTNE AB
relevant stock exchanges. METE °

28. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 28. TESRTAR

2010 2009
—T-%F —ETNF
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
&aE BfE& BE af&

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
ERTT AR BT T BT T

Derivative financial REEEEN
instruments held for PTHE € Bl
trading: TH:
Interest rate swaps (note a) Al R iz Hi
(Kt &xa) 866 2,197 - 568
Foreign currency forward HNEERERE A
contracts (note b) (Pt 3EDb) 448 2,349 = =
Fuel options (note c) 1R e HA A
(Kt &Ec) 4 5,957 30,385 93,727
1,318 10,503 30,385 94,295
Warrants (note d) 7 AR T 7
(Kt &) - 59,913 — —
1,318 70,416 30,385 94,295
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28. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 28. FTEEMTI AR

(CONTINUED)
The fair values of interest rate swaps, foreign currency forward R ESHARAERE - FIXREH - HNE
contracts and fuel options at the end of reporting periods are RHEARMAEHAEN R FEBESH
provided by the counterparty banks, while the fair value of BFEHRITRME - ERREZNHLF
warrants is determined by an independent valuer using the EEABBGEMEBEaHBET
Black-Scholes option pricing model. BRAEE -
Notes: Bt &
(@) Interest rate swaps (@) FEEH
The Group uses interest rate swaps to minimise its exposure to cash flow AEBERANREHEERIEEYHY
interest rate risk of its variable-rate Hong Kong dollar bank borrowings FEBEBRITEENRESTEMNEARK
(see note 31) by swapping a proportion of the variable-rate bank (RME3) - AR R FE SR
borrowings from variable interest rates to fixed interest rates of 1.5% and 1718 B 1% 2 ) 3 8 51.5% K% 2.0% 8
2.0%. The interest rate swaps and the corresponding bank borrowings EFE o Fl =i HAREERITEE R
have substantially the same terms. LB ERER -
The major terms of the interest rate swap contracts which will mature AR ESHEERET R AFARE (=
within five years (2009: nil) from the end of the reporting period are set ZTNF: E)NAERHEHEBZER
out below: 5T
Notional amount Maturity Swaps
BRLHE B 8
HK$000
BT
20,000 2 December 2011 From HIBOR to fixed rate
—T——&+=-A=H REBRTAFEFREEEEE SR
10,000 4 September 2012 From HIBOR to fixed rate
—ZE——FAAMA REBBRTREFRSHEEZETE B8R
10,000 17 August 2012 From HIBOR to fixed rate
—E——FNAt++tA8 REBBRTREFRSHEZEE SR
50,000 14 April 2014 From HIBOR to fixed rate
—E-HEWA+TMEA REBRTAEFREEZE T ER
90,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

28. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 28. FTEEMTI AR
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued) B ek - (88)

(b) Foreign currency forward contracts (b) IEEHREH
The major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts which will AR ESHEERET R =FANEH(=
mature within three years (2009: one year) from the end of the reporting TENF: —F)NIINEEHENEER
period are set out below: REFIT :
For the year ended 31 March 2010 HBE—F—FE=H=1+—HIFE

Leveraged notional

Notional amount amount Maturity Particulars
EEEHE FHRBzERSE IHA B
3 contracts with 3 contracts with Contract with notional amount of US$1,200,000 and leveraged (i)
US$2,900,000 US$8,700,000 notional amount of US$3,600,000 on 27 June 2011
in total in total
4 512,900,000 458,700,000kt 2 %% £ ¥ A1,200,000% 7T & B # # % & € 56 43,600,000
ETLZIMEH 3B ER ELZAERNR_ZE——FRA=ZT++H

Contract with notional amount of US$500,000 and leveraged
notional amount of US$1,500,000 on 26 October 2011

% % & %8 /500,000 7t & B # 1 & & £ ¥ &1,500,000
ELZ2ANN-_E——&F+A=-+A

Contract with notional amount of US$1,200,000 and leveraged
notional amount of US$3,600,000 on 26 January 2012

% % & %8 /1,200,000 7t K& B 1 & & £ %8 /53,600,000
ENZEHAR=_FT——F—A=+H

3 contracts with N/A Contract with notional amount of US$4,500,000 on (i)
US$9,250,000 1 December 2011
in total

A519,250,000% Tty TEA EHELFERA500000X TZERINR_TE——F+=-A—H
3N E#H

Contract with notional amount of US$2,250,000 on
21 August 2012
BESFER225000E T ZAEHNNR_T—=—F N \NA=+—H

Contract with notional amount of US$2,250,000 on
31 August 2012
HZESER225000ETZ2ANR_E——FN\NA=1+—H

1 contract with N/A 18 March 2011 (iif)
US$800,000

800,000k T 21 &4 T#EA —T——%=A+N\A

1 contract with N/A 4 August 2011 (iv)
US$1,000,000

1,000,000% 7T 2 i A —Z——4%)/\AWmH
1AL

1 contract with N/A 22 October 2010 (v)
US$1,000,000

1,000,000 7t 2 T A —E-ZEETHA-+T=H
1PAER

Annual Report 2009-2010
—sznrz-%-%58 1/




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& M| R M

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

28. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

172

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Foreign currency forward contracts (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2009

28.

TTHE2MTIAE)

BfaE - ()

(b) SMEEHELER)

BE_FEAEZA=+—HILFE

Notional amount Maturity Particulars
EEEH FH B H1E
1 contract with HK$23,400,000 18 January 2010 (vi)
78 #523,400,0007T Z 113 & 4 —E-ZEF—A+N\H

2 contracts with HK$42,900,000 Contract with notional amount of HK$19,500,000 on 30 September 2009 and (vii)

in total
A 515 %42,900,0007T 2 213 & 4

notional amount of HK$23,400,000 on 9 October 2009
ZEESERABM19500000TZENR_EZNFNA=ZTEREERSTEA

7 #523,400,000t 2 &N =TT AF+ANA

(i)

(i)

At each settlement date, the Group will pay the leveraged
notional amount multiplied by pre-determined exchange rates if
spot rate is higher than the upper strike of 7.85 or lower than the
lower strike of 7.75 HK dollar to each US dollar, while the Group
will receive the relevant leveraged notional amount in HK dollar.

Alternatively, the Group will pay the notional amount multiplied by
a pre-determined exchange rate if the spot rate is within the
upper band between 7.8 to 7.85 HK dollar to each US dollar or
another pre-determined exchange rate if the spot rate is within
the lower band between 7.75 to 7.8 HK dollar to each US dollar,
while the Group will receive the relevant notional amount in HK
dollar. The settlement amount between the Group and the
counterparty is determined on a net settlement basis.

At each settlement date, the Group will pay the net amount in US
dollar to the counterparty if the spot rate is higher than the strike
rate. The Group will not pay and receive if the spot rate is lower
than the strike rate, ranged from 6.90 to 7.5 RMB to each US
dollar.

At each settlement date, the Group will pay the net amount in US
dollar to the counterparty if the spot rate is higher than the
forward rate of 6.9 RMB to each US dollar. The Group will receive
the net amount in US dollar from the counterparty if the spot rate
is between the knock-out rate of 6.795 and the forward rate of 6.9
RMB to each US dollar. The amount to be received or paid by the
Group is determined by the notional amount multiplied by the
difference between the spot rate and the forward rate. The Group
will not pay or receive in all other cases.

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
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(i)

(ii)

NEBREER  HREESRE
KX A BTS2 ERITEE
SRR BT 7572 TIRTTHEME -
BIAR S BN AEREESH
I LA TR S5 1 E BE R - T A 5
LA KRR E R B R 5 -

o WBEEBNFEET LS
¥7.827.857C 2 £ R @ fE ok fis 3R
BEENTEETRAEE775%7.8
T2 TRER @ BIAREE KM
NEAEESBERASTEBRA
T e E R - A B G
WWmIEEEESE - A5EH
HFHZHENEELBEIRFE
HEEEBET -

REBELAER  MWEEESNTT
FEE AIAREEFREFH M
EILFE - WREBERITEE
B T8 E T ARK6.90E7.5
7T Bl ARE BT g 5 RIER
EA&5E -

REBELER  MWEEESRE
ELHAREGOTAEEE - A
REEBREFH ZAETFERE -
WEEENTEETHARE
6.7957T B BUH B & A R #6.97C
WERHE AIRNEEEREFH
W ER 35 7T 5 2B o AN 5 B 15 R R sk
TS BEIABESERENR
EERRHECEANES A&
BT gRAEEMERT M
BT & 58 °
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

28. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Foreign currency forward contracts (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 (continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

At each settlement date, the Group will pay the net amount,
determined by the notional amount multiplied by the difference
between the spot rate and the upper boundary rate of 6.85 RMB
to each US dollar, in US dollar to the counterparty if the spot rate
is higher than the upper boundary rate. The Group will receive
US$4,000 if the spot rate is between the lower boundary rate of
6.65 RMB to each US dollar and the upper boundary rate. The
Group will not pay and receive in all other case.

At each settlement date, the Group will pay the net amount in US
dollar to the counterparty if the spot rate is higher than the strike
rate of 6.882 RMB to each US dollar. The Group will receive the
net amount in US dollar from the counterparty if the spot rate is
between the knock-out rate of 6.8 and the strike rate of 6.882
RMB to each US dollar. The amount to be received or paid by the
Group is determined by the notional amount multiplied by the
difference between the spot rate and the strike rate. The Group
will not pay or receive in all other cases.

At each settlement date, the Group will pay the notional amount
multiplied by a pre-determined exchange rate if the spot rate is
within the upper band between 7.11 to 7.6569 RMB dollar to each
US dollar or another pre-determined exchange rate if the spot
rate is within the lower band between 6.563 to 7.6569 HK dollar
to each US dollar, while will receive the relevant notional amount
in HK dollar. The settlement amount between the Group and the
counterparty is determined on a net settlement basis.

At each settlement date, the Group will pay the net amount,
determined by the notional amount multiplied by the difference
between the spot rate and upper strike rate of 7.157 RMB to each
US dollar, in US dollar to the counterparty if the spot rate is higher
than the lower strike rate. The Group will receive US$10,000 if the
spot rate is between the higher upper trigger rate of 6.6433 RMB
to each US dollar and the upper boundary rate. The Group will
not pay and receive in all other case.

BfaE - ()

28. FTEZRITH(E)

IVEEME L (E)

BE—FEANEZA=+—HILFE

(4%)

()

(vi)

(i

REBESER  HMREESKL
REEE AAKEHAYFS
SINETFE SEREBELE
FEAREESR FREEESET
HARK6.85TTZHMEREE
R EEERGETHEARK6.65
T TREEER LRGEE -
RBI A< % [ % 1 ER4,0003€ 7T © A&
BB TERMEEMIBER T M
RBUE A & 58 ©

REBEELER  NEEESRE
ETLHARK6.882TTHTTHE
AAEEBmEF L ZMHETF
B WMBEEBNTEETHAAR
¥6.87T K EUH B k A R #6.882
TTRIITEE  AIRNEE A YEF
J5 W ER ZE TTIF AR o AN & B AR
LIS EIIARE S FRN
REBHRTFEEZMANES - K
SEETERAMEEMBERTX
GEL GRS

REBEELER  MEEENTE
ETHARBINTEARYE
7.65697T < MR [E sk i 3R & (B
N T & E xR RSB K6563F
7.65697C 2 K9 TN PR & + B &
SEEINUEESERNASH
BRNBLEEER mMASE
HEABEIBAEEEESE - X
SEEAHFHZEANEESET
REFBEGEEEELBE -

REELEER  MREERRT
RITERE - AAEBEGRYFH
YRHETFE 2EALEESE
FABREER FRITEBETET
HARBTAST T2 FIWEFREE ©
WEEENTEETREARE
6.64337T A fif 2% 8 B2 |- R &1 B (B
WEmEE B ASE B KR
10,000 7T - N B T R FT
B EME R T X RKEE @&
gg °
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

28. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 28. fT£ €8 T & (&)

(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued) B ek - (88)

(c) Fuel options (c) MRimHEAHE
The major terms of the fuel options contracts which will mature within BRBEHEERET —ZEREAC
one to two months (2009: one to two years) from the end of the reporting TENF: —EMF) BN AEES
period are set out below: HEBERREFNAT :
For the year ended 31 March 2010 BE-—F—FE=ZF=1+—HIFE
Commodity swap leE2-

Notional amount in barrel

Remaining notional amount in barrel per month Maturity Particulars
BRTEERY BRAEAERWEY FHA A H1E
27,500 barrels 12,500 to 20,000 barrels 30 April 2010 (i)
27,5007 12,500% 20,0007 —T-TFMA=1H
Commodity cap A LR
Notional amount in barrel Maturity Particulars
EREH FHA 3
2 contracts with 12,500 barrels in total 30 April 2010 (ii)

& 5H12,5001 89217 & 49

—T-THEPMA[=+H

Zero-cost collar FAL KB A

Notional amount in barrel Maturity Particulars
EHREY FHBE 3
25,000 barrels for the cap at a ceiling price per 30 April 2010 (iif)

barrel and 12,500 barrels for the floor at a floor
price per barrel

ZEHRERER LR EE25000M&XESHE TR
BT MR EE12,5001%

—F-FEMA=1A
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

28. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

Fuel options (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2009

28. FTEZRITH(E)

B : (%)
(c) RidmEAHE(E)

BE—FEANEZA=+—HILFE

Commodity swap 2 dn 12

Notional amount in
Remaining notional amount in barrel barrel per month Maturity Particulars
BRTaHEMY BREEWEN A B
735,000 barrels 12,500 to 20,000 barrels 30 April 2010 (i)

735,00018 12,500Z 20,0004/

“E-THEPNA=+A

(i

(i)

At each monthly settlement date, the Group will pay the
counterparty an agreed price for each barrel of oil for the
contracted notional quantity, while the Group will receive the
corresponding barrel of oil at the average official oil settlement
price per barrel published by the Intercontinental Exchange (the
“ICE”) Futures Europe during the calculation period. The
settlement amount between the Group and the counterparty is
determined in money term and on a net settlement basis.

On the settlement date, the Group will pay the counterparty an
agreed price for each barrel of oil for the contracted notional
quantity, while the Group will receive the corresponding barrel of
oil at the average official oil settlement price per barrel published
by the ICE Futures Europe during the calculation period. The
settlement amount between the Group and the counterparty is
determined in money term and on a net settlement basis.

On the settlement date, the Group will sell 25,000 barrels of oil to
the counterparty at a ceiling price per barrel if the average official
oil settlement price per barrel published by the ICE Futures
Europe during the calculation period exceeds that ceiling price.
Alternatively, the Group will buy 12,500 barrels of oil from the
counterparty at a floor price per barrel if the official oil settlement
price published by the ICE Futures Europe is below that ceiling
price. The Group will not buy and sell oil from and to the
counterparty in all other cases. The settlement amount between
the Group and the counterparty is determined in money term and
on a net settlement basis.

(i) REANEER  AEEREH®
BRINMAEHE A EHAMH
R FH N #EENER - ER
SERSRAERRARMNER
S (ICEDRNBAE R EN SR
B FH B 77 A8 F B UCEUE 1R
BB H AKBEEEFHZH
MEESREDRERGRREE
FHEELETE -

(ii) NEEH  AEEHEREFTHD
MEZEBE ERAAMETF
T XASHEEMER  EAREE
BRI EHHEABICERMNAE
TENERABTFHENEERE
WERAR FE AR BN E B o AN SR [ £
HFTCRNGEESEDRER
GRREEFEELEBTE °

(iii) REEE MRFEHMERB
ICER M H3 & FI & 0 & 48 A )d F
HEHEEERBERN LRE -
AlAEEESR%Z ERERYF
75 i 5525,0001% A A © LA 0 i
HICERRMBETIZ/ME H AH
HEEENSHOHLRE AKX
SEBESREROTREREF
75 B8 A12,50018 A H © AN & E i§
TERMEEMBER TREFA
BARAYFALERAR - AE
EHEHFHCENEESE K
EBGERREEFEEERTE -
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28. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

176

Notes: (continued)

(d)

Warrants

On 20 May 2009, the Company had issued 77,000,000 non-listed
warrants, each entitled the holder thereof to subscribe for one new share
at the subscription price of HK$0.45 at any time during a period of
twenty-one months commencing from the date of issue of the warrants.

The fair value of the warrants classified as derivative financial instruments
were calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The
inputs into the model on date of grant (i.e. 20 May 2009) and at the end
of the reporting period were as follows:

28. FTEZRITH(E)

BfaE - ()
d) ER#ES

R-BZHAERA-—TH  ARFRDHE
177,000,000 IE LT R EFE - B 1H
RREFORBEALEERBITRARE
FBRBES -+ —ERAHMEA - BERIR
REEBB0LTRE —RIKH -

DRRITESRTANBREZEATE
BENRAEFAEEEEAFE - R
HEHEA—ZZAFAA=-_TRIRR
BEHNRERENEXNEBERNT :

Exercise Expected Expected Risk-free
Date Share price price volatility Option life dividend yield interest rate
kB 5 2 b
H#A & 4 B 1% TEE TEHRE HEEY Wi 25 2 &
HK$ HKS$
B I ol
20 May 2009 0.53 0.45 104.30% 21 months — 0.44%
—EThAFRAZ-TH 2118 A
31 March 2010 1.33 0.45 89.87% 14 months — 0.19%
—T—TF=HA=+—H 1418 A

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the
Company'’s share price over the expected life of the option. The expected
life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

29. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 29. RITHBRRIRE
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period REMEHRERE  RekREFEE
can be analysed as follows: BRI T :
2010 2009
—T-2F ZETRF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT TT
Cash at banks and on hand RITERRFHERS 392,373 29,003
Short-term bank deposits with financial TR 2 EED
institutions RHRITER 852 1,582
393,225 30,585
Bank balances and cash comprise short-term bank deposits RITEB RIS BIEIREITEHE AR
carrying interest at prevailing deposit rates which range from R0.01% £0.8% (ZZF Z L F: 0.01%
0.01% to 0.8% (2009: 0.01% to 0.6%) per annum. Z£0.6%) st SR EHARITIF K ©
30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. B 5 & H fth FE £ R IE

The following is an analysis of trade and other payables at the
end of the reporting date:

R EMBRE - B RAEENR

HH AT

2010 2009
—E-FF —ZEENEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Trade payables B S RIE 12,710 11,968
Bills payable FET =% 33,744 39,164
Other payables and accruals H A & IR K&
FEEtIER 44,313 28,698
Amount due to a non-controlling interest JE {5 — 18 FE 2= ) 1
(note) 8 2 7k 38 (P 5F) - 8,928
90,767 88,758
Note: The amount due to a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary was Mier: XFEMN—EKHBARMN—EIEZEGH T

unsecured, interest-free and had no fixed term of repayment. The amount
was settled during the year.

BERADBEER REREETEE
R - ZEREERAFERBN -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. E5 R Hith FEfFRIE (1)
(CONTINUED)
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables and bills R EHERE  BEZZEAHEE
payable presented based on the invoice date and date of the ERBHEINNZESRNTRERENE
bills at the end of the reporting period: BHRROTIT :
Aged analysis of trade payables B 5 e R IE B RE 5 7
2010 2009
—E—-FF —ZETHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR ok e
Less than 1 month e—1EA 8,510 6,214
1 month to 3 months —EAZE=1EA 998 2,994
More than 3 months but less than 1 year BR=EABRTRE—F 549 2,760
Over 1 year BiE—F 2,653 =
12,710 11,968
Aged analysis of bills payable FEERBIRE D
2010 2009
—E—-FF —EENF
HK$°000 HK$’000
EETR ke e
Less than 1 month TE—1EA - 39,164
1 month to 3 months —@AE=@A 33,744 -
33,744 39,164
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

31. BANK BORROWINGS 31. RITIEE
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR &M T I
Secured FER i 93,369 72,090
Carrying amount repayable: EEEREE
Within one year —F A 24,615 16,567
More than one year, but not exceeding —FLAE - BTHEA
two years M 24,494 13,863
More than two years, but not exceeding MEA E - BT R
five years Fak:= 44,260 40,020
More than five years AFE - 1,640
93,369 72,090

Less: Amounts due within one year shown BoREBBEE TN —F

under current liabilities M EI| R /9 51 I8 (24,615) (16,567)

68,754 55,523
The amounts include fixed-rate bank borrowings of HK$875,000 BIE & FE M R R 1718 B A #875,0007T
(2009: HK$17,684,000) which carry interest at average fixed (ZZEZTNF : B %17,684,0007T) B &
rate of 2.5% (2009: 5.65%) per annum and variable-rate B FHETEFHNE25% (ZEF N
borrowings of HK$92,494,000 (2009: HK$54,406,000) which & : 5.65%) 5T/ ¢ 1M B #92,494,0007T
carry effective interest rate at 2.11% (2009: 2.84%) per annum ZETNF  B154,406,0007T) #Y)F
and contractual interest at HIBOR plus certain basis points per BEERIZ211% (ZZZ /6 : 2.84%)
annum. The borrowings are repayable by instalments or in a LEBRITRZERE NG TEAKREG
lump sum payment upon maturity in accordance with the terms EEERFERNE - RIBHRADHEREK
set out in the respective banking facility letters. All of the bank REIEAR —FR XN EE S BIE
borrowings are secured by the Group’s assets in both years as REMFBRITEEREF - FTERTT
detailed in note 42. BEEURMEAANRNEEEEERE

- BN K T2 o
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31.

32.

180

e == Ell S

BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

In respect of the banking facility with utilised balance of
HK$93,369,000 as at 31 March 2010, the Group was unable to
meet the required interest coverage ratio stipulated under the
respective facility agreement. On discovery of this issue, the
directors had informed the bank and commenced a renegotiation
of the terms of the underlying facility agreement. The negotiation
had been concluded and the bank had confirmed that it had
waived the Group’s non-compliance in respect of the required
interest coverage ratio as at 31 March 2010. Accordingly, the
directors consider that the Group as at 31 March 2010 has an
unconditional right to make the repayment with reference to the
repayment schedule as stipulated under the original facility
agreement. No reclassification of any non-current portion of the
bank borrowings to current liabilities is made accordingly.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 4 July 2007, the Group issued convertible bonds
denominated in HK$ of 200,000,000 (the “Bonds”) with maturity
date on 3 July 2012. The Bonds were early redeemed in full in
2009. The bonds beared interest at 0.5% per annum and were
unsecured.

The principal terms of the Bonds are as follows:

(

) Conversion rights are exercisable at any time between 18
July 2007 to 18 June 2012.

(i)  The holders of the Bonds are entitled to convert the
Bonds into ordinary shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$0.7873 per each ordinary share.

(i) If any of the Bonds have not been converted, they will be
redeemed on the maturity date at 128.33% of the
outstanding principal amount of the Bonds.

(iv)  The Conversion Price of the Bonds will be reset annually
for the first four years if the arithmetic average of the
closing price of the Shares for each day during the period
of 15 consecutive trading days immediately prior to the
relevant reset date was at least 130%, being 3 July 2008,
3 July 2009, 3 July 2010 and 3 July 2011.
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31.

32.

RITREE (&)

RR_T—FFE=-A=+—HEER%S
#1378 1593,369,000 VIR TIE EM =
RER BIR AL = BURRE S B ek R AT iE
ERFTAF B AR R - BRBE UM
B EFEANSAERTIRFAAE
AEEDRGEROENERD - EmE
REKWZE MERRITEHERAHRR
AEEETR_T—TF=A=t—H
ﬁﬁmﬂgﬁﬂKTﬁﬁmAﬁﬁﬁ

At EERR/AEER_T—TF=
A=1t— E%ﬁﬁ%#%ﬂ A2RR

BEEmEMEENERRRAREER
BRI o BB E K RITEEM T
RBBABHDBRRBAIE -

o] & % 8 &

R-ZEZLF L ANB - AEBEITIA
V& #5 51 {8 3£200,000,0007T B AT AR B 25
(&%) - 3R A—T—F+tHA=R-
BFERFR-_ZFZNFL2HER - &
FIRFNR0L%:TE - W AEEH -

BHEHEBHEROT
) HBEAR-ZZTLFELAT
NEBE-—Z——FXA+\BH

A BB B 77 32

iy BEHFEFHBEAEEARBRESRK
S8 A% B 07873 K B S K
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32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED) 32. K ES(E)

BREMNBEITEZERREM
—FHBRITHRARERSSY

(v)  The Conversion Price cannot be reset below 85% of the (v)
prevailing Conversion Price in any one year.

BRETBEITZER I TR
fi% (B 75 #0.7873 L H970% * BN 48
H &K E A B ¥B0.55117L (B 5t

(vi)  The Conversion Price cannot be reset below 70% of the (vi)
initial Conversion Price of HK$0.7873 i.e. there is an
absolute floor of HK$0.5511 (as adjusted for antidilution

events). REEEHIELHAEE) -
2010 2009
—F-FF —TTNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
EETRT ok
Conversion option derivative component 5 & # £ & 2B 9
At the beginning of the year R E A - 17,717
Conversion during the year RER B - =
Gain arising on changes of fair value AREBEEHEER
U 25 - —
Paid up during the year RERNEZ - (17,717
At the end of the year NSRS - —
Liability component BESY
At the beginning of the year NS - 20,101
Nominal value of the issuance date ZTHEHNEECE
(4 July 2007) Z+F+AMA) - =
Interest expense B FAX - 3,802
Interest paid B FI B - (200)
Paid up during the year RERNE R - (25,366)
Loss on early redemption of IRE BRI RES
convertible bonds " & 18 - 1,663
At the end of the period/year REIR FR - —
Total convertible bonds IR B 75 4A 5 - =

In respect of the outstanding convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$40,000,000 which was convertible into
50,806,554 new shares. The conversion price had been
adjusted from HK$0.7873 to HK$0.67 per share after the offer

shares became unconditional on 6 June 2008.

K& 4858 /& 75 #40,000,0007T B & 17
{5 7] #2 iR & % i ¥ 550,806,554 /% %1
e RZZEZNFNANBEER D
RAEEGEE BREAGRAEE
0.7873 LA B = HE ¥ 0.677T °

Annual Report 2009-2010
—zznrz-%-z58 101




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& M| R M

For the
HEZ

33.

182

year ended 31 March 2010
T-EF=-A=+—HLFE

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 33.

The followings are the major deferred taxation liability
recognised and movements thereon during the current and
prior years:

EEBIEER

RAFEREFE EEIANTIER
EBABEREZSHHEIMT

Accelerated tax

depreciation Others Total

hniE B IE I & Hit &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT

At 1 April 2008 RZZEZENFMNA—H 421 543 964

Credit to profit or loss sFAE S — (506) (506)

Exchange realignment FE H, 8 B — 12 12
At 1 April 2009 and RZZEZNFMHA—H

31 March 2010 ;EZT—F4F
=A=+—8H 421 49 470

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses of HK$62,188,000
and HK$49,497,000 (2009: HK$2,025,000 and HK$1,485,000)
respectively. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised on the tax losses due to
unpredictability of future profit streams.
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34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. XK
Number of shares Share capital
(478 4= [:2:3
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-%F —ZETNE —2-%F —ZENF
Notes ’000 '000 HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt & T T EETR BETT

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 &% &5 ¥0.017T &)

each 8 billion 38 %:8,000,000,0000% 8,000,000 8,000,000 80,000 80,000

Issued and fully paid BEEITREE

At the beginning of the REH

year 1,985,733 1,295,155 19,857 12,952
Issue of shares from open AARZEEMET

offer B @) - 647,578 - 6,475
Exercise of share options 171 B A 4 446,556 43,000 4,466 430
Exercise of warrants TERREE (b) 14,563 — 146 —
Placement of new shares it & A% © 665,000 — 6,650 -
Issue of new shares for W i — I Bt A )

acquisition of a kEEEN:0k:i:e

subsidiary (d) 275,330 — 2,753 —
Issue of new shares for A e b — B A R

acquisition of an i 217 B9 %7 AR

associate (e) 238,889 — 2,389 —
At the end of the year RELR 3,626,071 1,985,733 36,261 19,857

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends LB A AB B IKWE A N SR &9 A%

as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per B UVEERARAINEEZLERS

share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank —EMEEE -FTEERRZER
equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. ZHEF  ADZERAREMEREE -

Notes: B 2%

(@) On 6 June 2008, 647,577,739 offer shares were issued at a subscription (@) REZZZENFEFANARNE REERXRMR
price of HK$0.288 under the open offer on the basis of one offer share REROAIEE -—RESRONAFRR
for every two existing shares. The subscription price of HK$0.288 B BB ESRE %0288 % 1T
representing a discount of approximately 40.62% to the closing market 647,577,739 & E I fn o T B ¥0.288
price of the Company’s share on 17 April 2008. These offer shares ranked THRBERAAAROR-_ZZNF
pari passu with other shares in issue in all respect. The net proceeds from 7 A+ B 4T B 37 3R 4340.62% © &
the open offer were used for the payment of the Fu 718 project and as EREROHDEMBIEEEMEETR
general working capital for the Group. MEAERSHMN - BEARBROMER

BARINEB781EBE R BIEASER —
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34. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

184

Notes: (continued)

(o)

On 20 May 2009, the Company entered into the warrant placing
agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which the placing agent
agreed to place warrants attaching the rights to subscribe for 77,000,000
shares on the basis of the initial exercise price of HK$0.45 per warrant
share, on behalf of the Company, to places who are independent of the
Company and its connected persons, at the issue price of HK$0.01 per
warrant. At the date of this report, 10,000,000 warrants have been
exercised since the date of issue.

Moreover, during the year, there were 3,062,660 shares of bonus
warrants and 1,500,000 shares of non-listed warrants issued in the prior
year had been exercised at the exercise price ranging from HK$0.45 to
HK$0.48 per warrant.

On 20 May 2009, the Company entered into a share placing agreement
with the placing agent pursuant to which the placing agent agreed to
place shares comprising in aggregate up to 225,000,000 existing shares
at a placing price of HK$0.325 per placing share, representing a discount
of approximately 19.75% to the closing price on 20 May 2009.
Accordingly, the Company has increased its issued share capital by
nominal value of HK$2,250,000 and raised capital of HK$73,125,000.

On 30 December 2009, the Company entered into another share placing
agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which the placing agent
agreed to place shares comprising in aggregate up to 220,000,000 new
shares at the placing price of HK$0.51 per placing share, representing a
discount of approximately 3.77% to the closing price on 30 December
2009. Accordingly, the Company has increased its issued share capital
by nominal value of HK$2,200,000 and raised capital of HK$112,200,000.

On 11 February 2010, the Company entered into another share placing
agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which the placing agent
agreed to place shares comprising in aggregate up to 220,000,000 new
shares at the placing price of HK$1.02 per placing share, representing a
discount of approximately 6.42% to the closing price on 11 February
2010. Accordingly, the Company has increased its issued share capital by
nominal value of HK$2,200,000 and raised capital of HK$224,400,000.

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
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R-ZZBZAFERA-TH AAFERR
ERBITVURAREFEE R - RULER
ERBEREAXRARR  BEHRRE
BAEOOITHWEITE  ABILREAA
AIREBEATHAREA REMRBR
877,000,000 A% 17 # F| (LA & AR 32 AR 1
R AD 75 ¥50.45TT K ) 20 1T 1 (8 B %)
HRREE - RILEH B REARE B
8- B 3 17 ¥ B #£10,000,00017 32 A% #
BOEITME -

BEAN - R i8R B 3 1T #93,062,66017 AL
7 52 A% #E & 121,500,0001% 3F L i1 3R A% 4

#F BREORBREEBH0457TE048
TTETEBITE -

R_ZETZNFREA-1+H ARARIHER
EREITUROHESHE  BUHESA
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E B ECETRARREEE RIS
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RZBZAF+-_A=+H AQFEE
EREBIVUF_MRNESHE Bt
REREREZRESREERHG S K051
THREEE _TETAF+-_A=18H
WU T EITEN377%) REAKES
220,000,0000% #7 % - BBt - AR FE #§
H B TRAR REE S INA%2,200,000
JL R B 58 £ 7% %112,200,000 7T °
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34. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(d) On 12 January 2010 and 25 January 2010, 87,829,516 and 187,500,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued as part of the consideration
for the acquisition of additional 49% equity interest in Northeast Oil
(China) Development Company Limited (“Northeast Oil”) as detailed in
note 38(a).

(e) On 23 April 2009, 238,889,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were
issued as part of the consideration for the acquisition of 43% equity
interest in Profit Success as detailed in note 23.

Warrants

On 30 January 2008, the Company had issued 200,000,000
non-listed warrants, each entitled the holder thereof to
subscribe for one new share at the subscription price of HK$1
at any time during a period of thirty-six months commencing
from the date of issue of the warrants. The subscription price
had been adjusted to HK$0.86 per share after the offer shares
became unconditional on 6 June 2008.

On 26 September 2008, the Company had issued 161,894,434
listed warrants, each entitled the holder thereof to subscribe for
one new share at the subscription price of HK$0.48 at any time
during a period of thirty-six months commencing from the date
of issue of the warrants.

As at 31 March 2010, there were outstanding non-listed
warrants and listed warrants carrying subscription rights up to
HK$179,962,000 (2009: HK$189,852,000) and HK$76,239,000
(2009: HK$77,709,000) in aggregate respectively, equivalent to
the aggregate subscription price for a total of 209,258,000
(2009: 220,758,000) shares of non-listed warrants and
158,832,000 (2009: 161,894,000) shares of listed warrants on
the basis of the adjusted subscription price of HK$0.86 and the
subscription price of HK$0.48 respectively.

34.

B & (4&)
CENC)

(@ RZTE—ZTF—A+-_AR-ZT—ZTF
— ﬁ —+tHA B 1787,829,516Hx &
187,500,000/% & A% M & /& #0.017T /) &
AR EFARBRRILEAH(FE ER
AR AR (TR A ) 58 5h49% AR AN 4
%5 (F 15 R M1 5=38() K Zp» (& ©

© R-ZETAFMA-_+=H" 21T
238,889,000/% & % T 18 % #0.017T #) &
g 1'57%4&%#%'%?&%43%%25%
= (GEE R K 523 B D R 18 ©

55 %

RZZEZENFEF—A=+8H ' &AQ T%FE
77200,000,00017 FE £ 77 73 I #E 7%

Tﬁ;%’ﬂx%?ém%ﬁ}\t’aﬁ%m%ﬁw
REFHHEF =T EAHHA
BERFIZREB B EITRE — BRI
1/\ © EA_7 7)\$/\H/\E| Eﬂifﬁ
KAEGGE  REEABRZFRS

#0.867T °

RZZEZENFNALA-+B AQF

% 17161,894,434(7 & L R A AE &

Tﬁ?ﬂﬁﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ/\i’]ﬁ%ﬁ/\ﬁﬁ
RREFHRRF = ~ERHEA
BERFIZ B E B K048t RE— B H
BEAD °

R-B—TE=A=+—8 4k

FRIELETREEERE LT RRE
B RBEESFEERZ B
179,962,0007c (= & & )1 F: B &

189,852,0007t) & & #76,239,0007T
(ZZTZ N F : B #77,709,0007T) ° 48
#)JLA /D:lljﬁzﬁ«E”%nuE%{E/%mgOSGE
R E S m%o487t " & &
209,258,000@ EEMRBREEFECE
T L4 220,758, ooofﬁ)&158 832,000
MELTRBEEZFCZEZ N F:
161,894,00017) KU 42 REEE -
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 35. LR X RIE
Equity-settled share option scheme BASHERESS
Under a share option scheme approved and adopted by the BERZZEZ-_F+A=-+—HAK
shareholders on 21 October 2002 (the “Share Option Scheme”), SR R B A0 O B A% e 5T &Y ([ B8 AR 4
the directors of the Company may, at their discretion, invite full- El) ARAREZUTREREER
time employees including executive directors to take up options EEBENTER)ENTREED
without vesting period to subscribe for shares in the Company MERE URBEERNRZENR
without vesting period representing up to a maximum of 10% of B TR 010% (T 8 15 17 1 i AR 4
the shares issue from time to time (excluding shares issued on FFEETHERERZETHRMD A
exercise of options under the share option scheme). TEREBHNARARM °
The following tables disclose details of the Company’s share TREENR_ZE—ZER_ZTTNFF
options held by employees (including directors) and consultants ERNEEBFBER)REMMFEAR
and movements in such holdings during 2010 and 2009: AERENFERZSERENE
For the year ended 31 March 2010 BE2—F—FTF=H=+—HIFFE

Number of share options

HBRERE
Lapsed/
Exercise Granted Exercised forfeited
price per Outstanding during during during  Outstanding
Date of grant share Exercisable period at 1.4.2009 the year the year the year at 31.3.2010
R-ZBEALE R-ZF-FF
mA—H RERKY =A=+-H
RHAH BRITEE TTEH EERTE REARE REFTE Vg v1 i) R AT 1€
HK$
g
13 August 2004 *0.2561 13.8.2004 to 12.8.2014 100,000 - - - 100,000
—ZTNENAT=H “ZENENRAT=BZE
—T-mENR+=H
14 September 2007 *0.933 14.9.2007 to 13.9.2009 48,000,000 - - (48,000,000) -
“ZT+FENATNA “ZTT+HFENATHEBE
—EEAENATZR
14 September 2007 *0.933 14.9.2007 to 13.9.2009 2,040,000 - - (2,040,000) -
“ZZ+FENATNA “ZT+FNATHEABE
—EEAENATZR
28 July 2008 0.310 28.7.2008 to 27.7.2009 65,875,000 - (65,875,000) - -
2T \FtAZ+N\RH T \FtA=+tN\BE
“ETNFLA=TtR
28 July 2008 0.310 28.7.2008 to 27.7.2009 12,925,000 - (12,925,000) - -
2T \FtAZ+N\RH T \FtA=+tN\BE
“ETNFLA=T A
6 November 2008 0.077 6.11.2008 to 5.11.2009 20,000,000 - (20,000,000) - -
—ZZ\F+-AAXA —ZZ)\E+—-RA~BE

—ZTNE+—ARA
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 35. IR ek IE(48)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) R 7 45 B AE B HE 5 8 (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (continued) HE—_FT—FFE=H=+—HIFEHE)

Number of share options

BREYE
Lapsed/
Exercise Granted Exercised forfeited
price per Outstanding during during during  Outstanding
Date of grant share Exercisable period at 1.4.2009 the year the year the year at 31.3.2010
R-ZBEALE R-B-%f
mA—H RERKXY ZA=+-8H
BHEH BRITHEE TTEYH HRTE RERBH RERTE Vg 31 i) R AT
HK$
&
24 December 2008 0.200 24.12.2008 to 23.12.2009 10,000,000 - (10,000,000) - -
—EEN\F+-A=-1+MHA —EEN\F+-A-tHmAZE
“EEAET-A=1+=H
24 December 2008 0.118 24.12.2008 to 23.12.2009 38,000,000 - (38,000,000) - -
—EEN\F+-A=-1+MHA —EEN\F+-A-tHmAZE
“EEAET-A=+=H
24 December 2008 0.110 24.12.2008 to 23.12.2009 63,500,000 - (63,500,000) - -
—EEN\F+-A=-1+MHmA —EEN\F+-A-tHmAZE
“EEAET-A=1=H
31 December 2008 0.200 31.12.2008 to 30.12.2009 20,000,000 - (20,000,000) - -
—ZT)\F+=A=1+-—H —EE\E+-_A=+—HZE
“TTAFT-ASHE
29 April 2009 0.206 29.4.2009 to 28.4.2012 — 113,780,000 (113,564,000) - 216,000
—TTAENA=TAB “TTNENA=THEBEZE
“E—FWA=F+NH
13 May 2009 0.300 13.5.2009 to 12.5.2010 — 42,200,000 (27,200,000) - 15,000,000
—ZTTAFERAT=H ZZTNFRAT=HE

“T-ZTFHA+=H
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 35. IR ek IE(48)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) % A 5 B RS B HE 5 8 (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2010 (continued) HE—FT—FFE= H=+—HIFFEHE)

Number of share options

fERERE
Lapsed/
Exercise Granted Exercised forfeited
price per Outstanding during during during  Outstanding
Date of grant share Exercisable period at 1.4.2009 the year the year the year at 31.3.2010
R-ZBEALE R-B-%f
mA—-A REREKH =ZA=t+-8
BHEH BRITHEE TTEYH HRITHE REARH REHRTE V& 1t i8 % 47 &
HK$
&
16 July 2009 0.414 16.7.2009 to 15.7.2010 - 4,992,000 (4,992,000) - -
“ZTNAFEATRA “ZTNFLATABZE
“T-ZF+A+EA
24 July 2009 0.475 24.7.2009 to 23.7.2010 - 17,000,000  (12,000,000) - 5,000,000
—EENFLAZTHNA ZZENFLAZTHAZE
—T-TFLA=+=H
14 August 2009 0.472 14.8.2009 to 13.8.2010 - 51,800,000  (30,800,000) - 21,000,000
“EEAENATHEA ZEEAENATHEEE
—E-ZEEN\A+=H
31 August 2009 0.412  31.8.2009 to 30.8.2010 - 70,000,000 (27,700,000) - 42,300,000
“TENFENR=T+—H —ZENFENA=+—-HE
“Z-ZF7\R=+H
280,440,000 299,772,000 (446,556,000) (50,040,000) 83,616,000
Exercisable at the end of the year 83,616,000
RERATE
Weighted average exercise price 0.321 0.332 0.244 0.933 0.41
MEFBTEE
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35.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2009

35. LLAR 4 32 4 B SR IR (4R)

R & &5 5 B8 AR #E T B (4R)

HE-FENFZA=+—ALFEE

Number of share options
BREHA
Lapsed/
Exercise Granted Exercised forfeited
price per Outstanding at during during during Outstanding at
Date of grant share Exercisable period 1.4.2008 the year the year the year 31.3.2009
RZZEN\F RZZENF
mA—R RERXK =ZA=1+—A°
KHAH BRTEE ATRE W AT REAR RERTTE /BRI i RATIE
HK$
ot
24 November 2003 0.260 24.11.2003 to 23.11.2008 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000 -
ZRT=F “ZR=F+-A-tWAZE
+—A=tmA “ZE\FE+—-R=t=H
13 August 2004 *0.251 13.8.2004 to 12.8.2014 100,000 - - — 100,000
“ZEMENAT=A “ZTMENATZHZE
“Z-WFENATZH
14 September 2007 *0.933  14.9.2007 to 13.9.2009 48,000,000 — - — 48,000,000
“ZTLFNATHA “ZTtFEAATHEE
“ETAFNAT=A
14 September 2007 *0.933  14.9.2007 to 13.9.2009 2,040,000 - - - 2,040,000
“EREFNATHA “ZZEFEAATHER
“ZZNFNAT=R
19 November 2007 *1.019  19.11.2007 to 18.11.2008 37,00,000 - - (37,000,000) -
“TRLEL-AAR SEELEL-ATARE
“ERN\E+-ATNB
28 July 2008 0.310 28.7.2008 to 27.7.2009 — 73,875,000 - (8,000,000) 65,875,000
“ZT\ftA=tNR —ZEN\ELAZTN\RE
“ERAFEAZTERA
28 July 2008 0.310 28.7.2008 to 27.7.2009 - 12,925,000 - - 12,925,000
“ZE\ELAZFN\A ZZZ\ELAZTNBHE
“ETAF LAt LA
6 November 2008 0.077 6.11.2008 to 5.11.2009 — 20,000,000 - — 20,000,000
“ZT\F+-ARH “ZT\F+-AREE
“ZRAF+—-AAA
17 November 2008 0.081 17.11.2008 to 16.11.2009 — 30,000,000 (30,000,00) — -
“ZI\Ft+—-At+tA “ZT\Ft+-At+tRZE
“ZEAET-ATRE
24 December 2008 0.200 24.12.2008 to 23.12.2009 - 10,000,000 - — 10,000,000
—ZT)\F “ZEE\FtZAZTWmAZE
+=-A=tmA —ZTEAF+-A=t=H
24 December 2008 0.118 24.12.2008 to 23.12.2009 — 38,000,000 - — 38,000,000
“ET)N\F “EE\F+-A-tHmAZE
TZAZ+ME “REAETZA-T=H
24 December 2008 0.10 24.12.2008 to 23.12.2009 — 76,500,000 (13,000,000) — 63,500,000
—ZE\E —ZZ)\F+-A-tHEAZE
+=ZA=+mA —ZTAF+=-A=t=H
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 35. IR ek IE(48)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) % A 5 B RS B HE 5 8 (48)
For the year ended 31 March 2009 BE—_FTENF=ZHA=+—HIFFE
Number of share options
BREHE
Lapsed/
Exercise Granted Exercised forfeited
price per Outstanding at during during during Outstanding at
Date of grant share Exercisable period 1.4.2008 the year the year the year 31.3.2009
RZZEN\EF RZZENF
mA—R RERKK =ZA=1+—A°
KA E BRTEE ATRE i ARAT 6 RERFH REARTTE /BRI i ARAT IR
HKS
31 December 2008 0.200 31.12.2008 to 30.12.2009 - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000
“ERN\F “ZE\FTZA=1+—-HZE
+=A=+-8 “ZEAF+=RA=T1H

88,140,000 281,300,000 (43,000,000) (46,000,000) 280,440,000

Exercisable at the end of the year

RERATHR 280,440,000
Weighted average exercise price 0.961 0.177 0.090 0.879 0.321
METHITEE
* As a result of the open offer on 6 June 2008, the exercise price of those * BEERETS - K= NFAAN
share options pursuant to the share option scheme have been adjusted. B AREER ZSERENTEE
EEEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
BHE-_T - TF=A=+—HLFE

35.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

Details of the movements of the share options during the year
held by the directors of the Company included in the above

tables for 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2010

35. LR {5 32 £ B9 =R IH (4R)
B A 4 B IR RE BT B (4R)
AAREERFNHENEREED
BFALR-ZFE-—FR_ZTTAF
FIR) FEMT

BE-F-FFE=A=1—ALFE

Number of share options

EREYE
Exercise Granted Exercised Lapsed
price per Outstanding at during during during Outstanding at
Date of grant share Exercisable period 1.4.2009 the year the year the year 31.3.2010
RZBELE R-ZF-Bf
mA—H =RA=+-8H
BHEH BRITEE TTHEH i K AT HE REREH REARTTE RERKH ief 5K 1T 1
HK$
s
13 August 2004 0.251 13.8.2004 to 12.8.2014 100,000 - - - 100,000
“FEMENAT=R “ZTNENAT=BE
—Z-mENATZA
14 September 2007 0.933  14.09.2007 to 13.09.2009 50,040,000 - - (50,040,000) -
“EEEFNATEA “EREFNATEAZ
“ZENFNATZR
28 July 2008 0.310 28.7.2008 to 27. 7.2009 11,450,000 - (11,450,000) - -
S IV o ey YN “ZI\FtA=t/N\RE
—ZTAELA=+LA
28 July 2008 0.310 28.7.2008 to 27.7.2009 6,450,000 - (6,450,000) - -
“FEN\FLA=+NA “ZT\FLAZFt/N\RZE
“EENFLA-TtA
29 April 2009 0.206 29.04.2009 to 28.04.2012 - 113,780,000  (113,564,000) - 216,000
ZZTAFMAZTARA “ETAFNAZTNABRE
—E——FWNA=TNR
16 July 2009 0.414  16.07.2009 to 15.07.2010 - 4,992,000 (4,992,000) - -
R R “ZENFLATAAE
—Z-Z£tA+AA
31 August 2009 0.412  31.08.2009 to 30.08.2010 - 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
“FENFNRA=T—H “EEAFNA=T—HZE
“E-TFN\A=TH
68,040,000 128,772,000  (136,456,000)  (50,040,000) 10,316,000
Exercisable at the end of the year
RERATE 10,316,000
Weighted average exercise price 0.768 0.23 0.227 0.933 0.406

MEFATEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 35. IR Bk IE(48)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) % A 5 B RS B HE 5 8 (48)
For the year ended 31 March 2009 BE—_FTENF=ZHA=+—HIFFE

Number of share options

BREYE
Exercise Granted Exercised Lapsed
price per Outstanding at during during during Outstanding at
Date of grant share Exercisable period 1.4.2009 the year the year the year 31.3.2010
RZBENE RZBELE
A—H =A=+-8H
REBH BRITER =TREE HRTE  REARH RERTE REAKH i R AT &
HK$
bt
13 August 2004 0.251 13.8.2004 to 12.8.2014 100,000 - - - 100,000
—ZEPENA+=H “ZTNENATZEE
—Z-EENATZA
14 September 2007 0.933 14.09.2007 to 13.09.2009 50,040,000 — — — 50,040,000
“TTEENATHA “ZTEFNATHAZE
“ETNENATZH
28 July 2008 0.310 28.7.2008 to 27.7.2009 — 11,450,000 — — 11,450,000
ZEE\FtAZ+N\H “ZEZ\EtA=+/\BZE
“EENFLAZT LA
28 July 2008 0.310 28.7.2008 to 27.7.2009 - 6,450,000 - - 6,450,000
ZZEN\FtAZtN\H “ZI\FLA=t/N\RE
“ZTAELAZ+LA
50,140,000 17,900,000 — — 68,040,000
Exercisable at the end of the year
RERATE 68,040,000
Weighted average exercise price 0.932 0.31 - - 0.768
METFHTEE
Immediately after the offer shares related to the open offer RpEHENFEEHRBNEERGDK A
became unconditional, adjustments were made to the exercise MR H%  DHEERESEIIZ T
price and the number of outstanding share options to subscribe =2 BE IS (D B B R TE A RS IR RE AT
for shares granted to the Share Option Scheme. BLREBBEELFAE
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HE-_ZT-ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

35. LR 4 Z AT RYFRIE (4R)
R & &5 5 B8 AR #E T B (4R)

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

TREH B B A FE

The following table sets out the adjustments on the Share
Option Scheme:

Before adjustments After adjustments
Exercise Exercise
price of each Number of price of each Number of
Date of grant option share options option share options
SHBREY SHEREN
ZHBE TEE BRENE TEE BREXNE
HK$ HK$
ok ok
24 November 2003 —TT=F
+—A=-+mA 0.301 1,000,000 0.26 1,157,518
13 August 2004 —TTNEF
NA+=H 0.29 100,000 0.251 115,752
14 September 2007 —ZTELF
NA+MA 1.08 50,040,000 0.933 57,922,195
19 November 2007 ZETLF
+—A+hE 118 37,000,000 1.019 42,828,162
88,140,000 102,023,627

The weighted average closing share price at the date of
exercise for the share options during the year was HK$0.7702
(2009: HK$0.211).

During the year ended 31 March 2010, options were granted on
29 April, 13 May, 16 July, 24 July, 14 August and 31 August.
The estimated fair values of the options granted on those dates
are HK$0.0879, HK$0.0962, HK$0.1373, HK$0.1596,
HK$0.1431 and HK$0.0941 respectively. During the year ended
31 March 2009, options were granted on 28 July, 6, 17
November and 24, 31 December. The estimated fair values of
the options granted on those dates are HK$0.0564, HK$0.0822,
HK$0.0279, HK$0.0288, HK$0.0379, HK$0.0362, HK$0.0208
and HK$0.0256 respectively.

FER - RITEEREE B/ INETY
A% (A W T B AB 07702 T (ZZEE N
£ B H0.2117T) ©

HE-_Z-—ZF=A=+—BIEE
WN-EROA=tAB -AA+=H"
+A+A<B - +tA=-+mBE - - AA+
MEMNAZ+—BEHERE - R
ZEHHMELERENGEFTAFE
2R AE¥0.08797T  B#0.09627T
7 #013737C 7B ¥0.15967T © B
0.14317T K /& ¥50.0941L - HE - =
ZNF=ZA=+—HIEFER  ER
+tA=+N\B:+—AxH: t++tH
F+—B-—+MWB -=+t—BHELE
fetE o Nz EHEFTIR B B AR A 1E
TR FE D R A ¥0.05647T © 7B
0.08227T * B#0.0279 T * #B#0.0288
JC ~ 75 #0.03797C © 7B #0.03627T
75 #50.0208 7T & /& #60.0256 7T °

Annual Report 2009-2010
—sznrz-%-z58 193




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& M| R M

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 35. IR ek IE(48)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) % A 5 B RS B HE 5 8 (48)
These fair values were calculated using the Black-Scholes ZE R FE TR AR R -&F 8 2 8
option pricing model. The inputs into the model were as follows: EEERAFGE - BEXFAMNGA
EJUNNE

Expected Expected Risk-free

Grant date Share price  Exercise price volatility Option life dividend yield interest rate
EHRE
RHBH B’E TiEE FHKE RBRESH W 25 2= % 2 b A ==
HK$ HK$
7 7

29 April 2009 0.195 0.2064 101.15% 3 years = 0.43%
—TTAFMA=+AIA =fF
13 May 2009 0.3 0.3 116.80% 12 months — 0.09%
—ETTNFRA+=H +=EA
16 July 2009 0.41 0.414 123.64% 12 months - 0.06%
—ETENFEATAH +=@EA
24 July 2009 0.475 0.475 122.82% 12 months = 0.08%
—TEAFLA=+WA +=@A
14 August 2009 0.455 0.472 119.20% 12 months = 0.19%
—ETAFNATIA +=@A
31 August 2009 0.39 0.412 94.22% 12 months — 0.15%
—ZETZAFENA=1+—H +=EA
Expected volatility was determined by using the historical TB HY R g J5 B A AR A 7] IR (B [ LA BE P&
volatility of the Company’s share price over the expected life of EEHFHNBERBETE  HEK
the option. The expected life used in the model has been AN TEEEHERIEEEEN &
adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects FEfhst Bt T nfEZE - (TERES &
of non transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural TEZENEZEMTUAFAZE -
considerations.
The Group recognised the total expense of HK$31,459,000 for B2 ZTF=A=+—HIEE
the year ended 31 March 2010 (2009: HK$13,362,000) in AREED B AR T AR R
relation to share options granted by the Company. BB Y A 31,459,000t (ZEE A,

£ : 7% #13,362,0007T) °
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36. TEFRERXS

FA - F iR R EF7275,330,0008% &
238,889,000% & i@ A% © AN & B YL EE R
3t A i 8 INA9% BR AN #E 2 (A Ut Uiz BE
A RAb AR A A S B #EE51% KA
BB AR RWEBRKE X
A3% AR - HiE - FIRKE XK A
AEEMH—EBE QT o

36. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group acquired 49% additional equity
interest of Northeast Oil, a 51% owned subsidiary prior to this
acquisition, and acquired 43% equity interest of Profit
Success, which then becomes an associate of the Group, by
the issue of 275,330,000 and 238,889,000 ordinary shares
respectively.

FRN AEBEEHRAEARNEERES
BRHBREMEENFER SR AE
#531,459,0007C (= & T h, F: B ¥
13,362,0007T) °

37. WEKBAE

During the year, the Group recognised non-cash expenses
arising from the grant of share options to the directors and the
employees of HK$31,459,000 (2009: HK$13,362,000).

37. BUSINESS COMBINATION

As described in note 21b(ii), on 4 January 2008, the
Group entered into a formal agreement (the “Agreement”)
with an independent third party (the “Vendor”) for
acquisition of the Vendor’s interest in relation to the
exclusive rights to develop the exploitation business in
the New Joint Development Zone in conjunction with
Qigihar Qil. Qigihar QOil is a holder of the oil exploitation
licence for the New Joint Development Zone and is also
the Group’s working partner of Fu 710 and Meilisi 723
project acquired during the year ended 31 March 2008.

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Vendor agreed to
transfer all its interest in the Fu 718 project to the Group
and procured the Group to enter the 2008 PSC with
Qigihar Oil.

Pursuant to the 2008 PSC dated 24 January 2008,
Dongguan Xinyimei Paint Company Limited (“Xinyimei”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is
responsible for contributing all the capital expenditures
for the purchase, installation and construction of the
equipment required for the exploitation business.

a. WK 2T RZZTZ)N\
F—AWAE  AEEE—FBL
F=HUBEAHDIIZL—MHIEXH
F(MpED NIREBEFERFH
A (7 3 [ B [R) 25 75 R B Om H
BRAFREGSHEBERERNNE
MR - EEWEHME AN
FF%ERAHFARABH—F
BEAN NAAEEREE_Z
SENF=ZA=+—RHIEFEHH
I 8 1) = 7107 [& 1 1 B Hr723
HEMTEEHF -

REHZ EHREEERE
TBEBHMARNTAKHE
I 4R A AN 52 ) 62 25 75 0 R O A
7] ©Z2008PSC °

BEBHAE—_ZTENF—A_—1
/Y B #92008PSC © B ANA &)
BEMNIIEZENB AR RZH
EEZ2HARAA(HEE)D
BERAREBIENRER
B TREKEBEIAMEER
A e
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

196

a.

(continued)

Qigihar Northeast Qil, an indirect non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, is responsible for technical
and management services for the daily operation of the
exploitation business and bears the production,
administration and operating expenses involved.

Qigihar Oil is responsible for the legitimacy and
effectiveness of the exploitation licence over the term of
the 2008 PSC.

Xinyimei, Qigihar Northeast Oil and Qigihar Oil share 85%
and 10% and 5% of revenue generated from the sales of
cruel oil made by Qigihar Northeast Oil respectively.

The acquisition of the Fu 718 project was completed on
15 July 2008.

The total consideration for the acquisition was
HK$130,000,000 in cash. An independent valuer LCH
subsequently valued the business at a fair value at the
date of acquisition of approximately HK$390,000,000,
giving rise to a bargain purchase situation with a gain of
approximately HK$260,000,000 recognised in last year’s
consolidated income statements.

Further details of the acquisition have been set out in the
Group’s announcement and circular dated 7 January
2008 and 22 January 2008 respectively.

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
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37. WiEK B A S (&)

a.

()
HARBHEERANFEZEN
BRARAEERARLABAER
MEREGEEEFENZMEE
BIRS - WAEMSRMEE
EIENEERY

R #%2008PSC A f5k 3%+ 7 % Ig
BMHAEERRARNA AN
5B M -

HEX EEMBRILAHRK
R IG BOMMA D B R EE B
7505 BB ER b A U A E Y R A BT
E AWz H D 1H85% * 10% &
5% o

B7T1I8EEMKER_ZEZENF
+A+EBTK °

WENRBRREARESABE
130,000,0007T ° E & + — & &
SEEMA TR G & ERE
WEBHONAFENAEBE
390,000,0007t © £ & W EE £
FEBAMNBRL LEBEER
EFEGEERERANERNLN B
#260,000,0007T W 25 °

BN b i EIEE — P FF
BEARHERAEERE
ZNEFE—ALtHER=ZZTENF—
AZ+T-HRRAGHEBHA o
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For the year ended 31 March 2010
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED) 37. Wi HEkI B A S (&)

a. (continued) a. (#&)
The net assets acquired in the transaction, and the gain RREGHBANFEERESE
on bargain purchase arising, are as follows: MZEEBAWEDT :
Acquiree’s
carrying
amount
before Fair value
combination adjustments Fair value
& ptai
WU ER A
MEREE AFHERAE A¥E
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mo 5E BT T BT T BT T
Other intangible assets  H fth £ 7 & &=
(note 21) (B 5E21) a - 389,924 389,924
Less: gain on bargain & : ;& BB AR
purchase g b (259,924)
Total consideration BRAE 130,000
Satisfied by: TRER:
Cash H& 130,000
Net cash outflow WS E AR
arising on BWE M
acquisition: R
Cash paid BNRE 117,000
Deposit paid BffET& 13,000
Cash consideration BENBESRE
paid 130,000
Note a: Based on the professional valuation report on the oil fzra: HEAKEBSOREHES
exploitation rights at the date of acquisition. BN FXEF RS -
Note b:  Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over the cost of fizFb: BURBFEENAFEEBLH

acquisition.

U B PR AR Y ROR o
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED) 37. WrHEHI B A S (&)

b. On 2 April 2008, the Group acquired all the assets and b. RZZZN\FWOA=-RH A5H

198

liabilities related to the hardener business of JIB {2 T B
{EEITZEBRRAA (‘B E L L"), an independent third
party which is a domestic PRC limited liability company,
for a cash consideration of approximately RMB9,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$10,838,000). This
business unit is a manufacturing unit producing upstream
chemical materials for industrial use. The difference

R—2Z2BIYE=F(—RMTER
BERARDUNEEREHAR
#9,500,0007C (18 & BN & ¥
10,838,0007T) Uy i £ JIE 128 T Bt
B2 TEBRAR (BEET])
MELEXBBBNMEEE
BB WEBEMLAE—EE

between the consideration and the fair value of the EIXRAEREEYRNEE
identifiable net assets value, amounting to HK$929,000, By KEBEHEABREEFH
was accounted for as goodwill in accordance with the NFERZE R4 929,0007T

HKFRS 3 (Revised).

The net assets acquired in the transaction, and the
goodwill arising, are as follows:

BERIEE ST & ER B35
(RIEDFAREE -

RRXEGBEBANZFEERES
MEENT

Acquiree’s carrying amount before
combination and its fair value

& B W BE 5 B0
REEREAFE
HK$'000
BET T
Property, plant and equipment ERN TS 578
Other intangible assets HiEREE 40
Inventories FE 3,707
Trade and other receivables Bk EmEW A 9,159
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LA E 2,879
Trade and other payables B 5% Efth fE TR (6,044)
Tax liabilities REAE (410)
9,909
Goodwill arising on acquisition W EERNEE 929
10,838
Total consideration satisfied by: BREXMNAA:

Cash consideration paid BERBEERE 10,838

Net cash outflow arising from acquisition: 4t BE E £ &3R4 7 B & -
Cash consideration paid BERNEEAE 10,838
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired ~ JRi: SRfT&ESNEWEER & (2,879)
7,959
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

C.

37. WEEK B A S (&)

Net cash outflow arising on business c. BNBEBELMBESRTH
acquisitions ]
2009
ZEENF
Note HK$000
= BT T
Net cash outflows from acquisition of Uz BBl £ B E A IR &
oil exploitation business 7 R 37a 117,000
Net cash outflows from acquisition of U BEEEE (L TEERIR &
Bt &b T 7 EE 37b 7,959
124,959

38. CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES

@)

On 28 October 2009, Merry Boom Investment Limited
(“Merry Boom”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a conditional sale and purchase
agreement with Well Lead Group Limited (“Well Lead”) for
the acquisition of additional 49% equity interest in
Northeast Qil, a 51% owned subsidiary of the Company
prior to this acquisition, for a consideration of
HK$168,000,000. The consideration was adjusted to
HK$123,348,000 by way of entering into the Deed of
Novation of HK$44,652,000, representing the waiver of
Well Lead’s commitment as contribution in Northeast Oil,
among Well Lead, Merry Boom and Northeast Oil.

The consideration which was further adjusted to
$270,010,000 and was settled by issue of 275,330,000
consideration shares based on the market value at the
dates of issue. As a result of this transaction, non-
controlling interests was decreased by HK$813,681,000
and other reserve was increased by HK$552,132,000.

38. MBATIERAHLREH

@)

RZZEZNF+A=ZFNH &
RRAIZENBRARKREKES
RAal(fe D gt AR E B
168,000,000 7T U 8 & 3k A A (7R
b B EIE AT A AR R FB51%
T 2= B KB A |)) 58 Ih9% AR AR
Bz BAEEEBRAR(E
FENIIVBEBRGEEmZ - K
BEBNEE  REERILA
i 2 [E 5T 32 75 #44,652,000 7T B
EFERZHGEERRREE
EBRRILAH 2 EERE)H
%= 75 #5123,348,0007T ©

RE#&E - T HAEBEZEBE
270,010,0007T + I 35 i 3% ¥ 17
B Hf /1 {8 3 17275,330,0000% X
BROINMN - ARETHER
5 EEIEE G E R SR A E
¥£813,681,0007T + 1 H b % &
BI| 1% 1038 552,132,000 °
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38. CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b)  On 22 May 2008, Honour Bright Investments Limited
acquired the remaining 49% of the equity interest in
Easyrich Group Holdings Limited (“Easyrich”) for a
consideration of HK$2. Upon completion of this
transaction, the Group’s effective interest in Easyrich
increased from 51% to 100%. Easyrich had a net liability
position at the date of acquisition and the Group
recognised an increase in non-controlling interests of
HK$117,000, as detailed in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

() On 22 December 2008, Northeast Oil acquired the
remaining 49% of the equity interest in Creative Sense
Industrial Limited (“Creative Sense”) for a consideration of
HK$5,000. Upon completion of this transaction,
Northeast Oil holds 100% equity interest in Creative
Sense and the Group’s effective interest in Creative
Sense increased from 26.01% to 51%. The Group
recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of
HK$2,000. As a result of these transactions, the non-
controlling interests in aggregate increased by
HK$115,000, as detailed in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 18 March 2010, the Group disposed of its wholly owned
subsidiaries, Win Profit (Asia Pacific) Company Limited (“Win
Profit”) and Zhongshan Wing Shing Chemical Company Limited
(“Zhongshan Wing Shing”), to Mr. Poon Sau Tin, a related party
and an independent third party, at a consideration of
HK$30,000,000. Upon completion, Win Profit was beneficially
owned as to 60% by Mr. Poon Sau Tin.

200 PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
PERRRIERARAT

38. MBASIMRERZE(R)

) R=_FEZEN\FRA=-1+=H %
BREERARKENEIES
EERERAR(EIB) /AT
A9%PEAHERS - KRB ABIE2T -
RERSGERE  AEBES
JIE /) & PR 2= H51% 3 N =
100% ° EIB R U IS E B E R F
BEMRR MBNGEERE
AR AEEERIE
PR ) M A 25 42 N7 117,0007T ©

© WR=EZENF+=-—A=+=8-
R AREEBAILTEERBRA
A ([BI L &E % 1) M T49% A% A&
T 25 - 1B BB 50000 ° K
RS EMk%E RiEGHESR
Bl 5 F ¥ H100% A2 - M
AEBEALEENERES
832601%i73ni51% 7N £ [E T
R I 22 i) 14 2= Rk 7 #62,000
T ARETRERS B
SEHEHI M AE 2R AT 1B B W
115,0007T & I A 47 & #E =5 & &)
MR A -

39. HEMEBAE

R-ZZBE-—FF=A+N\RA XEEIA
78 #30,000,0007T K KB - HEH 2
BB ARG (GER) BRARF (K
BH D RHLmxRc TR AR ([
WAB D FRZEANLDESHEER—
BBUE=T RXBTKE  ES
LTS BB KEN60%ES °
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

39. &M B2 E (&)

The net assets of Win Profit and Zhongshan Wing Shing at the KIGF RRILKKREEZEBNEE
date of disposal were as follows: FEMT
Zhongshan
Win Profit  Wing Shing Total
K% F o Ll 7k A% &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT
Property, plant and equipment Y BEKEZE 10,950 17,282 28,232
Prepaid lease payments FENEERIE — 31,732 31,732
Inventories FE — 7,070 7,070
Bank balances and cash IRITAEER R ® 56 3,338 3,394
Trade and other receivables B 5 M HE A M RIR 3,058 15,934 18,992
Tax recoverable Al Y Bl £ 18 — 76 76
Trade and other payables B 5 & H M FE A 30E (1,396) (26,485) (27,881)
12,668 48,947 61,615
Exchange reserve bE 5 % 1 — (6,920) (6,920)
12,668 42,027 54,695
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR EE (24,695)
Total consideration BmRE 30,000
Satisfied by: AR
Cash BHe 5,000
Promissory notes (included in A ZETE(GEA
other receivables) H Ath e 5K TE) 25,000
30,000
Net cash inflow arising on disposal &M B A7 E 4/
of subsidiaries: WERATER
Cash consideration ReNRE 5,000
Bank balances and cash BHENIRITEHRK
disposed of & (3,394)
1,606
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

202

year ended 31 March 2010
E-—ZEFE=R=1+—HIEFE

On 5 March 2009, the Group disposed of its wholly owned
subsidiaries of }& [% = JIE and & F JIE to an independent third

party, at a consideration of HK$5,800,000.

The net assets of /& [5 = JEand & & =

JIE at the date of

39. &M E 2 E (&)

R-ZEZNF=AAB AEENLE
#5,800,000THI KB - HEEZ AN
BRAEGEIRLRETIRT —£5B
NE=T e

EEEIREREEIENHEZEBRNE

disposal were as follows: EFEWT:
EREIE REEIE Total
EREIE REEIRE &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT BT

Property, plant and equipment Y- BEREE 1,068 68 1136
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHRERE 5 1,779 1,784
Inventories T8 1,288 1,570 2,858
Trade and other receivables B 5 & Eth fE W 5K IE 640 5,367 6,007
Trade and other payables B 5 & H A FE S 3R (2,847) 12) (2,859)
154 8,772 8,926
Non-controlling interests FE 428 ) 14 2 246 — 246
Exchange reserve b 5 e (160) (1,111) 1,271)
240 7,661 7,901
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEN B AR EE (2,101)
Total consideration BB 5,800
Satisfied by: TRAR:
Cash e 58
Other receivables H b e W 5RIE (BT A
(included in trade and B 5 K H Ath FE U
other receivables) SKIA) 5,742
5,800
Net cash outflow arising on the HENBAREEN
disposal of subsidiaries: WL F R
Cash consideration R RE 58
Bank balances and cash BEHEMNRITEKR R
disposed of R (1,784)
(1726)
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40. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 40. EXKIE
2010 2009
—E—-FF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR BT T
Contracted but not provided for DEAE KRB
— development expenditure of the Work —REAETER
Programme in Tunisia (note 23) SR
(Bt 3F23) 46,500 -
— property, plant and equipment —ME - -BER
B - 1,984
— construction in progress —EETE - 2,670
— acquisition of a target mining group — g —RH B
(note 24b) & & B (Pt 5= 24b) - 60,000
46,500 64,654
Authorised but not contracted for BB RETL
— acquisition of a company engaged in —WE—FYEAR
oil technology consultancy service R 5 3R AR 7S
(note 24a) &) A A] (Pff 73 24a) 41,380 —
41. OPERATING LEASES 4. HEHS
The Group as lessee XEEEBEEAN
Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases during FA - BEBELCEHEMBNRENE
the year: el (TN
2010 2009
—E—-FF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BT
Land and buildings T i kg F 2,667 3,084

Annual Report 2009-2010
—zznrz-%-z58 203




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& MBS | R M

For the year ended 31 March 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZTF=A=1+—HLFE

41. OPERATING LEASES (CONTINUED) 41.

The Group as lessee (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

FEHE@ER)
FEEEAREANER)
R R AEERBTTH

HEHEMAR KRB REHE
EHEHBMT

2010 2009

—E-FF —EENF

HK$°000 HK$’000

BETT BT T

Within one year —FR 3,016 2,123
In the second to fifth years inclusive WEERF

(BIEEEMS) 5,526 4,343

Over five years B RS 20,675 21,853

29,217 28,319

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for certain of its office properties. Leases are negotiated
in a range from 1 year to 50 years. No arrangements have been
entered into for contingent rental payments.

The Group as lessor
Properties and machinery rental income earned during the year

was HK$4,579,000 (2009: HK$3,152,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

REMENFEARERERAE
XEMNWES HEENF—FER
TERER - SELEREASERE
RIEM 2k

XEEEABHBEAN
FRHEDMAOMERKEASWA S
7B B4579000c (ZE T N F: B

3,152,0007T) ©

RBEMERE - NREEDH TIA
RARBNOREHSBBPETA

2010 2009

—E-FF —EENF

HK$°000 HK$’000

BETT BT T

Within one year —F R 1,577 2,430
In the second to fifth years inclusive WEZERTF

(BIEEEMS) 2,946 14,950

Over five years HidAF 1,028 12,323

5,551 29,703
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42,

43.

T-FFE=A=t+-ALEE

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group pledged the
following assets to secure the Group’s bank borrowings granted
by certain banks:

a. first legal charges over leasehold land and buildings held
by the Group with a total carrying values of
HK$2,445,000 (2009: HK$51,421,000); and

b. first legal charges over trade and other receivables held by
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group with a total
carrying amount of HK$34,482,000 (2009: HK$34,322,000);

@ a registered of all monies first share charge over the
Group’s 51% equity interest in a subsidiary as the pledge
used to secure the Group’s bank borrowings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Contingencies on Hong Kong Profits Tax

In the prior years, the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department
(the “IRD”) had made some enquiries on the taxability of profits
of certain subsidiaries of the Company in respect of Hong Kong
Profits Tax since the year of assessment 1996/97. In addition,
the IRD had commenced a tax audit on these subsidiaries since
2007 which covers the years of assessment from 1996/97 to
2007/08. The Company had made the response and provided
the relevant information to address the IRD’s enquires and no
conclusion was made by the IRD up to the approval date of the
consolidated financial statements. The IRD issued protective
assessments to certain subsidiaries with tax payable amounting
to approximately HK$28,735,000 (in which approximately
HK$7,917,000 are duplications). The Group filed objections
against such assessments on the grounds that these
assessments were excessive, and that the income under
assessment neither arose in, nor was derived from, Hong Kong.
The Group had purchased tax reserve certificate of
approximately HK$4,700,000 (2009: HK$1,800,000) at the
IRD’s request as of the date of this report.

42,

43.

EERR

R EHERE  NEBESEF T
BE FRAETRITRTAEERT
fEEMER:

a ASKSEMBEDEEASBE
2,445,000 (ZEFNF: B K
51,421,0007T) Ky 10 & & K 12
FHEEERT R

b. AEEHN—HWE2ENBEQR
R M AR(E B %534,482,0007T (=
T T4 B 8534,322,0007T) HY
B K EMEWRKRIENE— X
EME °

c. —HEEBRZUZEE-—RER
FEAEE %GB IBSI%E RN
MBAR EREERAEE
RITEEMER -

HABR
EEMBRAASE

RBAFE  EEBEER(HEBERD
MARBETHBRARIA AN
N+ F R F S AR 815 A% F B T 4%
NEBFERIBHEN o I 5
BE-ZEELtFRUZENBARRE
MAREEZCRER — LA Nt
FEZTZT+ T\ FHRBEEE) -
RNAE B SRR E AL R E R
REMEBEER  MEBEEHENRSRA
B mEMNBBHAL  HHERDAE
HERERTE - BERBRAE THEBAR
BHAREWET G S L EMNEE
4 /& 7 #28,735,0007T (& th #) 78 &
7,917,000 I B EE) - BN A BT
BEEBE N EFRU AL IEELER
LRAED A AEER ST
RHRY  RAHEEH  AEEE
FEF BB EK - 8 A% %4,700,000
TL(ZZ T N 4F : 7 #1,800,0007T) HY
R o
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43.

206

T-FF=A=t+-RLEE

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Contingencies on Hong Kong Profits Tax (continued)

In the opinion of the management, the IRD’s enquiries are still at
the stage of collation of evidence and the Company has
reasonable ground to justify its position as the management
considers that the subsidiaries were not carrying on business in
Hong Kong or the profits were derived by the subsidiaries
outside Hong Kong.

In the event that all the relevant profits at this stage would be
treated by the IRD as chargeable to Hong Kong Profits Tax, the
estimated tax liabilities without considering penalty arising from
the tax audit in respect of such circumstances would be
approximately HK$21,000,000 (2009: HK$21,000,000),
HK$11,000,000 (2009: HK$11,000,000) out of which had been
indemnified by Mr. Poon Sum, the director, for those potential
liabilities incurred prior to the listing of the Company in 2002. If
there is additional tax payable upon the settlement of the tax
audit, the IRD may also impose a penalty of maximum three
times of the tax undercharged. After taking into account of the
professional advice from its tax representative, the management
considers that there is no reasonable basis to determine the
accurate amount of additional tax and penalty at this stage
under the tax audit. Accordingly, no provision for such potential
liabilities has been made in the consolidated financial
statements. Management is considering various approaches in
the best interest of the Group to resolve the dispute with the
IRD.

Environmental contingencies

Due to the underground oil exploitation method adopted by the
Group, the Group has not incurred any significant expenditure
on environmental rehabilitation since its establishment. There is,
however, no assurance that stringent environmental policies
and/or standard on environmental rehabilitation will not be
implemented by the relevant authorities in the PRC in the future
which require the Group to undertake environment measures.
The financial position of the Group may be adversely affected
by any environment liabilities, which may be imposed under
such new environment policies and/or standards.

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
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= A B R (8)
EEMEBRLATEG)

EEERR ARBBRHNERE
REEBERER MELEEERRE
HRHMBARRNBEL BEER -
FoE A REFBAINNHE LR - E
HARBREEERBEXIFETS -

fisi 75 1A IR B X /O P /8 4B B8 i A1 39 3 7
BREIEABMNEBNEN - AIRE
B85 R N B AT RS A M E A Y b R
REABECRITARZELB B RN
EOBRBEZMEENER)BL A
75 #21,000,000(ZEE N F B K
21,000,0007T) - EEEREEE A
AN - BE-F FMAITELNZ
LHEEBE  BLEPAYE 11,000,000
TT(=ZZZT N4 - 75 %11,000,0007T) 7E
I ERE o i TR T xR
AN EESNTRIE - B S B O8 1) g 2B N
BEREHNTERBE=FHNIR - &
EEBMBRENEXER R  BEE
RARRBFEZDAEITR - #t
BEETESEEENE TEING
BRERNERESE - At - RERA
MR ERATERZSBEEAGBED
BiE EREERRASEFELAEE
REMNZNAE WERAERERZ
& E}\]%% ©

REHAREE

ERAEE KA T 4R -
AREE B RAB BT AR I R FLIR
BEEELEAEARX - A &
ERERTEAEBERBERTE Bt
BEOBRREHRER HRBEEFE
ABAKRBEARRRERERE - REF
MERBEBRER SR EAEESE
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

a. During the year, the Group entered into the following

transactions with related parties:

44. FHAEANLTRS

FR-AEEREGHEEALA
MATRS

2010 2009
—E—-FF —TThF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETRT BT
Rental expenses paid to Luen Yat S FH G EFR
Enterprises Company Limited ~a)([Hig ) ME e
(“Luen Yat”) 2 237 996
Consultancy fee paid to Mr. Poon SN FEEREED
Sau Tin FEMER 576 -
Rental expenses paid to Mr. Poon I FESHEER
Sau Tin and Mr. Poon Sum EREENESRYT - 32

During the year, the Group has disposed of its entired
interest in Win Profit and its subsidiary, Zhongshan Wing
Shing to Mr. Poon Sau Tin, a related party, and an
independent third party at a consideration of
HK$30,000,000, and the Group recorded a loss on
disposal of subsidiaries of HK$24,695,000 in this
transaction. Upon completion, Win Profit would be
beneficially owned as to 60% by Mr. Poon Sau Tin.

Luen Yat is related to the Group by virtue of the interests
of Mr. Poon Sau Tin and Mr. Poon Sum.

Mr. Poon Sau Tin is a related party as he is the elder
brother of Mr. Poon Sum. Mr. Poon Sum is a director and
controlling shareholder of the Company.

FR AEBUREBE
30,000,0007T @ [MEFE A /&S
HEER—RBILFE=ZH &
EERXKEBFEEKEB QA F
Wk AT A MAEE
Ut R R 5 8% 15 7 #24,695,000
THHEHBAREIE - R
SEKE BEREEERH
BKEFE0%H LS °

EBHEERBERELENE G
AL RBEEAREE
BRE -

HRESHEETERELEN
L ARELER —RHE
AL - BRELEBARANE
ERIERRAR
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 44. ARAEANT X5 (&)
(CONTINUED)
b. Compensation of key management personnel b. EEEASRMN
All members of key management personnel are the FFEEXEBERBABARALRRAAN
directors and other members of key management of the EERTETEENAMKE °
Company. Detalils of their remuneration are disclosed in 1% 5 5 B 80 5F 15 9 Bl R T 5513
note 13 and included in note 14 respectively. KB FE1438 55 o
2010 2009
—E—-FF —ETAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR PR T
Short-term employee benefits 5 H (R B 12 A 9,231 7,741
Post-employment benefits Bt B 12 4@ A 60 45
Share-based payment VARR 0 2 B 3R IR 16,165 3,727
25,456 11,513
The remuneration of the directors and key executives is EERTETHRAEREN
determined by the remuneration committee having regard DHFNEZEeEEEAARE
to the performance of individuals and market trends. EmiGBREETE -
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31

March 2010 and 2009 are set out as follows:

45. KATEEMBATIHSE

R-B-—ZER_ZETANF=A=+

—B ARRNTIEMBLRAFEH

FIEnE

Place/country of

Nominal value of

incorporation or issued share Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ capital/registered issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations share capital held by the Company Principal activities
AR EETRE/ FATFRBERTRE
it /B 2 5 &2 78 TERY ER dRBRAEE HAMBAEENES TEEH
2010 2009
-g-%% “PENE
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
E# & B i
% % % %
% % % %
China Oil Resources Group Limited  British Virgin Islands 100 shares of 100 - 100 — Investment holding in HK
(“BVI") US$1 each
THERREERAA RERUES 100k BREE REBUHEREER
1RTHRA
Wing Shing Group Limited BVI 52,000 shares of 100 - 100 — Investment holding in HK
US$1 each
KEKEEERAR RERLES 52,000k B8R EE REBULEREER
1= TH KRG
America Archi Colors Group Limited BVI 500,000 shares of - 51 - 51 Investment holding and contract
US$1 each service in the PRC
ZETHZR(EE)BRAR RBRARS 500,000/ & R E RPBEREREERK
1ZTHRH BRRE
Beijing Arch Technology Co., PRC RMB3,000,000 - 51 - 51 Provision of painting service, sale
Limitedi# and distribution of painting
products and contract
service in the PRC
ERTHEXRRERD A I A K. ¥38,000,0007T RBEREZHERS  HER
DHENERRAHRE
Creative Sense Industrial Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares of - 100 — 51 Investment holding in HK
HK$1 each
Bl BEEERAA Bk 10,0008% & A I (& REAREREER
BT RH
REHEBEXAARMERHERAF PRC RMB12,500,000 - 100 - 100 Oil exploitation and exploration
(previously known as Dongguan (note a) technological service in the
Xinyimei Paint Company Limited) PRC
(“Xinyimei”)*
RENBEZMBRWREERAR T & A R #12,500,0007C RPERGERRR
(MEBRREMERER (W ita) B R AR

ARRE)
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 45. XABEEMBAEF1E
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (88)
(CONTINUED)
Place/country of Nominal value of
incorporation or issued share Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ capital/registered issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations share capital held by the Company Principal activities
MR R ERTRE/ AAFMBERTRE
B 2 B 2 78 TEBEY HR dfRAEE HEMRAEEN TS TEEH
2010 2009
—g-%F% —ZTNE

Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
=E: 3 & BE &

% % % %
% % % %
Dongguan Tung Shing Fat Chemical PRC HK$54,000,000 paid - 100 — 100 Manufacture of paints and
Company Limited* up capital/ blended solvents in the PRC
HK$68,000,000
registered capital
KRB IERAR HE BRBAAEE R BEgERRREARE
54,000,0007% /
ot s 7
68,000,0007T
Easyrich Group Holdings Limited Hong Kong 100 shares of - 100 = 100 Investment holding in HK
HK$1 each
EESEZERAERAR EE 100 G REE S REERZRERR
bt:olani
Go Wealthy Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 share of - 100 - 100 Investment holding in HK
HK$1 each
MEREERAR EE 1REE KT REERERERR
oliiany
Hai Yue Chemicals Company Hong Kong 1,000,000 shares of - 100 - 100 Investment holding in HK
Limited HK$1 each
BELIRHERAHA EE 1,000,000 & & REBLEREER
E{E B EITH
i3n)
Honour Bright Investments Limited ~ BVI 1 share of - 100 = 100 Investment holding
US$1 each
KEREHRAF HEERUME 1REEIE TR REZK
Kansai Chemical (Dongguan) Hong Kong 500,000 shares of - 100 - 100 Inactive
Limited HK$1 each
Kansai Chemical (Dongguan) B 500,000 & R E & EBEZE
Limited IR G
Merry Boom Investment Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares of - 100 - 100 Investment holding
HK$1 each
REZERRAF Bk 10,000 & fR E & REER
BT R AR 1D
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (48)
(CONTINUED)
Place/country of Nominal value of
incorporation or issued share Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ capital/registered issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations share capital held by the Company Principal activities
MR ERTRE/ AATFRBERTRE/
G- AR mEnE HR i A B dMRAEEHT R TEEH
2010 2009
—%-%% —ZTNE
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
EE & EE k3
% % % %
% % % %
Northeast Oil (China) Development  Hong Kong 10,000 shares of - 100 - 51 Investment holding
Company Limited HK$1 each
(note b)
RtARBAFE)ERERAR s 10,0000 B[R E A REER
BEITHRH
(it 5% Db)
PetroAsian Energy Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares of - 51 — 51 Investment holding
HK$1 each
PetroAsian Energy Limited ) 10,000 & ik E & REZR
BB R R D
PetroAsia Energy (Australia) Limited  BVI 1,000 shares of - 75.5 - 75.5 Investment holding
US$1 each
PetroAsia Energy (Australia) Limited % BRE X &S 1,000k &R E & REZR
1ETHRA
PetroAsia Energy (North America) ~ USA 75,000 shares of - 100 — 100 Investment holding
Corporation US$1 each
PetroAsia energy (North America) % 75000/ B R EE RERR
Corporation 1E TR G
PetroAsian Energy (Tunisia) Limited ~ BVI 1,000 shares of - 92 — — Exploitation and sale of crude oil
US$1 each in Tunisia, Africa
PetroAsian Energy (Tunisia) Limited & BE Z 3 & 1,000 BB AE & RIENRERTHRRHE
1E T HRH JR
PetroAsian Energy Group Limited ~ BVI 1,000 shares of - 59 - 59 Investment holding
US$1 each
PetroAsian Energy Group Limited ~ EBREZ & 1,000 5 I AE & REERR
1= THRG
Win Profit (Asia Pacific) Company ~ Hong Kong 200 shares of HK$1 - - — 100 Investment holding
Limited each (note c)
KEM(ER)BRAF Bt 200 BREE REER
BT R R G
(Kt zEc)
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

212

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (#8)
(CONTINUED)
Place/country of Nominal value of
incorporation or issued share Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ capital/registered issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary operations share capital held by the Company Principal activities
MR R ERTRE/ AATHBERTRE
MEASEH SERY HR dfRAEE HEMRAEEN TS TEEH
2010 2009
—g-%F% —ZTNE
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
=k & BE &
% % % %
% % % %
Wing Shing Chemical Company Hong Kong 3,000,000 shares of - 100 — 100 Sale of paints, lacquer, enamel
Limited HK$1 each and polyurethane and
investment holding in HK
XL ITEBR AR 2 3,000,0008% & % REEHEMR & ERR
EEEEITH BREARMERNERE
R fn iR
Wing Shing Chemical Macao Macau MOP500,000 - 100 - 100 Sale of paints and blended
Commercial Offshore Company solvents in Macau
Limited
XERAETREBEFEERBER BN % P9 #500,0007C REFHERRRESAH
A
Wing Shing Colours Limited Hong Kong 100,000 shares of - 100 — 100 Manufacture and sale of plastic
HK$1 each colorants in the PRC
XKERBRAR Bk 100,0008% & A 1 (& RPERERBEEHZER
BT R R
Zhongshan Wing Shing Chemical ~ PRC RMB71,964,200 - - — 100 Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited* (note c) emulsion paint in the PRC
FlTk R TERAA* HE AR#71,964,2007T RPBEREREEABR
(FiEc)
TREREARKRERAR PRC RMB3,000,000 - 100 - 100 Inactive
ERERAARKERRA hE A R #3,000,0007C BEX
EERATRILAHEE PRC US$8,000,000 - 95 - 48.45 Exploitation and sale of crude ol
BERETARH (note d) (notee)  inthe PRC
B @RI A % HE 8,000,000% & (Fiske) RAPBIRERIHERH
BEREED A4 (Kt d)
& Equity joint venture established in the PRC in accordance with relevant 1R ¥E A8 B A 2 IO AR R R B AK S /9 AR AR
laws and regulations BEDE -
* Wholly owned foreign enterprise established in the PRC in accordance AR 4R AH BV 12 ROR AR R R B BR 32 B & A0

with relevant laws and regulations
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

On 5 August 2009, registered capital of Xinyimei was increased by
RMB2,000,000 to RMB12,500,000.

On 13 January 2010, Merry Boom acquired the remaining 49% of the
equity interests in Northeast Oil (China) Development Company Limited
(“Northeast Qil”). Upon completion of this transaction, the Group’s
effective interest in Northeast Oil increased from 51% to 100%. Details of
the acquisition are set out in note 38.

On 18 March 2010, the Group disposed its wholly owned subsidiaries of
Win Profit and Zhongshan Wing Shing as detailed in note 39.

On 13 August 2009, registered capital of 75 25 15 BB &R 4t A MBI % H
[ & T /A & was increased by US$1,550,000 to US$8,000,000.

75 75 05 f T R 4k A m B B A R & £ 2 7] is 95% held by Northeast Oil.
During the year, the effective interest of which had been increased from
48.45% to 95% upon the Group’s acquisition of additional 49% equity
interest in Northeast Oil.

R-ZZEZNENARB  HEEMEM
B ARF R IEE A R2,000,0007T ¢ &0
&= A R#12,500,0007T °

RZZE-—ZF-—A+=0  HEKRER
EHm(FE)ERERAR (RIEAMH])
BRTA0% AR - RUIL R T KK -
7N 5% B 15 SR AL o B0 B PR HE 28 1% 38
INZ100% ° Y2 i IR AV 15 # 5B 2
38 °

R-Z—ZTE=A+N\B A&EEHE
H 2 BB AR KASF KA sk Al T (R
B AE3QFF L)

R-ZETNFENA+=B " EEKRED
R EMAEGREE QR M EMRER
# @ # &1,550,000% T # 1=
8,000,0003 Tt °

R ABFAEEE R BRI A HFE
EREERRINBRER - FA - EAE
| 52 A U i B b 7 U 28 SNA9% | AR AN A
mk o ARARNEBERBT R A M
ZHREE R AR E % # 25 B48.45% 18
INZE95% °
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46. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 46. IREHERIEEIE

214

@)

On 22 April 2010, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement for the acquisition of 177,785,861
shares, representing approximately 37.55% of the issued
share capital of Mobile Telecom Network (Holdings)
Limited (“Mobile Telecom”), a company incorporated in
the Bermuda with its shares listed on Growth Enterprises
Market Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited for a consideration of HK$35,557,000 (equivalent
to HK$0.2 per sale share). Mobile Telecom was engaged
in the telecommunication business and would then be
accounted for as an associate of the Group upon
completion.

On 12 May 2010, the Group entered into a non-legally
binding letter of intent with Sino Qil Investment Corp. in
relation to the proposed acquisition regarding the sale
and purchase of 52% of the participating interests in
Modamuiji Sag, Hailaer oilfield oil and gas project (the
“Project”).

After the completion of the possible acquisition, the
participating interests in the Project shall be owned as to
52% and 48% by the Company and Sino Oil Investment
Corp. respectively.

The consideration for the proposed acquisition shall be
RMB180,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$205,700,000), and will be payable in the following
manner:

(i) the deposit in the sum of RMB35,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$40,000,000) to the
Vendor upon signing of the letter of intent; and

(i) the sum of RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$17,100,000) to the Vendor upon
completion; and

(i) the balance of the consideration of
RMB130,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$148,600,000) will be paid by the Company by
allotting and issuing new shares at the issue price
of HK$1.09, which represents the average of the
closing prices of one share for each of the last 5
consecutive trading days up to and including the
date of the letter of intent.

PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited
PERRRIERARAT

@)

RZZE—ZFNMA=-—+=H &
ARAFN—HEERZH IR
A 8 LA 78 135,557,000 B (X (B
(FEER IR HE E KK B E0.2
70 WEE R B E AN AR A (B %)
ERARCRBEN —AR
BREFMAIHAE  HE
MREBHERSER AR
Bl 2 4R ) H9177,785,861A% P&
BURZ AR EIPEEITRALY
37.55%) - EUWEEEIH T K%
REBAEBHO R BN
BAREBEMNEBE QT -

RZZE-—ZFRA+=H K&
BEIISEBEREREARA
AREESNAMAREANS
BiemmIAR ([ZBRE]52%2
EREammRERRESFE L
—EERNRINEAE

EAURKBEEIKRE ARQ
ARIEREBEEREARA
B 3 Bl %k B 5% T8 B 52% }48%
M2 HERES o

EZaWE=TENREAARE
180,000,0007T (#8 & 1 4 7 #&
205,700,0007T) * I #& LA R %1 75
K F At

() A R%35000,0007t (# %
7 49 7% #40,000,0007T) HY
AEEEERAZER XM
FEAH: K

(i) A K #¥15,000,0007C (18 &
R 4 7 #17,100,0007T) 1
EREIANTFEL R

(i) #2EE A KR "130,000,0007T
(B £ KN B B &
148,600,0007T) #% A & A
A ARS8 R B AT HT AR (0 /Y
AAXZN  BITEAEK
1.097T0 - NEZERBREE
MEAPEERERS
B&H— & HDHFH K
Mg °



Five Years Financial Summary

AEMBEHRE

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
—E-BF —TTNFE —TTNE —ZTTLHF —TETREF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETL
Turnover EER 307,982 399,409 351,530 309,735 262,918
Profit/(loss) attributable to R L E R
shareholders (BE) (262,348) 55,143 610,535 2,070 11,5636
TURNOVER
—F %]
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Five Years Financial Summary

AEMBEHRE

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

BREEL
3,000,000 — 2,889,535
2,546,711
2,500,000 [~
2,340,225
2,000,000 [~
1,500,000 [—
(HK’000)
(BT IT)
1,000,000 [—
500,000 —
074213 966,102
0
(143,428)  (129,431)
(260,480)  (256,476)  (257,401)
-500,000
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
“E-FEF —ITTNF —TITN\F ZTTLFE ZTITF
HK$’000 HK$000  HK$000  HKPO00  HK$000
BETR BETrT BETr BETr BETrx
Total assets BEE 2,889,535 2,546,711 2,340,225 365,102 274,213
Total liabilities BEE (257,401) (256,476)  (260,480) (129,431) (143,428)
Shareholders’ funds BRES 2,632,134 2,290,235 2,079,745 235,671 130,785
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PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited

Suite 1006, 10/F., Ocean Centre, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BB NBEERDIREBHEFR 010121006

Tel & 5E: (852) 2698 6093 Fax {EE.: (852) 3580 7793

Website #831E: www.cor.hk
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